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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B %5 48 22

2024 2023 2022
—E-WmE —ET=F BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#ET FET FET
OPERATING RESULTS RERE
For the year ended 31 March BE=-RA=1+T—HLFE
Revenue W= 1,400,293 1,443,482 1,855,875
Gross profit EF 203,267 202,878 257,733
Gross profit margin ERE 14.5% 14.1% 13.9%
Operating profit Syl 44,956 84,291 75,933
Profit attributable to owners of the EN/NETEZ P DNl
Company 32,059 59,810 56,465
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) SRERZF GE) 11.26 21.00 19.83
Interim dividend, paid, per ordinary SREERENTHRE
share (HK cents) (B 4.0 5.0 6.0
Final dividend, proposed, per ordinary EREERBERAPRE
share (HK cents) (W) 4.0 4.0 6.0
Special dividend, proposed, per ordinary &R EEREIKITHIIE S
share (HK cents) (FBAW) - 3.0 =
EBITDA EBITDA 87,632 119,864 114,222
EBITDA Margin EBITDAR B = 6.3% 8.3% 6.2%
FINANCIAL POSITION BA IR
As at 31 March R=B=+—H
Cash and cash equivalents HERREEEY 161,874 138,225 141,657
Total bank borrowings IRITERAEEE 40,795 137,261 206,000
Total equity 48R 783,036 804,400 809,959
Net current assets TMENEEFE 465,245 462,233 398,413
Net cash/(net debt) ReFE/ (BEFH)
(Total bank borrowings less cash GRITERERERRS R
and cash equivalents) RE&ZEBY) 121,079 964 (64,343)
Capital expenditure NGRS 13,927 20,884 40,925
Net assets value per share SREERE 2.75 2.825 2.844
FINANCIAL RATIOS MR
Current ratio TmEn = 2.61 2.13 1.80
Gearing ratio BEEAEBLXE 5.2% 17.1% 25.4%
Net gearing ratio FEEABLEE net cash net cash 7.9%
REFEE REPEE
Interest coverage ratio MEBEXR 13.73 18.76 37.94
Inventory turnover days FERBEY 107 129 91
Debtors turnover days FE U BR =R 8 H 2 68 65 61
Return on average equity TR A O] 3R =X 4.1% 7.5% 7.1%
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REVENUE BY PRODUCT TYPE

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MEBHEE

Wiy 2o #3272 o 28 51 3 A

For the year ended 31 March
BE=-HA=+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022
—EINEF —E-= T

HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TFHTT FETT FET

Electronic products EFER 1,160,198 1,243,928 1,412,953
Pet related products BRYIERE S 240,095 199,554 442,922

Total 4ast 1,400,293 1,443,482 1,855,875

REVENUE BY GEOGRAPHICAL SEGMENT

Yt st IR @ 3 ER 3 A

For the year ended 31 March
BE=H=+—HLEE

2024 2023 2022
—E_MF == =

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAET FHET

The United States of America (the “USA") EFBAETE (TZE)) 617,211 654,433 1,196,719
The People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") FZE AR HFIE (MhE) 497,281 411,843 271,799
Japan =F:N 111,523 177,171 123,014
France B 51,387 48,817 38,637
Australia B 39,463 53,363 43,428
Singapore Hrn s 19,730 70 =
United Kingdom HE 19,604 58,349 28,000
Germany =E 5,883 7,458 65,875
Others Hih 38,211 32,408 88,403
Total 45t 1,400,293 1,443,482 1,855,875

Revenue by Product Type
Wi EmEBER DR

82.9%
Electronic
products

BFEmM

17.1%
Pet related
products

BEMIAERAE M

Revenue by Geographical Segment

W 2 I & 15 3 S D AR
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | hereby present the annual
results of Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (“SUGA" or the “Group”) for the financial year ended
31 March 2024.

During the year, the social economy entered a period of recovery
alongside the improvement in the post-pandemic global environment.
However, risks such as geopolitical tensions, weak trade growth,
and high core inflation continued to weigh on economic growth. In
the face of a complex market environment where recovery and risks
coexist, the Group assessed the current situation, reduced inventories
and raised management standards internally, while adopting a
diversified product portfolio strategy externally to actively respond to
market risks and achieve steadily improving business performance.
Turnover for the year was HK$1,400.3 million (FY2022/23: 1,443.5
million), a slight decrease of approximately 3% compared with the
previous year, mainly due to the uncertain market environment, the
long-term negative impact of excess inventory during the pandemic,
and customers’ conservative product procurement strategies.

During the year, SUGA made significant progress in inventory
management, reducing inventories by approximately 30%, helping
the Group to significantly improve its inventory level and prepare
for an increase in order intake. It also improved the management
and production efficiency of its factories in China and Vietnam, and
achieved significant synergies. The advantages of the Vietnamese
plant’s Internet of Things (“loT") products are expected to expand,
while the China plant will continue to digest local order demand
at a steady pace. Activities such as factory visits and inquiries from
potential customers also continued, laying a solid foundation for
future cooperation. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to
develop the core electronic products business and make it a strong

and stable source of revenue in the long term.

As for the pet business, the Group’s R&D team continued to increase
investment in technologies and build a scientific and comprehensive
pet health ecosystem. On the basis of stabilizing the existing pet
market, the Group will further integrate its internal resources,
strengthen team management, embrace market changes in a timely
manner, and actively respond to new opportunities and challenges.
The Group believes that with the improvement of the social and
economic environment and the optimization of customers’ inventory
levels, the pet business will enter a period of robust development.

CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREERS

FANERXREFE REGFEEARERERA
T(FK’&TJ)&W}:“ (BERIMEEIETAE
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
EFREHRS

Going forward, SUGA will maintain a cautiously optimistic view of
its business prospects. It will continue to implement the business
diversification strategy and capitalize on the advantages of the
“China Plus One” production layout to enhance its own strengths
and ensure the steady development of its overall business. Orders
from new loT customers have contributed significant revenue to the
Group, and electronic paper displays have become one of the Group's
key products. The gradual maturation of 5G technology also provides
endless opportunities for deepening cross-industry cooperation and
developing innovative applications. SUGA will seize the promising
market prospects associated with 5G application and development,
and actively expand opportunities from applications of diversified loT
products, including smart homes, smart cities, and mobile assets.

The Group boasts strong liquidity and advantages, allowing it to
flexibly invest resources in potential development or investment
projects and to create stable returns and long-term value for
shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude
to our business partners and shareholders for their support, and to
all employees for their continued dedication and hard work. We will
move forward collaboratively with all stakeholders to promote the
Group's sustainable development and create more favorable returns
for our shareholders.

NG Chi Ho
Chairman

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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On behalf of the Board of Directors, | hereby present the annual
results of Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
together with its subsidiaries (“SUGA” or the “Group”) for the
financial year ended 31 March 2024.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

During the year, the global economy continued to recover, albeit
unevenly, while geopolitical tensions and persistently high US dollar
interest rates added uncertainty to the market. In this complex
and volatile economic environment, the Group maintained prudent
operations, successfully controlled costs and significantly reduced
inventory. The Group strove to strengthen the production efficiency
of its plants in China and Vietnam and maintained reserve capacity.
These factors, combined with the Group’s consistently diversified
product portfolio and outstanding product research and development
capabilities, enabled the Group to maintain stable performance
during the year despite the pressure.

Turnover for the year was HK$1,400.3 million (FY 2022/23:
HK$1,443.5 million), a decrease of approximately 3.0% compared
with the previous year, mainly due to the cautious ordering strategy
of customers affected by the macroeconomic downturn. However,
benefiting from successful cost control and the improved production
efficiency of the plants in Dongguan, China, and Vietnam, the
Group's annual gross profit reached HK$203.3 million and gross
profit margin increased to 14.5% (FY 2022/23: HK$202.9 million and
14.1%). Profit attributable to shareholders decreased by 46.4% to
HK$32.1 million (FY 2022/23: HK$59.8 million), which was mainly
attributable to several non-recurring items incurred during the year
ended 31 March 2023, including gains on disposal of interest in a
joint venture, release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of
subsidiaries and impairment losses on interest in an associate. The net
profit margin was 2.3% (FY 2022/23: 4.2%). Basic earnings per share
were HK11.26 cents (FY 2022/23: HK21.00 cents).

CEO MESSAGE
17 B 48 3 B %

AANERREZTS REEEERERERA
8 (TRAF) RMEBAR (ERIMEEIRTAE
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MGEBARBERERAERNESEMUERE
MMIGEATHEENRR - RNEEDSBIEER
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FEEXBRE 775 NRS P MM EE
FEMNF P RHERE BERFRELERE
—UEZHNZRItERESREENE @
BRENELEWRANE  BAEEROBEFEAEL
EXEEBRNDPRERR-

FERNEEEEA1,400,300,000BT (-
S ZZEHREE : %A1,443,500,0005 7T)
BEAERLN3.0% TEARNETLRELRERL
BREASARNEETRINBETERE -
KM BABRAEERUEE - FPEARER
HMEBRENEERXREA LXEBFEER
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CEO MESSAGE
TR AR E B

DIVIDEND

The Board has proposed the payment of a final dividend of HK4.0
cents per ordinary share (FY 2022/23: Final dividend of HK4.0 cents
per ordinary share and special dividend of HK3.0 cents per ordinary
share) to shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Shareholders of the Company on 21 August 2024. Together with
the interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share already paid,
the total dividend for the year would be HK8.0 cents per ordinary
share (FY 2022/23: HK12.0 cents per ordinary share). Subject to the
approval of shareholders at the 2024 Annual General Meeting, the
proposed final dividend will be paid on or before 30 August 2024.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Electronic Products

As the core business of the Group, electronic products remained
the main source of revenue during the year under review. During
the year, sales amounted to HK$1,160.2 million (FY 2022/23:
HK$1,243.9 million), representing a year-on-year decrease of 6.7%
and accounting for 82.9% of the Group’s total sales.

At the end of the last financial year, the Group reached a cooperation
agreement with a new Internet of Things (“loT") customer to support
the production of electronic paper displays at its Vietnam plant. The
related production progressed in an orderly manner and production
efficiency steadily improved during the year. As a result, the Group’s
related revenue in the second half of the year was higher than in the
first half, and this customer has become one of SUGA's key partners.
During the year, revenue from professional audio equipment products,
telephones for the hearing impaired and telecommunications
products from Japanese customers recorded a decline, mainly because
customers were still reducing their inventories and tended to be
cautious in placing orders, and the weak economic trend also slowed
demand growth.

12 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24
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During the year, customers of electronic products appreciated the
capabilities of the Group’s diversified product portfolio and “China
Plus One” production advantages. They maintained contact with
the Group with the hope of cooperating in the future, which could
become a new growth driver for the Group’s business. During
the year, the production efficiency of the Group’s Vietnam plant
continued to improve, with well-trained professionals and its
production management system linked to the Mainland China plant,
enabling the Group to have sufficient capacity to process orders. The
number of domestic orders received by the Mainland China plant also
grew during the year, contributing greatly to the Group’s efficiency.
The plants in China and Vietnam complemented each other and
further enhanced the Group’s production efficiency.

SUGA has strengthened its product layout in the loT equipment
sector. An internal loT department has been set up to develop a
diversified loT product portfolio. SUGA is able to provide customers
with one-stop solutions including design, development, production,
assembly and shipping to fully meet the needs of business partners.

Pet Business

The pet business achieved sales of HK$240.1 million during the year
(FY 2022/23: HK$199.6 million), representing an increase of 20.3%
year-on-year and accounting for 17.1% of the Group’s total sales.

In terms of pet electronic products, the Group seized the opportunity
that arose from inventory digestion in the consumer market and
grasped the continuous orders placed by customers, which greatly
improved the performance of pet-related electronic products during
the year compared with the previous financial year.

In terms of the pet food business, the Group’s own pet food brand
“Brabanconne” maintained an upward trend in the Hong Kong
and Japanese markets. The pet food containing CS4 polysaccharide
selenium nanoparticles (CS4 SeNP), a key active ingredient of
caterpillar fungus, which the Group launched last year, also continued
to perform well in the market.

CEO MESSAGE
17 B 48 3 B %
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CEO MESSAGE
TR AR E B

The Group has been committed to improving the quality of pet
food and optimizing the relevant business systems to create a pet
health ecosystem by strengthening R&D capabilities and production
efficiency. The Group will continue to strengthen product R&D and
external cooperation, and promote sales in online and offline markets
to facilitate the continued development of the pet food business in
various regions.

AWARDS

During the year, the Group was named one of the Top 10 Internet
of Things (“loT"”) Solutions Providers 2023 by CIO Applications
magazine, reflecting the recognition of its comprehensive product
portfolio and advanced R&D technology in loT. At the same time,
this award boosted the Group's confidence in devoting more efforts
to the loT business. As for individual awards, Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, the
Group's Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer, received the
“2023 Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding
Young Entrepreneur” award from the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area Entrepreneurs Union during the year. This award
not only recognized my outstanding achievements and significant
contributions to the Greater Bay Area, but also encouraged the
Group to actively participate in talent exchanges and keep abreast of
the development opportunities in the Greater Bay Area. In addition,
the Group was accredited with a silver certificate in the WWF Low
Carbon Manufacturing Program (LCMP) in early 2024, recognizing the
Group's performance in carbon intensity reduction, greenhouse gas
management and best practices in energy efficiency of manufacturing
processes and operations.
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PROSPECTS

In the second half of 2024, opportunities for inter-regional business
exchanges will increase, and consumer sentiment is likely to continue
to pick up. However, continued geopolitical tensions and the
uncertainty about the timing of interest rate cuts by the U.S. Federal
Reserve continue to make the global business environment fraught
with uncertainty. Faced with the complex and volatile economic
situation, SUGA remains cautiously optimistic about its business
prospects in the second half of the financial year. The Group believes
that with the help of diversified business strategies, “China Plus One”
production capacity layout, strong R&D capabilities, and effective cost
control measures, SUGA can effectively respond to market changes,
achieve business stability and progress, and create returns for
shareholders as the market conditions become clearer.

The Group expects its core business of electronic products to continue
to achieve steady development and contribute stable revenue. As
existing customers reduce inventories and new customers contribute
orders, the Group is confident that revenue from electronic products
such as professional audio equipment can continue to recover. At
the same time, the Group’s forward-looking layout and business
expansion in loT technology and related businesses have created good
synergies with its “China Plus One” strategy. The Group’s electronic
paper display customer in Vietnam has contributed to the growth of
the Group’s related businesses and has become an important source
of revenue for the Group. In the future, the Group is confident that it
will receive more orders in the IoT field. The production efficiency of
the Group's Vietnam plant has also gradually approached that of the
Mainland China plant, which has become a solid foundation for the
Group to consolidate and expand its customer base. As a result, the
Group can more flexibly deploy its production capacity and further
develop its diversified production layout.
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CEO MESSAGE
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As for the pet business, the Group’s experienced team has been
striving for years to build a pet health ecosystem by investing in and
developing advanced technologies and seeking potential external
cooperation opportunities. The Group will continue to cater for
consumers’ demand for natural and healthy pet food and high-
end pet nutrition, and promote pet food products containing CS4
polysaccharide selenium nanoparticles (CS4 SeNP), the main active
ingredient of caterpillar fungus, while actively seeking operating
methods and cooperation opportunities to improve its own operating
efficiency. It will also adopt more precise and effective marketing
strategies based on the differences in online and offline consumer
preferences in different regions, in order to achieve good business
development in various sales locations.

The Group will continue to keep pace with market trends and enrich
its diversified business layout. The promotion and popularization
of 5G will facilitate the widespread application of loT technology.
Greater bandwidth and faster mobile services will enable applications
such as smart home appliances, smart business solutions, and smart
traffic management systems to penetrate all aspects of daily life. This
trend is in line with the Group’s development goals. SUGA expects loT
technology to become more popular and ubiquitous, and is confident
that it will capture corresponding business opportunities based on
its own strengths. In addition, the Group’s self-developed audio
and video streaming interface, Stream Desk, made its debut at the
Hong Kong Electronics Fair last year, reflecting SUGA's outstanding
development capabilities and keen market insight.

Thanks to effective cost control strategies, the Group's current cash
flow position is more robust than in the 2023/24 interim period, and
it has sufficient strength to seize appropriate investment opportunities
when the time is right. At the same time, the Group’s inventory
levels are still steadily declining. Its plants in China and Vietnam
have sufficient production capacity, and their production efficiency
is increasing year by year. These factors have made the Group well
prepared to handle new orders and enable it to attract customers and
seize opportunities more quickly when market conditions become
clearer, thereby promoting performance growth.

NG Man Cheuk
Executive Director, Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong
27 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEESA W R

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE M FERIR
For the year ended 31 March
HE-A=1+—HLEE
2024 2023 Change
gl 111 = =4 =)
HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FET FET %
Revenue G 1,400,293 1,443,482 (3.0)
Gross profit EH 203,267 202,878 0.2
Gross profit margin ESTES 14.5% 14.1% 0.4
Other income H A 6,239 4,824 29.3
Other gains — net Httzm— 358 810 56,276 (98.6)
Distribution and selling expenses PIE R IHE & A (57,599) (62,040) (7.2)
General and administrative expenses —f@ R {THEIRE R (106,712) (116,146) (8.1)
Net impairment losses on financial & E RV HERBIE
assets and financial guarantees E518 558 (1,049) (1,501)
Operating profit ES—drnp il 44,956 84,291 (46.7)
Finance income MEWA 2,894 1,586 82.5
Finance costs FE= N (6,384) (6,305) 1.3
Finance costs — net R A A —F (3,490) (4,719) (26.0)
Impairment losses on interests in N—EHE ARG
associates B E - (11,883)
Share of profits of associates — net  FE{EE#E AT EF] — - 3,183
Profit before income tax FRETISRMATEF 41,466 70,872 (41.5)
Income tax expense FriSiRpE =~ (9,139) (10,797) (15.
Profit for the year FREF 32,327 60,075 (46.2)
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recorded revenue of
HK$1,400.3 million (FY2022/23: HK$1,443.5 million),
a decrease of 3.0% as compared with the previous financial year.

representing

The decrease in revenue was mainly due to the decrease in orders
for telephones for the hearing-impaired, smart payment products,
and telecommunication products from Japanese customers. These
products severely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic were recovered
during the last financial year. However, under the current unstable
global situation including rising bank interest rates, high inflation
rates, and geographical conflicts, customers became more cautious
in placing orders, especially as shipping and raw material supplies
stabilized. Fortunately, the Group has built up a diversified product
portfolio and outstanding product development capabilities, which
allow the Group to remain resilient during the year. In conjunction
with the “China plus one” strategy, the loT customer that the Group
began working with in last financial year grew significantly and
became one of our key customers in this financial year. In addition to
the steady recovery of the pet electronic equipment and professional
audio equipment, most of the drop in revenue was offset.
Geographically, for the year ended 31 March 2024, revenue
generated from the top 3 countries of destination, the United States
of America, the PRC and Japan accounted for 87.6% of the Group’s
total sales (FY2022/23: 86.1%).

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group’s gross profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 was
HK$203.3 million, representing an increase of HK$0.4 million or 0.2%
compared to the HK$202.9 million recorded in the corresponding
period in the previous financial year.

Gross profit margin for the year was 14.5% (FY2022/23: 14.1%), an
increase of 0.4%.

The increase in gross profit and gross profit margin was mainly
credited to the continuous effort of cost measurement implemented,
the Group was able to improve the gross profit margin despite a slight
decrease in overall sales for the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEESA W R

Other income

The Group's other income during the year ended 31 March 2024
increased by HK$1.4 million to HK$6.2 million (FY2022/23: HK$4.8
million). Other income mainly represented various discretionary
incentives from the local PRC governments in relation to technology
development and other incentive programs, and imputed interest

income from other receivables.

Other gains - net

The Group recorded other net gains of HK$0.8 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 (FY2022/23: HK$56.3 million). Other net gains
mainly represented the fair value gain on investment properties, offset
by the net foreign currency exchange loss. The net gain recorded in
last financial year mainly represented the gain on disposal of interest
in a joint venture of HK$38.1 million, the gain on release of exchange
reserve upon deregistration of foreign subsidiaries of HK$12.8 million,
and net foreign currency exchange gain of HK$5.4 million.

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses decreased by HK$4.4
million or 7.2% to HK$57.6 million for the year ended 31 March
2024. Selling and distribution expenses decreased mainly due to the
decrease in staff costs and consultant fees and sales commission paid
during the year, offsetted by the increase in staff cost, advertising
and promotion expenses and carriage outward expenses. Selling and
distribution expenses to revenue ratio was 4.1% for the year ended
31 March 2024 (FY2022/23: 4.3%).

General and administrative expenses

The Group’s general and administrative expenses decreased by
HK$9.4 million, or 8.1% to HK$106.7 million for the year ended
31 March 2024, as compared to HK$116.1 million of the previous
financial year. Employee benefits expenses decreased by HK$6.0
million mainly due to the decrease in headcount and bonus paid as
compared to the previous financial year.

Net finance costs

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has recorded net
finance costs of HK$3.5 million (FY2022/2023: HK$4.7 million). This
was mainly due to the increase in the average bank interest rate
during the year. Interest coverage, expressed as a multiple of EBITDA
to total interest was 13.7 times (FY2022/2023: 19.0 times).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Profit for the year

Profit for the year was HK$32.3 million (FY2022/23: HK$60.1 million),
representing a decrease of HK$27.7 million or 46.2% compared
to the previous financial year. Basic earnings per share for the year
ended 31 March 2024 were HK11.26 cents as compared to HK21.00
cents in the last year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The chief operation decision-maker has been identified as the
Executive Directors (collectively referred to as the "CODM") that
make strategic decisions. The CODM reviews the internal reporting
of the Group in order to assess performance and allocate resources
and makes relevant decisions based on the entity-wide financial
information.

There are two reportable segments of the Group:

Electronic products — Develop, manufacture and sales of electronic
products (other than pet-related electronic products)

Pet-related products — Manufacture and distribution of pet-related
products

Electronic products

Revenue from electronic products segment recorded approximately
HK$1,160.2 million (FY2022/2023: HK$1,243.9 million), representing
82.9% of the Group's total revenue and a decrease of HK$83.7
million or 6.7% as compared to last financial year. During the year,
orders for telephones for the hearing-impaired, smart payment
products, and telecommunication products from Japanese customers
decreased, However, orders from the IoT customer that the Group
began working with in last financial year grew significantly and
became one of our key customers in this financial year, in conjunction
with the steady recover of the professional audio equipment during
the year, most of the drop in revenue was offset.

Major products of this segment are: i) professional audio equipment;
ii) products with loT technology; iii) telephones for the hearing-
impaired; iv) telecommunication products; v) general household
consumer appliances, and vi) smart payment products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEESA W R

Pet related products

Revenue from pet related products segment recorded approximately
HK$240.1 million (FY2022/2023: HK$199.6 million),
17.1% of the Group’s total revenue and an increase of HK$40.5

representing

million or 20.3% as compared to previous financial year. The increase
was mainly due to the steady recovery in sales of pet training
equipment during the year. In previous financial year, sales of pet
training equipment were affecting by the economic downturn in
overseas markets as well as the cautious approach of our customers
to reduce its inventory level when the material supply chain and
shipping logistic were disrupted during the pandemic.

Regarding pet food business, which has recorded a stable
performance. The Group's own pet food brand “Brabanconne”
maintained an upward trend in the Hong Kong and Japanese markets.
The pet food containing CS4 polysaccharide selenium nanoparticles
(CS4 SeNP), a key active ingredient of caterpillar fungus, which the
Group launched last year, also continued to perform well in the
market.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024, the current assets and current liabilities of
the Group were approximately HK$754.2 million (31 March 2023:
HK$870.4 million) and approximately HK$289.0 million (31 March
2023: HK$408.2 million) respectively. The liquidity ratio, which is
calculated as current assets over current liabilities, was 2.61 times as
at 31 March 2024, as compared to that of 2.13 times as at 31 March
2023.

The Group generally finances its operations by internally generated
resources and banking facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong. Banking facilities used by the Group include revolving
loans, overdrafts and term loans, which are primarily on floating
interest rates basis. As at 31 March 2024, the Group maintained cash
and bank balances at approximately HK$161.9 million (31 March
2023: HK$138.2 million) and total bank borrowings were HK$40.8
million (31 March 2023: HK$137.3 million). Net cash position (total
bank borrowings less cash and cash equivalents) was HK$121.1
million (31 March 2023: HK$0.9 million). Gearing ratio, expressed as
a percentage of total bank borrowings over total equity, was 5.2%
(31 March 2023: 17.1%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group's total assets and total liabilities as at 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$1,079.1 million (31 March 2023:
HK$1,231.2 million) and HK$296.1 million (31 March 2023:
HK$426.8 million) respectively. The debt ratio, which is calculated
based on total liabilities over total assets, was approximately 0.27
times as at 31 March 2024, as compared to that of approximately
0.35 times as at 31 March 2023.

The net asset value of the Group decreased from HK$804.4 million
as at 31 March 2023 to HK$783.0 million as at 31 March 2024, the
decrease is mainly attributable by the net effect of comprehensive
profit for the year and final dividends paid for the financial year
2022/23 as well as interim dividend paid for financial year 2023/24.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had aggregate banking facilities of
approximately HK$792.8 million (31 March 2023: HK$822.7 million)
from its principal bankers for overdrafts, loans and trade financing,
with unused facilities of HK$735.8 million (31 March 2023: HK$682.3
million).

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The Group's total capital expenditures for the period under review
were HK$13.9 million. The capital expenditures were mainly for
the additions of machineries and equipment for PRC and Vietnam
production plants.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily respect to Renminbi, Hong Kong dollars,
United States dollars and Vietnamese Dong. As Hong Kong dollars is
pegged against United States dollars, the Group mainly exposed to
foreign currency risk with respect to Renminbi and Vietnamese Dong.
The Group monitors foreign currency exchange exposure and will
use forward foreign exchange contracts as appropriate to hedge the
foreign exchange risk in the ordinary course of business.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign currency risk. It is the Group’s
policy not to enter into derivative transactions for speculative
purposes.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEESA W R

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The Group did not pledge any assets as securities for the banking
facilities granted to the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT
LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a capital commitment of
HK$3.8 million for property, plant and equipment (31 March 2023:
HK$0.7 million).

Corporate guarantees given to banks to secure the borrowings
granted to subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 amounted to HK$40.8
million (31 March 2023: HK$137.3 million). As at 31 March 2024, the
Group did not provide any financial guarantees except for corporate
guarantees given to banks to secure the borrowings granted to
subsidiaries (31 March 2023: Same).

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2024 the Group has approximately 2,364 employees,
of which 48 were based in Hong Kong, while the rest were mainly
in Mainland China and Vietnam. Remuneration policy was reviewed
regularly, making reference to current legislation, market condition
and both the individual and company performance. In addition to
salaries and other usual benefits like annual leave, medical insurance
and various mandatory pension schemes, the Group also provides
educational sponsorship subsidies, discretionary performance bonus
and share options.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFNEREEAERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. NG Chi Ho, aged 74, was appointed as an executive director
on 1 September 2002, he is the founder, chairman and chairman of
the corporate governance committee of the Group. He relinquished
his role as the managing director (equivalent to CEO) on 1 July
2023. He is responsible for the formulation of corporate strategy,
strategic planning and development of the Group. Dr. NG has over
46 years of management experience in the electronics industry
and had been teaching electronic engineering at the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University for 4 years. Dr. NG holds a bachelor's degree
in science from the Chinese University of Hong Kong, a master of
philosophy degree in computer engineering from the University of
Hong Kong, and an honorary doctor of engineering degree from
Lincoln University, USA. Dr. NG is a chartered engineer, a fellow of
the Institution of Engineering and Technology, UK. He is also a fellow
of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors, an university fellow of the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University, the honorary life president of the
Development Foundation of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
and the Trustee of United College, Chinese University of Hong Kong.

In addition, Dr. NG is a founding partner of Hong Kong-Shenzhen
United Investment Fund and Hong Kong Inno Angel Fund, the
honorary chairman of Hong Kong Electronic Industries Association
and honorary chairman of Hong Kong Electronics Industries Council.
He is also a member of the Election Committee of the Technology
and Innovation Subsector, an academy advisor of CityU Academy of
Innovation and a member of the Steering Committee of Industrial and
Business Leaders Circle, City University of Hong Kong.

In terms of community services, Dr. NG is chairman of Sir Cecil
Clementi Scholarship Foundation under Education Bureau, HKSAR
Government, and a director of Hok Hoi Library.

Dr. NG is the recipient of the Outstanding Entrepreneurship Award
by Enterprise Asia in 2013, and the Hong Kong Electronic Industry
Outstanding Achievement Award by Hong Kong Electronics Industries
Council in 2018.

Dr. NG is the father of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, the executive
director and CEO of the Group and Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the
CEO of WePet Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
director on 1 May 2015, and was appointed as chief executive officer
of the Group on 1 July 2023. He is responsible for managing the
Company’s overall businesses and operations. Dr. NG holds Bachelor
of Engineering (1st Hon.) degree in Computing from Imperial College
London, Master of Science (S.M.) and Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.
D.) degrees in Electrical Engineering and Computer Science from
Massachusetts Institute of Technology (MIT). Prior to joining Suga
Group, Dr. NG had worked at IBM, Nokia and Qualcomm on various
chip design research projects.

Dr. NG is keen to promote innovations and technological
advancements in the Hong Kong electronics industry. He is the
chairman of Hong Kong Electronics Industry Council (Group 5 of
Federation of Hong Kong Industries), and a member of Hong Kong
Applied Science and Technology Research Institute Company Limited
(ASTRI)'s board of directors, an expert review panel and steering
committee member of Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D
Centre (LSCM), and Enterprise Support Scheme (ESS) Assessment
Panel under the Innovation and Technology Fund (ITF). To support
nurturing local talents, Dr. NG is an adjunct professor of City
University of Hong Kong and Adjunct Associate Professor of The
Chinese University of Hong Kong. Dr. NG also serves as a member
of departmental advisory committees at several universities such as
The Chinese University of Hong Kong (Electronic Engineering), The
Hong Kong University of Science and Technology (Electronic and
Computer Engineering), and The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
(Applied Physics). He is also a member of the Electronics and
Telecommunications Training Board of Vocational Training Council.

Dr. NG has won the “Young Industrialist Awards of Hong Kong
2020" in recognition of his outstanding contribution to Hong Kong'’s
industrial sector and the society. Dr. NG also has received the “"2023
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area Outstanding
Young Entrepreneur” award from the Guangdong-Hong Kong-
Macao Greater Bay Area Entrepreneurs Union, in recognition of his
outstanding achievements and significant contributions to the Greater
Bay Area.

He is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the executive director and chairman
of the Group and the brother of Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, the
CEO of WePet Group.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFNEREEAERE

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. MA Fung On, aged 66, was appointed as an executive director
on 1 September 2002, and was redesignated from executive director
to non-executive director on 1 July 2023. He was the deputy
chairman and a member of the corporate governance committee
of the Group. He is the legal representative of the Company's
subsidiaries in the Mainland China. He graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University with a higher diploma in electronic
engineering and was conferred as a fellowship of Social Enterprise
Research Academy. Mr. Ma is vice chairman of The Hong Kong
Enterprise Association of Dongguan Qingxi and vice chairman of
Dongguan Photoelectric Communication Industry Association.

Mr. LEE Kam Hung, Arthur, aged 66, was appointed as a non-
executive director of the Company on 1 September 2009. He holds
a Master degree of Science in Engineering Business Management
(Co-organized by The Hong Kong Polytechnic University and The
University of Warwick in the United Kingdom).

Mr. LEE is the founder, CEO of Kolinker Group of companies since
its inception in 1983. Besides, he is a member of The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University Council, Chairman of Council’s Knowledge
Transfer Committee of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University (KTC),
a vice chairman of the director of board of ITC Nano and Advanced
Materials Institute Limited (NAMI), and a member of Expert Panel
of Enhanced Tax Deduction for R&D — Designated Local Research

Institution (DLRI) of ITC.

In addition, Mr. LEE is the forty-third general committee member
of The Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong (CMA), a
fellow member of The Hong Kong Institution of Engineers, the vice
president (2003 Awardee) of Hong Kong Young Industrialists Council
Foundation Limited and an industrial fellow of The University of
Warwick.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

He is also a chairman of Departmental Advisory Committee of Applied
Physics Department of The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, an
advisory member of Departmental Advisory Committee of Electrical
and Electronic Engineering Department of The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University (EEE), a member of The Governing Committee of the
PolyU Foundation and life member (The Outstanding PolyU Alumni
Award 2019) of Outstanding PolyU Alumni Association (OPAA), and
a member of International Advisory Committee of PolyU Photonics
Research Institute.

Furthermore, he is an honorary advisor and founder chairman of the
Kowloon City District Senior Police Call Honorary Presidents Council
(SPQ),
Honorary Presidents’ Association, member of Advisory Committee of

the tenth honorary president of Fire Safety Ambassador

Kowloon City Youth Development Network and the Fourth Honorary
Chairman of Kowloon City District Association for Celebration of Re-
Unification of Hong Kong with China Limited.

Mr. LEE is also an honorary president of Kowloon City Senior Citizens
Welfare Association Ltd., a conference consultant of Kowloon City
District Resident Association (KCDRA).
commissioner of executive committee of Fire & Ambulance Services
Teen Connect (FAST CONNECT).

And the honorary assistant

Prof. LUK Wing Ching, Wayne, aged 62, was appointed as a
non-executive director of the Company on 1 September 2018.
He is professor of Computer Engineering at Imperial College
London. He was a visiting professor at Stanford University and
the founding editor-in-chief of the Association for Computing
Machinery Transactions on Reconfigurable Technology and Systems
(ACM TRETS). Prof. LUK's research covers custom computing, field
programmable technology and design automation. He has received
awards from various conferences such as those covering application-
specific systems and field-programmable technology, and a Research
Excellence Award from Imperial College London. Prof. LUK is a fellow
of the Royal Academy of Engineering, a fellow of the Institute of
Electrical and Electronics Engineers (IEEE) and a fellow of the British
Computer Society (BCS). He holds Master of Arts, Master of Science
and Doctor of Philosophy degrees from the University of Oxford.

EFNEREEANERE

BT mERETIREERAYEERAEMEZEE S

TR -BARAEBIXRZERRETFIRERREMN
LZECEEEBEZEE EBETIABESEE
BEEEMERBHERR KB EOPAA)K S
Z8 (2019FFHEAREK) » LU F M
R EREBEEERME -

Vn'r)ﬂ]]

B o MAsNERERELENREERE
(SPOREBRBKRRAIERE -TRHMEEMZE
EAELESRENFETEREST R LEEW
FEEERMPEERNZEENE  URNENE
ERAENBEALREARLTHEZE TN ENER
BEE-

ERETANENEHEZEINEERATDNE
ETF -NENEERES(KCDRAN E FE
RS I AR E S EE(FAST CONNECT#ITEE
TR L EBNIREE -

EXBEE N+ RZZE—N\FALBE—H
BEEARATARTEST HARATHE
RSB T RN EHEEEHERAZEE
FEHE REBEFEEBSUEBEMEARR
HTIREIT) E 4R USRI EIEERITE
RGO RERM KRRt BELAE HFER
REERTEEARA MRS ARESMNEER
FENRIE UGB FE2 RN S M IEaE
EHREEEERIERR T ZEERET
ITRZ2ERT KA ERB SRt T #E
B4 zABNVBEL - BE2ETREEE L

B o

EEEREESRAT 2023/24 £ 29



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFNEREEAERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. LEUNG Yu Ming, Steven, aged 65, was appointed as
an independent non-executive director of the Company on
27 September 2004, he is the chairman of audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. LEUNG holds a master degree in accounting from Charles Sturt
University in Australia and a bachelor degree in social science from
the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG is a practising
certified accountant of CPA Australia and a fellow member of The
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Taxation Institute of
Hong Kong respectively. Mr. LEUNG is also a practising certified public
accountant in Hong Kong. Mr. LEUNG previously worked in Nomura
International (Hong Kong) Limited as an assistant vice president in
the International Finance and Corporate Finance Department. He
commenced public practice in auditing and taxation since 1990. He
is now the senior partner of a certified public accountants firm. Mr.
LEUNG has over 39 years of experience in assurance, accounting,
taxation, financial management and corporate finance. Mr. LEUNG
is also an independent non-executive director of C C Land Holdings
Limited, The Cross Harbour (Holdings) Limited and Y.T. Realty Group
Limited, all of which are companies listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

Mr. CHAN Kit Wang, Edmond, aged 71, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director on 1 April 2009, he is a member
of audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Company. Mr. CHAN graduated from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in 1977 with a higher diploma in
accountancy. Mr. CHAN is a fellow member of The Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants, associate member of The Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. He is now a senior
partner of a certified public accountants firm. Mr. CHAN has over 47
years of working experience in accounting, auditing and taxation.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

Dr. LAW Sui Chun, aged 52, was appointed as an independent non-
executive director on 1 October 2023, She is an independent non-
executive director of the Group and a member of audit committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Group. Dr.
LAW is holding a PhD in Chemistry specializing in Nano & Advanced
Materials synthesis and an MPhil in Chemistry focusing on Polymer
and Materials Science for Micro-Electronics Fabrication from the
HKUST.

Dr. LAW is the founder of air purification and environmental
assessment companies in Hong Kong. Besides, she is a board director
and technology expert at the Nano and Advanced Materials Institute
Ltd (NAMI).
Expertise at the Logistics and Supply Chain MultiTech R&D Centre,

She also serves as a panel member for Technology

and was a committee member on Innovation, Technology, and Re-
industrialization for the Innovation, Technology, and Industry Bureau
from 2021 to 2023.

Dr. LAW was the executive committee member of The Hong Kong
Electronic and Technologies Associations from 2008 to 2023,
culminating in her appointment as deputy chairman from 2018 to
2023, and serves as an honorary advisor of the association for the
term 2024 to 2025. She also served as an executive member of
the Training and Education Panel at The Hong Kong Medical and
Healthcare Device Industries Association from 2018 to 2020 and
contributed to the Appeal Board Panel for Town Planning under the
government of HKSAR from 2012 to 2018. Her active engagement
in pivotal governmental initiatives and innovation schemes is
evident through her participation in vetting committees and panel
notably for SERAP from 2009 to 2015, Enterprise
Support Scheme (ESS) from 2015 to 2021, and as an assessor for the

assessments,

Innovation and Technology Fund’s Better Living Fund from 2018 to
2023.

Her leadership formulated the 2003 IAQ certification scheme
embraced by the Environmental Protection Department of HKSAR
and she earned the esteemed Hong Kong Award for Industries —
Technological Award in 2006 and 2019.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILES

EFNEREEAERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHOW Sze Shek, Riley, aged 52, is the chief financial officer of
the Group. Mr. CHOW is responsible for overseeing the corporate and
financial matters of the Group. Mr. CHOW is a qualified accountant
and a fellow member of CPA Australia. Mr. CHOW joined the Group
in September 2001 and has over 30 years of experience in corporate
finance, accounting and auditing. He graduated from the University
of Queensland, Australia with a Bachelor of Commerce degree in
accounting.

Mr. TENG Boon Han, Eric, aged 46, is the chief operation officer
of EMS division, he is responsible for the overall operations in SUGA
HiTech Industrial Park. Mr. TENG holds a bachelor degree of Business
Administration in Finance and Economics from University of New
Brunswick, Canada. He joined the Group in 2007. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. TENG worked for global IT and telecommunication
companies. He has had international working exposure in the USA,
Malaysia, Indonesia and Thailand within those companies.

Mr. O'DONNELL, Robert, aged 51, is the chief revenue officer of
the EMS & ODM business. He is responsible for the Sales, Strategic
Planning, Marketing and Customer Support functions at Suga. Prior
to joining Suga in 2013, Mr. O'DONNELL held many senior leadership
roles at several global EMS and supply chain organizations. He has
spent his early career based in his native Ireland but since then has
gained significant working experience in Malaysia, China, India, and
the USA, where he is now based. He is a member of the Certified
Public Accountants of Ireland and is a Graduate of the Stanford
University School of Business, USA. He was also a finalist in the EY
Entrepreneur of the Year.

Mr. NG Man Chun, Anthony, aged 41, is the chief executive officer
of WePet Group. Since joining the Group in 2010, Mr. NG has been
responsible for developing the pet business and managing the
wholesale and the retail pet business in Hong Kong and mainland
China. Mr. NG has also been involving in the development of the
smart pet products for the Group. Mr. NG holds Bachelor of Science
degree in Robotics from The Staffordshire University, Postgraduate
Diploma in Computer Science from The University of Birmingham
and Master of Business Administration from The University of Wales,
Newport. Mr. NG has accumulated experience on pet business in last
14 years.

Mr. NG is the son of Dr. NG Chi Ho, the executive director and
chairman of the Group and the brother of Dr. NG Man Cheuk, Alfred,
the executive director and chief executive officer of the Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELERS

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) and the management of Suga
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) are committed to
attain and uphold a high standard of corporate governance that
properly protect and promote the interests of its shareholders and
other stakeholders including customers, suppliers, employees and the
general public.

Throughout the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
has complied with all applicable code provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) contained in Appendix C1 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”, except for the code provision
C.2.1).

According to the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer should be separate and should
not be performed by the same individual. Up to 30 June 2023, the
Company did not have a separate Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer and Dr. Ng Chi Ho held both positions to provide the Group
with strong and consistent leadership. Dr. Ng Chi Ho relinquished his
role as the Chief Executive officer and remains as the Chairman and
an executive director and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk has been appointed as
Chief Executive Officer of the Company with effect from 1 July 2023.
Thereafter, the Company has complied with the code provision C.2.1
of the CG Code.

Save as the above-mentioned deviation, none of the directors of
the Company (the “Director”) is aware of information that would
reasonably indicate the Company is not or was not in compliance with
the CG Code for the year under review.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE CULTURE AND STRATEGY

The Company recognises the importance of corporate culture which
is essential to our operations and long-term success. The Company’s
culture is moulded by our values. The Board has established the
following values that are integrated throughout the Company'’s
objective, mission, and policies, to guide employees’ conduct and
behaviors, as well as business operation and strategies:

(1) Sustainability Management
SUGA has established a sustainable development management
structure. The management regularly discusses various
sustainable development issues, makes appropriate
recommendations, and oversees related work.

(2) Understanding of Customers’ Requirements
Drawing on its core strengths in electronics manufacturing
services (EMS) and strong production bases in China and
Vietnam, SUGA maintains close relations with its business
partners, helping global electronics brands and manufacturers
to provide quality products to their customers.

(3) Good Quality
SUGA remains steadfast in its commitment to quality and
environmentally friendly production. Over the years, the
Group has received many product awards and environmental
certifications. Looking ahead, the Group will continue to keep
abreast of the latest trends and provide high quality products to
meet the fast-changing market demand.

(4) Advanced Technology
As a leading provider of next-generation comprehensive
electronic solutions, SUGA actively develops and adopts
advanced technologies to achieve business innovation.

The Company will conduct regular review of and adjust (if
necessary) our strategies, and diligently monitor the evolving
market conditions to ensure prompt and proactive measures
will be taken in response to the changes and market needs,
thereby fostering the Group’s sustainability.

EXELRRS

EEER R
ARB)RPAEEXEHRMANEBEE RN
RMER LB EREZ - ARATNX
EERMANEEREREMM -EFEHTET
UTEBESR BLEEHEFEARTINESR
EoRER BMESEEINTASELE UK
REBEE R

Q) AFEERER
EHECRIARAEREERE B8
EEEHHRTRAREERER 1FH
BEESTEEERTIF

(2) FAFERER
BRAERNRGSRF(EMS)B Z 08 B LL
RARABERBEKRINBREEES
o EESUEEEBEBHRIFERN
SRR FR EREKNEFmEREE
HEBERSEFRESEERNER

(B) =EgRE
EE—EHEEHFIMM XANWRTFsmEL
UBRREENDTRNEE ZFEUXRE
DEEHELREBERRIERNZ - BRE
R AEBBEBENEANNRINE
DoURHEBEHER BRWEAWER
WHBEKX

(4) FERE
fEA—RERNHERZEETRAS
REEH EE-ERERBLRNL
E R EIRE BRI o

AABDREMBAN (MBE) BER
MR TESHEAHRSEENT
W0 73 KB AR BE BR B By A0 AR 1R B9 45 5
BHAREERTHRBR KMIEEE
EEBAIFES-

EEEREESRAT 2023/24 £ 35



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EXELERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Group’s overall management is vested in the Board, which now
comprises eight members, coming from diverse gender, businesses
and professional backgrounds. The Board consists of two executive
directors, Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, three
non-executive directors, Mr. Ma Fung On, Mr. Lee Kam Hung and
Prof. Luk Wing Ching and three independent non-executive directors
('INED’), Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Law
Sui Chun (collectively the ‘Directors’).

The roles and responsibilities of Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Dr. Ng Man
Cheuk respectively as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company (the “CEO") have been clearly divided and
defined. The clear division of the management of the Board and the
day-to-day management of business ensures a balanced power and
authority such that no concentration of power should vest in any one
individual.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29
September 2023, Dr. Law Sui Chun has been appointed as an INED
with effect from 1 October 2023. Dr. Law Sui Chun obtained legal
advice from a firm of solicitors on 3 October 2023 and has confirmed
that she understood her obligations as a Director of the Company.

The principal functions of the Board are to supervise the Group's
business and affairs; to review the Group’s financial performance; to
review the Group's systems of risk management and internal control;
to approve the strategic plans, investment and funding decision. For
the financial reporting accountability, the Board has the ultimate
responsibility for preparing the financial statements. The day-to-day
management is conducted by senior management and employees
of the Group, under the direction and supervision of the Directors.
When the Directors are aware of any events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt upon the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, such events or conditions will be clearly set out and
discussed in this Corporate Governance Report.
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The Company has complied with Rules 3.10 (1) and (2) of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three INEDs among
whom one has to have appropriate professional qualifications, or
accounting or related finance management expertise. The role of
INED is to bring an independent and objective view to the Board’s
deliberations and decisions. The Company has received from each
INED an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the INEDs are
independent.

All non-executive directors (including INEDs) have been appointed
for a term of one year and are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election in accordance with the bye-laws of the Company and
Listing Rules at each annual general meeting. Save as disclosed in the
biographical details of each director, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship) among members of the Board.

The Board is responsible for the strategic development of the
Company’s business. Daily operations and execution of strategic plans
are delegated to management. The Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee have specific terms of
reference clearly defining the powers and responsibilities of the
respective committees. All committees are required to report to the
Board in relation to their decisions and recommendations for seeking
the Board's approval.

ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board meets at least four times annually to review business
development and overall strategic policies. The Board is supplied with
relevant information by the senior management pertaining to matters
to be brought before the Board for decision as well as reports relating
to operational and financial performance of the Group before each
regular board meeting. At least 14 days’ notice of a regular board
meeting is given to all Directors to give them the opportunity to
attend. Board papers are dispatched to the Directors at least three
days before the meeting to ensure that they have sufficient time to
review the papers and be adequately prepared for the meeting.
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The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control
systems of the Company and its subsidiaries, setting appropriate
policies and reviewing the effectiveness of such controls. Risk
management and internal control are defined as a process effected
by the Board, management and other personnel, designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives
and can only provide reasonable, not absolute assurance of the
following:

effectiveness and efficiency of operations

reliability of financial reporting

compliance with applicable laws and regulations

- effectiveness of risk management functions

The Board conducted a review of the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year
ended 31 March 2024 including the consideration of the adequacy
of resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, as well as those relative
to the Company's ESG performance and reporting and their training
programmes and budget. The Board assessed the effectiveness of
risk management and internal control systems by considering reviews
performed by the Audit Committee, executive management and the
independent auditor's management letters, if any, and is satisfied that
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group is
functioning properly.
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Four regular meetings of the Board and one Annual General Meeting F@R > HRZTOXFATEEZTZER—RKRE
were held during the year. Directors may attend meetings in person, BEEKXKG - EFARBERAAT ZATME] (TR
by conference telephone or electronic means in accordance with F4B) BE - UEFEFXEFARALEED
the Bye-laws of the Company (“Bye-laws”). The attendance of each F-REBEEHESEZZXREHINT :

director at the meeting is set out as follows:—

Name of Directors Board meeting AGM
EENY EEERE e N
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) SEEELE (FE) 4/4 1/1
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk EREEL
4/4 171

Non-Executive directors FEHITEE
Mr. Ma Fung On* BEEwiEr 4/4 11
Mr. Lee Kam Hung RS E 4/4 1/1
Prof. Luk Wing Ching Rk B HIE 4/4 11
Independent Non-Executive Directors BLIFHITESE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHTE 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chan Kit Wang PRANZR Sk 4/4 11
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan RREELT (RS2 =4F

(resigned on 15 October 2023) +A+EHEE) 11 11
Dr. Law Sui Chun BILEELT (W2 =F

(appointed on 1 October 2023) +B—HEZMD 3/3 N/A 58 A
e Mr. Ma Fung On was redesignated from executive director to non-executive — * EERAER_E_=ZFtA—HHAUTESHEEIR

director on 1 July 2023. FHMITES-

During the year, the Chairman also held a meeting with the ®E@R > FETEABIUIFRTESRITUEE M
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other BEEHENZE -
Directors.
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DIRECTORS' TRAINING EEIEIN

Based on the training records provided to the Company by the HREZEEAAATIREZFILHE TR B
Directors, the Directors have participated in the following training ZHZZ2&ELITFE :

during the year:

Directors’ participation of continuous professional development EE2HFEEXER
Attended training
courses, seminars,
workshops,
Directors in-house briefs
) EREE
Rt~ TIES -
55 RESE
Executive Directors HITEE
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) SEREL (FE) v
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RReEL v
Non-Executive Directors FEHRITEE
Mr. Ma Fung On* Bk~ v
Mr. Lee Kam Hung =y e v
Prof. Luk Wing Ching ek B I 4
Independent Non-Executive Directors BLIEHTESE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEIE 4
Mr. Chan Kit Wang R ESE v
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (resigned on 15 October 2023) RRELE (RZEZ=
+B+H B&T) v
Dr. Law Sui Chun (appointed on 1 October 2023) BMERELT (W2 =F
+B—HEZMT v
g Mr. Ma Fung On was redesignated from executive Director to non-executive  * BEERAER_E_=ZFtA—HHWUTESHAEAR
Director on 1 July 2023. FRITES-
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DIRECTORS” AND OFFICERS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE AND INDEMNITY

To indemnify Directors and officers of the Company against all costs,
charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by them in the
execution of and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto, the
Company has arranged insurance cover for this purpose.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The board has established four committees and has delegated
various responsibilities to the committees including the audit
committee (the “Audit Committee”), the remuneration committee
(the "Remuneration Committee”), the nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) and the corporate governance committee
(the “Corporate Governance Committee”). All the Board Committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference. The Board Committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request,
are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung
Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Law Sui Chun. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The Chairman of
the Audit Committee is Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven.

The Audit Committee meetings are held not less than twice a year
to review and discuss the risk management and internal audit of
the Group, to review the Group's interim and annual financial
statements, and also monitor the appointment and function of the
Group's independent auditor. Additional meetings may also be held
by the Committee from time to time to discuss special projects or
other issues of which the Audit Committee considers necessary. The
Committee’s authority and duties are set out in written terms of
reference and are posted on the websites of the Company and the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange.
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During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the

FRHABET=ZRERZEETERH SMEZHAE

individual attendance of each member is set out below:- AHEREEINAT
Member of Audit Committee Meeting attended
BRZEERE HESZERE
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEITE 3/3
Mr. Chan Kit Wang R E 3/3
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (resigned on 15 October 2023) ReHEL (RZ2Z=F

+B+ A BED 2/2
Dr. Law Sui Chun (appointed on 1 October 2023) BIFEELT (W2 =F

+A—REZE) 1”1
During the year, the Audit Committee reviewed the fiscal year FR BERZEZEEQGEBER_ZT_-_— /" "=

2022/2023 annual report and fiscal year 2023/2024 interim report,
including the accounting principles and practice adopted by
the Group, reviewed and discussed the financial results and risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, conducted
discussions with the independent auditor on financial reporting,

compliance, and reported all relevant matters to the Board.

The Audit Committee has also reviewed the fiscal year 2023/2024
annual report in a meeting held on 26 June 2024.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs and is currently
chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven. No Director or senior executive
will be involved in any discussion in connection with his/her own
remuneration. The meeting of the Remuneration Committee shall
normally be held not less than once a year.

The Company has adopted a model where the Remuneration
Committee performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration of executive
Directors and senior management.
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The Committee’s principal responsibilities are to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages
of individual executive Directors and senior management, make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of non-
executive Directors and make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration structure. It also reviews and guides the formulation
of the Group's performance related pay schemes. Terms of reference
which described the authorities and duties of the Remuneration
Committee are publicly available on the websites of the Company
and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the contents of which are in
compliance with the CG Code.

During the year, three Remuneration Committee meetings were held

EXELRRS

ZEEZFTEREAMBENRTEETRER
BEANBZHFNGENEFTGRMES SF
HOEFZHNREZTGREZZRMEH
HWAEHEFTRHEZ ZETTRAE
EEERFEHMZHNS BLREHBIETES] -
BWitHMEEERECHRERER TN ART
REBBMIMPELARER BERBLET
TEEARATAZRE-

FRHABET=ZRFMZETER SMEZAE

and the individual attendance of each member is set out below:— AEHEXREEINAT

Member of the Remuneration Committee Meeting attended
HrNEEERE HEFERK
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHITE 3/3
Mr. Chan Kit Wang AL 3/3

Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (resigned on 15 October 2023)

RSB S _=

+B+HBEHD) 2/2

Dr. Law Sui Chun (appointed on 1 October 2023)

BImEEL (W-T_=F

+HA—HEZD) 11

During the year, the Remuneration Committee reviewed and made
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive Directors, non-executive Director, the INEDs, and
senior management; and reviewed the bonus to senior management.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

For the year ended 31 March, 2024, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:—

Remuneration bands (HK$)

FRN - HFNEEGEERRMENATES

FRTEF BIUFATESASREEEZ
HWTBRNEFTRLER, ICERNSRE

BEZIE4 e
EERSREEREZHM

HE_Z_NFEF-HB=-+—HLEE 4%
EAE&@I% T2 ENE ST

Number of persons

FrENEEE 8T A
$0 to $2,000,000 07 7T ZE2,000,000% 75 1
$2,000,001 to $3,000,000 2,000,001 75 %3,000,00078 7¢ 3

Further particulars regarding Director’ remuneration and the five
highest paid employees as required to be disclosed pursuant to
Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 33 & 34 to the

consolidated financial statements.

BFE LT RAWERD2AFTUKEBREF#H
MrxhoEeHEEZE-—DHBHRNES
MR EE33 /K340
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs who are Mr. Leung
Yu Ming, Steven, Mr. Chan Kit Wang and Dr. Law Sui Chun. The
Nomination Committee is currently chaired by Mr. Leung Yu Ming,
Steven.

The meeting of the Nomination Committee shall normally be held not
less than once a year. The Committee will identify qualified candidates
to fill the Board membership whenever such vacancy arises. It will
nominate such candidates for the Board to consider, and regularly
review the composition of the Board as well as make suggestions as
to any change that may be required. The Committee’s authority and
duties are set out in written terms of reference and are posted on the
websites of the Company and the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee held three meetings during the year.
Details of individual attendance of its members are set out in the

table below:—

Member of the Nomination Committee

RBREST
RAZEEH-RBUFRATEERFEE
L RAREERBHANLAR - RLES

TEFBIRARFHILE
REZEE—REFEEFTR IR —KEEHE

ERREEEHNEHRERFYESER
Aiﬂ%iﬁﬁ CMHRRAERMAERETEER
UEEHBFSEESHEMR I MR E
EHMELEZR - ZEGRAOKBEHRNER
BREEN TEHRR AR REBHIFMAZ
FEhA

n‘i«
=it
bl
N

FROIEREEGHBT =T
B HEREEHINTE

Meeting attended

REZEEBHE HEZERK
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFEIE 3/3
Mr. Chan Kit Wang FRANTR 3/3
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (resigned on 15 October 2023) RSB (MR_E_=F

+RA+RB#E) 22
Dr. Law Sui Chun (appointed on 1 October 2023) BMERLT (W2 =F

+A—BEZED) 1”1

During the year, the Nomination Committee reviewed the structure,
size, diversity, gender and composition of the Board; make
recommendations to the Board on appointment of Directors after
considering their qualifications and experience in relevant industries
and re-election of the Directors subject to retirement by rotation
under the bye-laws at the 2023 annual general meeting and assess
the independence of the INED according to the independence
requirements set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to code provision B.2.3 of the CG Code, (a) having served
the Company for more than nine years could be relevant to the
determination of an INED’s independence; and (b) if an INED has
served more than nine years, his/her further appointment should be
subject to a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Corporate Governance Committee of the Company was
established on 21 February, 2012. As at the date of this annual
report, the Corporate Governance Committee comprised of two
executive Directors, namely Dr. Ng Chi Ho and Dr. Ng Man Cheuk.

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group
and making recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee
include the duties set out in Code Provision A.2.1 (a) to (e) for
the time being in force. The terms of reference of the Corporate
Governance Committee are available on the website of the Company.

The Corporate Governance Committee held one meeting during the
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year. The attendance at this meeting is as follows:— ZHEFBFHINAOT :
Member of the Corporate Governance Committee Meeting attended
TEEREE HEZEH
Dr. Ng Chi Ho REEEL 11
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk RREEL 11
Mr. Ma Fung On (resigned on 1 July 2023) BERhE (W2 =

tHA—H#D N/A 738

During the year, the Corporate Governance Committee reviewed
and discussed the new requirements of the Corporate Governance
Code of the Listing Rules and reviewed and monitored the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board adopted the board diversity policy in August 2013. The
policy sets out the approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the
Board in order to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

The Company considered diversity of Board members can be achieved
through consideration of a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All
Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the

benefits of diversity on the Board.

The Board developed measurable objectives to implement the board
diversity policy, where selection of candidates will be based on the
range of diversity perspectives as set out above, and the ultimate
decision will be based on merit and contribution that the selected
candidate will bring to the Board.

As of 31 March 2024, the Board consists of one female Director
and seven male Directors with different business and professional
backgrounds, which help to maintain the diversity of the Board.

Diversity in Senior Management and Employees

The Company is committed to creating a diverse and inclusive
working environment for all employees. A working environment,
where diversity is considered as its strength and discrimination of any
kind is prohibited, has been created. As of 31 March 2024, female
comprises approximately 44.4% of the Group’s workforce (including
senior management).

L6 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

ESEMESRIEER

EEEEN T £/ \BRMEFERE
SRS - BREREAERELFESY
ZRACMHMZ it UEBEE T ZNA -

ARABERZETEEEEFENES TIE
BEEFRIEMI FH XERHAFEFR
R BXER R -NEARBRGZER-BEF
SFRFEZEHURBAEARA) > WEEBAE
RUBEBRBRAERDEREFEHNEZTIEN
Bme

EZEFIEAGERRUNETEEFIMNES
TEHER  BBEAESE LR —RIZTIER
HLEE  RRREBBABNREMRAIRBES
EEHZERTIARTE °

BE_Z_NF=R=t—H EFgH—%
YMEERtLBEUEFEERAFTAEBR
BEXEGRNESFEN FYREREFENS
park (vl

SREEEAERESHARZZ T
KRR N AHEEREZ THEMN IR
BT EABRE TEEEMEHRNIE
RWeHEZT-_WE=A=+— Et > L MEAh
AEEBREETIKE (BiEnhEEBABRTE
M) 8944.4% ©



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERMS OF MECHANISM ON INDEPENDENT
VIEWS TO THE BOARD

The Company recognises to Board independence is critical to
good corporate governance. This mechanism is to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board which is key to an effective
Board. All the members of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination
Committees are composed of INED. Furthermore, subject to prior
approval by the Chairman of the Board, the Directors may seek
independent legal, financial or other professional advice from
advisors independent of those advising the Company as and when
necessary, in appropriate circumstances to enable them to discharge
their responsibilities effectively, either on the Company’s affairs or in
respect of their fiduciary or other duties, at the Company’s expense.
The Board will review this mechanism on an annual basis to ensure
the implementation and effectiveness of this mechanism.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy in November 2018 (“Dividend
Policy”). Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, dividends may be
paid subject to the solvency test is duly passed and satisfied and
that:—

(@)  the Company is not or would not after payment of the said final
dividend be unable to pay its liabilities as they become due; and

(b)  the realizable value of the Company’s assets would not thereby
be less than the aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share
capital and share premium account.

Declaration and recommendation of payment of dividends of the
Company is subject to the approval of the Directors of the Company,
depending on results of operations, working capital, financial
position, future prospects, and capital requirements, as well as any
other factors which the Directors of the Company may consider
relevant from time to time. Any future declaration, recommendation
and payment of dividends of the Company may or may not reflect the
historical declarations and payments of dividends and will be at the
absolute discretion of the Directors of the Company. The Company
does not have any predetermined dividend payout ratio.
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In addition to cash, dividends may be distributed in the form of
Shares. Any distribution of Shares, however, must be approved by a
resolution of the shareholders.

The Board will review the Dividend Policy, as appropriate, to ensure
the effectiveness of the Dividend Policy. The Audit Committee will
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

NOMINATION POLICY

The Board adopted a nomination policy in November 2018
(“Nomination Policy”), which sets out the criteria and procedures
when considering candidates to be appointed or re-elected as
directors of the Company.

Nomination Criteria
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following criteria in
evaluating and selecting candidates for directorship:

1. Character and integrity;

skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s

2. Qualifications including professional qualifications,

business and corporate strategy;

3. Willingness to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a
member of the Board;

4. Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives adopted
for achieving diversity on the Board;

5. Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in
accordance with the listing rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited applicable to the Company (the “Listing Rules”)
and whether the candidates would be considered independent
with reference to the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules;

6. Such other perspectives appropriate to the Company's business
or as suggested by the Board.
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Nomination Procedures
Nomination by the Nomination Committee

1

1.1

1.2

1.3

1.5

The Nomination Committee reviews the structure,
size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board periodically and make
recommendation on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy;

When it is necessary to fill a casual vacancy or appoint an
additional Director, the Nomination Committee identifies
or selects candidates as recommended to the Committee,
with or without assistance from external agencies or the
Company, pursuant to the nomination criteria;

If the process yields one or more desirable candidates,
the Nomination Committee shall rank them by order
of preference based on the needs of the Company and
reference check of each candidate (where applicable);

The Nomination Committee makes recommendation
to the Board including the terms and conditions of the
appointment;

The Board deliberates and decides on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.

mBRERF
1
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50

Re-election of Director at Annual General
Meeting
2.1 In accordance with the Company’s articles of association,
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation
at least once every three years and shall be eligible for re-
election at each annual general meeting;
2.2 The Nomination Committee shall review the overall
contribution and service to the Company of the retiring
Director. The Nomination Committee shall also review the
expertise and professional qualifications of the retiring
Director, who offered himself/herself for re-election at
the annual general meeting, to determine whether such
Director continues to meet the nomination criteria;
2.3 Based on the review made by Nomination Committee, the
Board shall make recommendations to shareholders on
candidates standing for re-election at the annual general
meeting of the Company, and provide the available
biographical information of the retiring Director in
accordance with the Listing Rules to enable shareholders
to make the informed decision on the re-election of such
candidates at annual general meeting of the Company.

Nomination by shareholders

The shareholders of the Company may propose a person for
election as a Director in accordance with the Bye-laws of the
Company and applicable law, details of which are set out in the
“Procedures for a shareholder to propose a person for election
as director of the Company” of the Company adopted in
February 2012.

The Board will review this Nomination Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness from time to time. The Nomination
Committee will discuss any revisions that may be required, and
recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.
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REMUNERATION POLICY

The Board adopted a remuneration policy in November 2022
(“Remuneration Policy”), which sets out the principles and procedures
to be adopted when considering the remuneration of Directors and
senior executives of the Company. Successful implementation of the
Company’s business strategy and the fostering of the Company’s
long-term interests, including its sustainability, require that the
Company is able, through competitive remuneration on market
terms, to recruit, incentivise and retain skilled employees. The total
remuneration package of Director and senior management must
therefore be on market terms and competitive on the executive’s field
of profession, and must be related to the executive's responsibilities,
powers and performance. The remuneration may comprise fixed
salary, variable remuneration, pension and other benefits. The Board
will review the Remuneration Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of the Remuneration Policy.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
Directors’ securities transactions for the year under review. The
Company made specific enquiry of all Directors as to whether
they complied with the required standard set out in the Model
Code regarding their securities transactions. It was confirmed that
there was full compliance. The relevant employee who, because
of their office in the Group, are likely to be in possession of inside
information, have been requested to comply with the provisions of
the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR
PREPARING THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The finance department
of the Company is taken charge by the Chief Financial Officer of
the Company. With the assistance of the finance department, the
Directors ensure that the consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been properly prepared in accordance with relevant
regulations and applicable accounting principles.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The Group's independent auditor is PricewaterhouseCoopers (“PwC").
The financial reporting responsibilities of the independent auditor are
set out on page 81 to 84 of this annual report.

During the year, remuneration of approximately HK$3.3 million
was payable to PwC for the provision of audit services. In addition,
approximately HK$1.2 million was payable to PwC for other non-audit
services. The non-audit services mainly consist of tax compliance and
other services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zeng Zhi is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board
procedures are followed and the Board activities are efficiently and
effectively conducted. She is also responsible for ensuring that the
Board is briefed on relevant legislative, regulatory and corporate
governance developments. During the year, Ms. Zeng has duly
complied with the relevant training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional
documents.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Responsibility

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility in
establishing appropriate risk management and internal control
systems, and reviewing their effectiveness regularly. The systems
include a defined management structure with limits of authority to
safeguard its assets against unauthorized use or disposition; to ensure
the maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of
reliable financial information for management’s use or for publication
and to ensure compliance with relevant laws and regulations. The
systems are designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute,
assurance against material misstatement or loss, and to manage
the risks of failure in the Group's operational systems and in the
achievement of the Group’s objectives.

Management is responsible in the design and implementation of the
risk management and internal control systems. A Risk Management
Committee was established to monitor the operations of risk
management and internal control systems and provide confirmation
to the Audit Committee on the effectiveness of the systems regularly.
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Risk Management

The purpose of risk management is to ensure that the risks to the
Group are identified, analyzed, and managed at an acceptable
level. In order to provide a sound and effective risk management
system, a Risk Management Manual is established to specify the Risk

Management Framework and Risk Management Processes.

The Risk Management Framework outlines the responsibilities of
the Board, the senior management, the Audit Committee, the
Risk Management Committee and the Internal Audit Department.
The Board, through its risk oversight role, ensures that the senior
management establishes risk management policies to identify
and evaluate risks (including ESG risks). Each subsidiary/division
implements such policies and processes in the daily operations and
reports significant risks (including ESG risks) identified to the senior
management promptly and regularly. The senior management and
Risk Management Committee will communicate the risk management
findings to the Audit Committee and the Board for their assessment
of the effectiveness of the relevant risk management and internal
control systems of the Group.

The Risk Management Processes including the followings:

1. Risk Identification — each subsidiary or division to identify its
own risks.
2. Risk Analysis — analyze the identified risks for potential impact

and likelihood of occurrence.

3. Risk Register — the likelihood of occurrence and impacts
of identified risks are defined. The top risks are identified
according to the rating obtained from risk assessment and
documented in a risk register. Each operating subsidiary/division
records the risk events occurred in the risk register and the
action taken to reduce the impact of the risk to the Group.

4. Risk Mitigation — identify the existing controls over the relevant
risks to avoid, reduce or transfer the risks, or to accept the

identified risks with low impact or likelihood.

5. Risk Confirmation — the process of confirmation to the Risk
Management Committee, Audit Committee and the Board
by the management of the completion of the risk monitoring
process and report the risks occurred, if any, during the review
period that have significant impact to the Group.
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Internal Control and Internal Audit

The Group has established systems of internal control to ensure the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliabilities of financial
and management reporting, compliances of laws and regulations
and safeguarding of assets. The system of internal control provides
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material errors, losses

or frauds.

Suga has an Internal Audit Department which reviews material
internal control aspects of the Group, including financial, operational
and compliance controls as well as risk management.

Internal Audit Department carries out audit in accordance with
audit plan that is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee.
In addition to the approved internal audit schedule, Internal Audit
Department may conduct other review and investigation for the
Group's business on an ad hoc basis as and when necessary.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s Internal
Audit Department conducted audits and issued internal audit reports
to management covering various operational and finance functions of
the Group. The half-yearly internal audit reports and its findings were
reported to the Audit Committee and the Board on a half-yearly basis.
Relevant findings and recommendations reported by the Internal
Audit Department were communicated with the management and
actions were taken to resolve defects as and when identified. There is
no material internal control defects identified during the year.

Review of Risk Management and Internal Control
effectiveness

The Board has conducted review of the effectiveness and adequacy
of the risk management and internal control systems by reviewing
the work performed by the Audit Committee, Risk Management
Committee and the Internal Audit Department for the financial year
ended 31 March 2024. The review covered all material controls,
including operational, financial and compliance control, and risk
management functions. The scope and the quality of ongoing

monitoring of risks and internal control systems have been assessed.
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Dissemination of inside information

The Company conducts its business affairs according to the
“Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” issued by the
Securities and Future Commission. The Company strictly prohibits the
unauthorised use of confidential or inside information by Directors,
employees and other relevant persons (such as external service
providers and project working team members).

The Board is responsible for the handling and dissemination of
inside information. In order to ensure the market, shareholders and
stakeholders are fully and promptly informed about the material
developments in the Company's business, the Board has adopted
continuous disclosure policy and procedures to handle proper
information disclosure. Release of inside information is subject
to the approval of the Board. All staff of the Company shall not
communicate inside information to any external parties unless with
approval from the Board. As such, staff shall not respond to market
speculation and rumours unless authorised. In addition, all external
presentation materials or publications must be pre-vetted before
released.

The Board considered that the risk management and internal control
systems are functioning effectively and adequately.

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING
POLICIES

The Company has adopted an anti-corruption policy to govern
acceptance of advantages by employees and a whistleblowing policy
to provide guidance to employees and external stakeholders to report
concerns about any suspected or actual improprieties relating to the
Group.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS
AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining effective
communications with shareholders. In order to develop and maintain
continuing relationship with the shareholders of the Company, the
Company established various channels to facilitate and enhance
communication:

(i)  the annual general meeting provides a useful forum for the
shareholders of the Company to raise comments and exchange
views with the Board;
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(i) publication of announcements and circulars on the websites of (i) FEE T R 2 A B 4805 T 25 A K E K
the Stock Exchange and the Company;

(i)  publication of financial statements containing a summary of the (i) Y8 3 B K A< /A 5 48 uk F1) 2% o B3 B 2 @
financial information and affairs of the Group for the interim EXBZEEZEH‘%%% CEHREHBEAER
and full financial year via the websites of the Stock Exchange MBEERREHR2HME ;

and the Company;

(iv) interim reports, annual reports and circulars that are sent to all  (iv) ZHETHRE - ERABERTHRERE ;
shareholders;

(v)  notices of and explanatory notes for general meetings; and (v) BRERGESEKABANTE; &

(vi) the management of the Group continually conducts meetings (vi) AEEEEEBFEEALEE HSMEXK
with investors, analysts and the media, and provides them EEem: ﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁiﬁ%ﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁ
with up-to-date and comprehensive information regarding the BzehkeEERLBERRM-

Company’s development and answers to their queries.

The Company also maintains a website at www.suga.com.hk, where  Z&<‘A B I8 5% 37 A ibwww.suga.com.hk » BB E
updates on the Company’s business developments and operations, ¥EEEQ$QT¥F§XF&A CHMBERKE
financial information and news can always be found. Sz R

Shareholders and investors may at any time send their enquiries RERELEETBERUZETFRAODEET IR
and concerns to the Board in writing through the contact details as H & A& E > BEBR W T ¢
follows:—

Address: 22nd Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, b EBNE
1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, NEERNE—R
Kowloon, Hong Kong BRI OBE221E
Fax: 2953 1523 EESEH ¢ 2953 1523
Email: investorrelations@suga.com.hk BEEHAL ¢ investorrelations@suga.com.hk

The Board conducted a review of the implementation and EZZE&EH R EBAEEN T IR K& BN E
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy. Having HiEst -KEERKIBREEERER &F 9
considered the diverse channels of communication in place, the Board E# N AFEFERNFEBHM 2 BARKRILITZA
is satisfied that an effective shareholders’ communication policy has %% °

been properly implemented throughout the year.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Shareholders are entitled to requisition a special general meeting

and put forward proposals at general meeting. The procedures are as

follows:

€)]

(b)

Procedures for Requisitioning a Special General
Meeting

In accordance with Bermuda Companies Act 1981, the
shareholders of the Company holding at the date of the
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of such of
the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to
convene a special general meeting of the Company. If the
directors do not within twenty-one days from the date of the
deposit of the requisition proceed duly to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists representing more than one half of the total
voting rights may themselves convene a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be
lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at 22nd
Floor, Tower B, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon
Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

Procedures for Putting Forward Proposals at
General Meeting

Shareholder(s) holding not less than one-twentieth of the paid-
up capital of the Company carrying the right to vote at general
meetings of the Company or not less than 100 shareholders
may, at their expense, provide a written request to the attention
of the Company Secretary signed and deposited in accordance
with the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

The procedures for the shareholders to propose a person for
election of a director at an annual general meeting is available
for viewing at the Company’s website at www.suga.com.hk.

The above procedures are subject to the bye-laws of the
Company and applicable legislation and regulation.

Besides, the updated memorandum of association and bye-
laws of the Company has been posted on the website of the
Company at www.suga.com.hk and the designated website of
the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.

EXELRRS

RRERZHEF

REERS
gLiEE

€)]

(b)

RAMKRRFHI ARG RIKREK
2R -BERERUT :

mRBFERREFNAGZER

WﬁEEL AN—FREE RIEZ

BREEBFEANLR+DZ—WEEF
Tm$”1k$kﬁi& R Z KRB
EREZAANTDRREEBRERTZ
REFBHIARE - MEFTNEZEXRAH
Bt - +—HRXBEBRARKRE A
BEARRRABFHEULZFBERATET
BRRERFHIKRE -

BRARRFHIASZEHERARERE
FAABDZEBIERSTR MUASER
NBEENREBEAE —SHERTOBE22
1#o

RIRRAREREEZEZERF

BEADRZ+DZ—BEEANARE
REBRRRELBREZARABERE
ZBEREHADRI00LKREARERR
E-—NAN—FR8ZAAFAMEERL
BREZEHER BEFAREETAIE-

EARREBDEARRRERBEAE
F2EEZ2EFENEAAA BN

w.suga.com.hke

FHARBFRARB 2 AT MERERE
BEGEMEPRRIR

N AR B 2 REBHABER KA LA
408 B &L A A B 48 ihwww.suga.com.hk
e Bt 32 B 6 7€ A8 ibwww. hkexnews. hk A9 o

EERRERARAT 2023/24 FiF 57



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders their
report and the audited financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (together,
2024.

“the Group”) for the year ended 31 March

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are engaged in the research and development,
manufacture and sale of electronic and other products and sale of
pet food and pet related products. Details of the principal activities
of the Group’s subsidiaries are set out in note 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by reporting
and geographical segment is set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s prospects, as well as discussion and analysis of the
Group's performance during the year ended 31 March 2024 and the
material factors underlying its financial performance are set out in the
“CEO Message” on pages 11 to 16, “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 18 to 24 and a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance Report which will be published on the websites of Hong

Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Company.

A description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the Group
is facing is provided in the section of Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems in“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 34 to
57. Additionally, the financial risk management objectives and policies
of the Company can be found in note 3 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there is no important event
affecting the Group that have occurred since the end of the financial
year ended 31 March 2024.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

SUGA's commitment to excellence extends to the Group conducting
its business in a manner that respects the environment. The strive
for cleaner production has led Suga to adopt energy conservation
practices that can reduce environmental risks and liabilities as well
as improve competitiveness. Details of environment policy and
performance are set out in a separate Environmental, Social and
Governance Report, which will be published on the websites of Hong
Kong Exchanges and Cleaning Limited and the Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has established procedures to ensure its operations comply
with applicable laws, rules and regulations. The Board of Directors is
responsible for monitoring the Group's policies and practices making
sure they agree with relevant legal and regulatory requirements, and
that those policies and practices are regularly reviewed for adequacy.
Any changes in the applicable laws, rules and regulations are brought
as necessary to the attention of relevant employees and operating
units.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, as far as it is aware, the
Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations of PRC,
Hong Kong and Vietnam that have a significant impact on its business
and operations.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Discussions on the Group's relationships with its employees,
customers and suppliers are set out in a separate Environmental,
Social and Governance Report which will be published on the
websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the
Company.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 are set
out in the consolidated income statement on page 87 of this annual
report.

An interim dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share were paid
during the financial year. The Board has proposed the payment of a
final dividend of HK4.0 cents per ordinary share for the year ended
31 March 2024. Total dividend for the year ended 31 March 2024
amounted to HK8.0 cents per ordinary share.
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The proposed final dividend, if approved at the forthcoming Annual

General Meeting of the Company to be held on 15 August 2024, is

expected to be paid on or before 30 August 2024 to shareholders of

the Company whose names appear on the Register of Shareholders of
the Company on 21 August 2024.

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed for the

following periods:

(i)

(ii)

60

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed
from 12 August 2024 to 15 August 2024 (both days inclusive),
during which period no transfer of shares in the Company will
be registered, for the purpose of determining the identity of
the shareholders entitled to attend and vote at 2024 Annual
General Meeting. In order to qualify to attend and vote at
the meeting, all transfers of shares accompanied by the
relevant share certificates and transfer forms must be lodged
with the Company's branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops
1712-1716, 183 Queen’s Road
East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30
p.m. on 9 August 2024.

17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,

The Register of Shareholders of the Company will be closed on
21 August 2024 during which day no transfer of shares in the
Company will be registered, for the purpose of determining
the entitlement of the shareholders to receive the proposed
final dividend. Subject to approval of the shareholders at the
2024 Annual General Meeting, the proposed final dividend will
be payable to the shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Shareholders of the Company on 21 August 2024.
In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all transfers
of shares accompanied by the relevant share certificates and
transfer forms must be lodged with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong
Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai,
Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 August
2024.

Hopewell Centre, Hong
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RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group and of
the Company during the year are set out in the note 24 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the movements in share capital and share options of the
Company during the year are set out in notes 22 and 23 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS - SHARE
OPTIONS GRANTED TO DIRECTORS AND
SELECTED EMPLOYEES

Details of the share options granted in prior years and current year
is set out in note 23 of the financial statements and “Share Option
Scheme”section contained in this Report of the Directors.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 March 2024
calculated under Companies Act of Bermuda amounted to
HK$64,941,000 (2023: HK$71,199,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Bye-laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige the Company to
offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND
CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
During the year under review, there were no transactions, which need
to be disclosed as connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions in accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief
having made all reasonable enquiries, save as disclosed in this annual
report, none of the related party transactions as disclosed in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements contained in this annual
report is a connected transaction.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company did not redeem any of its shares during the year.
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, redeemed
or sold any of the Company’s shares during the year.

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the year
amounted to HK$266,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particular of bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024 are set out in note
19 to the consolidated financial statements.

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

Particulars of retirement schemes are set out in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial
statements and reclassified as appropriate, is set out on page 204 of
this annual report.
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DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Ma Fung On*

Mr. Lee Kam Hung

Prof. Luk Wing Ching

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven

Mr. Chan Kit Wang

Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (resigned on 15 October 2023)
Dr. Law Sui Chun (appointed on 1 October 2023)

* Mr. Ma Fung On has been redesignated from executive director to non-executive

director with effective from 1 July 2023.

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Mr.
Lee Kam Hung and Prof. Luk Wing Ching will retire by rotation in
accordance with Bye-law 111 of the Company’s Bye-laws. Dr. Law Sui
Chun whose was appointed as director on 1 October 2023 will hold
office until the annual general meeting in accordance with Bye-law
115 of the Company’s Bye-laws. All the retiring Directors are being
eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Each of Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors is appointed for a term of one year.

Dr. Ng Chi Ho, being Executive Director of the Company has entered
into a service contract with the Company for an initial fixed term
of three years commencing from 1 July 2023 and will continue
thereafter until terminated by not less than three months’ notice
in writing served by either party on the other. Dr. Ng Man Cheuk,
being Executive Director, has entered into a service contract with the
Company for an initial fixed term of three years commencing from
1 July 2023 and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the
other. Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors proposed for
re-election has a service contract with the Company, which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Directors consider the share option scheme, with its broadened
basis of participation, will enable the Group to reward the employees,
Directors and other selected participants for their contributions to the
Group and will also assist the Group in its recruitment and retention
of high caliber professional’s executives and employees who are
instrumental to the growth of the Group.

The Company’s share option scheme adopted on 6 August 2012 (the
“Old Share Option Scheme”) expired on 5 August 2022 and ceased
to have any further effect except that the Old Share Option Scheme
will remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to the
exercise of the options granted thereunder prior to expiry thereof
pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders of the
“Shareholders”) on 10 August 2022. A new share
option scheme (the “New Share Option Scheme”) was adopted which

Company (the

will remain in force for a period of 10 years from adoption of the New
Share Option Scheme and will expire on 9 August 2032.

For details of the principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 12 July 2022. No
share option has been granted under the New Share Option Scheme
during the year.

Principal terms of the New Share Option Scheme are as follows:—

1. Purpose of the New Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the New Share Option Scheme is to enable the
Group to grant options to selected participants as incentives
or rewards for their contribution to the Group. The Directors
consider the New Share Option Scheme will enable the
Group to reward its employees, Directors and other selected
participants for their contributions to the Group and any
associated company of the Company and to attract and retain
individuals with experience and ability.
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Who may join

The Directors (which expression shall include a duly authorised
committee thereof) may, at their absolute discretion subject
to the Listing Rules, invite any person belonging to any of the
following classes of participants (an “Eligible Participant”), to
take up options to subscribe for shares of the Company (the
“Shares”):

(@) any employee (whether full time or part time including
any executive Director but excluding any non-executive
Director) of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or
associated companies; and

(b) any non-executive Directors (including independent
non-executive Directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or associated companies.

For the avoidance of doubt, the grant of any options by the
Company for the subscription of Shares or other securities
of the Group to any person who fall within any of the above
classes of participants shall not, by itself, unless the Directors
otherwise determined, be construed as a grant of option under
the New Share Option Scheme. The basis of eligibility of any of
the above class of participants to the grant of any options shall
be determined by the Directors from time to time on the basis
of the Directors’ opinion as to his/her potential and/or actual
contribution to the development and growth of the Group and
any associated company of the Company.
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Maximum number of Shares available for
subscription

(a)

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet
to be exercised under the New Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme of the Group must not in
aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued in respect of all options to be granted under the
New Share Option Scheme and all other options and
awards to be granted under other share option or share
award scheme(s) involving new Shares (excluding, for
this purpose, options and awards which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the New Share Option
Scheme and any other share option or share award
scheme(s) involving new Shares) must not exceed 10% of
the Shares in issue on the day on which the New Share
Option Scheme is approved (“Scheme Mandate Limit”).

Subject to (a) above and without prejudice to (d) and
(e) below, the Company may seek approval of the
Shareholders in general meeting to refresh the Scheme
Mandate Limit three years from (i) the date on which the
Shareholders approved the New Share Option Scheme
or (ii) the date of the last refreshment of the Scheme
Mandate Limit, provided that the total number of Shares
which may be allotted and issued under the Scheme
Mandate Limit, as refreshed, must not exceed 10% of the
Shares in issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed
limit and for the purpose of calculating the refreshed
limit, options or awards which have lapsed in accordance
with the terms of the New Share Option Scheme and any
other share option or share award scheme(s) involving
new Shares will not be counted. The circular to be sent by
the Company to the Shareholders shall contain the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.
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Subject to (a) above, the Company may seek approval
of its independent Shareholders in general meeting to
refresh the Scheme Mandate Limit less than three years
from the (i) the date on which the Shareholders approved
the New Share Option Scheme or (ii) the date of the last
refreshment of the Scheme Mandate Limit, provided that
the controlling shareholder(s) of the Company and his/
their associates (or if there is no controlling shareholder,
the Directors (excluding independent non-executive
Directors) and the chief executive of the Company and
their respective associates) shall have abstained from
voting in favour of the relevant resolution, and the
requirements under Rules 13.39(6) and (7), 13.40, 13.41
and 13.42 of the Listing Rules have been complied with.

Subject to (a) above, the Company may seek separate
Shareholders’ approval in general meeting to grant
options beyond the Scheme Mandate Limit provided
that the Eligible Participants to whom the options are to
be granted and the number and terms of grant of such
options are identified and fixed by the Company before
such approval is sought. In such event, the Company must
send a circular to the Shareholders containing the details
and information required under the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of Shares

available for issue under the New Share Option Scheme was
29,479,000 Shares (including 1,000,000 Shares subject to
options that have been granted under the Old Share Option

Scheme but not yet lapsed or exercised), which represented

10.35% of the issued share capital of the Company.

The number of share options available for grant under the New
Share Option Scheme was 28,479,000 Shares as at 1 April 2023
and 31 March 2024.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and which may fall to be
issued in respect of the options and all options and awards
granted under other share option or share award scheme(s)
involving new Shares (excluding any options and awards which
have lapsed in accordance with the terms of New Share Option
Scheme and other share option or share award scheme(s)
involving new Shares) to each participant in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of
the Company for the time being (“Individual Limit"). Any
further grant of options in excess of the Individual Limit in any
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant
shall be subject to the issue of a circular to the Shareholders
and the Shareholders’ approval in general meeting of the
Company with such participant and his/her close associates (or
associates if the participant is a connected person) abstaining
from voting. The number and terms (including the exercise
price) of the options to be granted to such participant must
be fixed before Shareholders’ approval and the date of Board
meeting for proposing such further grant should be taken as
the date of grant for the purpose of calculating the exercise
price under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Minimum vesting period and performance targets
Unless the Directors otherwise determined and stated in the
offer of the grant of options to a grantee, a grantee is not
required to achieve any performance targets before any options
granted under the New Share Option Scheme can be exercised.
All options granted under New Share Option Scheme shall be
subject to a vesting schedule as determined by the Directors
in their sole discretion and shall be clearly set out in the offer.
Save with the approval of the remuneration committee of the
Company, the vesting period of an option granted under the
New Share Option Scheme shall not be less than 12 months.
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Subscription price for Shares

The subscription price for Shares under the New Share Option
Scheme shall be a price determined by the Directors, but shall
not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of Shares
as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations on the date
of the offer of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations for the five trading days immediately preceding
the date of the offer of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of
the Shares. A nominal consideration of HK$1.00 is payable on
acceptance of the grant of an Option.

Exercise period of an option

An Option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the New Share Option Scheme at any time during a period to
be determined and notified by the Directors to each grantee,
which period may commence on a day upon which the offer for
the grant of options is made but shall end in any event not later
than 10 years from the date of grant of the option subject to
the provisions for early termination thereof.

Time of acceptance

An offer of the grant of the option may be accepted by a
participant within 21 days from the date of the offer of grant of
the option and the option in respect of the number of Shares in
respect of which the offer was so accepted will be deemed to
have been granted on the date of grant of the options.

Remaining life of the New Share Option Scheme
Subject to earlier termination by the Company in general
meeting, the New Share Option Scheme shall be valid and
effective till 9 August 2032. After the expiry of such valid
period, no further options will be offered or granted but in all
other respects the provisions of the New Share Option Scheme
shall remain in full force and effect.
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Details of the share option movements during the period from 1 April
2023 to 31 March 2024 under the Old Share Option Scheme are as

follows:—

Number of share options

H-ZE2_ =W —HE_Z_MNUF=AH4
—+—HEAER EEKRESTEIET 2 ERE
EEEBUT

BREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
at 1 April  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe at 31 March Exercise
2023 period period period 2024 price Date of grant Exercisable period
RZBZ=% HARE BAE HRER K-Z-mE iR RHLAH T
mA—-A =A=1+-H
WARITE WA
(HKS)
(7)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk 800,000 = S 800,000 = 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
RREfET “T-\E “Z-\FN\B=1+RHE
NB=+H “ETZENAZHAA
Continuous Contract 3,300,000 S = 3,300,000 = 2.090 30 August 2018 30 August 2018-29 August 2023
Employees
BEanES ZE-N\E “2-\ENA=TRHE
NB=+H “ECZFN\BZTAA
Continuous Contract 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1.810 10 July 2019 10 July 2019-9 July 2024
Employees
BEANES ZZ-AFtETH ZZ-NEtAt+HE
ZZMELANA
5,100,000 - - 4,100,000 1,000,000

Details of the share option movements during the period from 1 April
2024 to 27 June 2024 under the Old Share Option Scheme are as

follows: —

Number of share options

H-Z2_WEFWBE—HE_Z _MEFA
T+t HEER EERESEIET ZERE
BEEBUT

EREHE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
at 1 April  duringthe  duringthe  duringthe  at 27 June Exercise
2024 period period period 2024 price Date of grant Exercisable period
RZEZMEF HAR BT HRER K-Z-mE 1R RLAH T
mA—-A ABZ+tH
HERTE HATE
(HKS)
(#7)
Continuous Contract
Employees 1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000 1.810 10 July 2019 10 July 2019-9 July 2024
REANES ZZ-NEtAtH ZE-NFtATHE
“ZMELANA
1,000,000 - - - 1,000,000
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and the short positions of the
directors of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (the “SFO")) which are required to be notified to the
Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of the Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they have taken
or deemed to have under such positions of the SFO) or which are
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which are required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed issuers
(the “"Model Code”), to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange were as follows:—

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the
Company

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
ESTHRE

EFNkRZED
R_Z_MF=ZRA=+—H xRFAEFNE
RBRAEEAHAEZE (EEREFRBAER
Bl (T5E 55 R A E 1R B1) BXVER) Z Bk {7~ 18R
RokEEZST BARBESKPEHRNSE
XVER B 7R MHEBAME AN E RE B
GRBAEBERAT (THRF)) 2BmRXE
(BERBIESRPEHFRAABEXREFR
EERNEFEEZRTRKA) >  HBLAR
BESRBERAEIS2FFEZECH 2
X WRBEBLHTETAEFTETES
ZHRETA (MRESTR) BENEEART R
Pz Em KRBT ¢

TAT Z D RIBMARG Z i

Number of
Percentage underlying
of issued Shares held
Number ordinary under equity
Name of Director Capacity of Shares  Total interests shares derivatives
N . HERT REAFTEIAET
EEps 513 RIH#E BERE CERESL FSAMERMEE
(Note 1)
(fst1)
Dr. Ng Chi Ho Beneficial owner 6,930,000(L)  170,528,000(L) 59.88%(L) -
REEEL BiiBE A
Interests of controlled corporation 53,598,000(L) - - -
REEERR (Note 2) (Ffi5E2)
Founder of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L) - - -
TRETRINE (Note 3) (Ffi3t3)
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk Beneficial owner 1,000,000(L)  111,000,000(L) 38.98%(L) -
RRERT BEnEAA
Beneficiary of a discretionary trust 110,000,000(L) - - -
FRETRTEA (Note 3) (Fi3F3)
Mr. Ma Fung On* Beneficial owner 14,223,000(L) 14,223,000(L) 4.99%(L) -
BRRLL BanEBA
Mr. Lee Kam Hung Beneficial owner 1,257,800(L) 1,257,800(L) 0.44%(L) -
FHREELE EnEBA
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven Beneficial owner 530,000(L) 530,000(L) 0.19%(L) -
RFHLLE BanEAA
Mr. Chan Kit Wang Beneficial owner 200,000(L) 200,000(L) 0.07%(L) -
BARRE EnEAA
. Mr. Ma Fung On has been redesignated from executive Director to non-executive  * EETRENR _E_=F+tB—HHITEZRES
Director with effective from 1 July 2023. EHITEE
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Notes:

1. These represent the interests in underlying Shares in respect of the share options
granted by the Company, the details of which are set out in the sub-section
“Share Option Scheme”.

2. 53,598,000 Shares are held by Billion Linkage Limited, the entire issued shares of
which is held by Dr. Ng Chi Ho and his spouse in equal share.

3. 110,000,000 Shares are held by Superior View Inc., the entire issued shares of
which is ultimately held by Fidelitycorp Limited as the trustee of the C.H. Family
Trust, the beneficiaries of which are the family members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho.

4. (L) = Long Position

Save as disclosed above and under the “Share Option Scheme”,
none of the Directors of the Company have any interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations as defined in the SFO as at
31 March 2024.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACOQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURE

Save as disclosed in above section, at no time during the year was
the Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debenture of, the Company or any body corporate.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT AND CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company, its parent
company, or its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party and
in which a Director of the Company, his connected entities were
materially interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY
PROVISIONS

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, every Director of the
Company shall be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets and
profits of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of the duties of his office.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

In the opinion of the Directors, there is no such competing business as
defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS FERR

As at 31 March 2024, the following persons (not being a Directoror R_-ZE_WNHE=HB=+—H ' #A R RIESE
chief executive of the Company) had interests or short position in the 5 RHIEEFIFE3361K1FE 2 E L MArCs
Shares and underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be T AL (LIFAATDEETHETETEHAS)
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of AR T Z B 7 REREERMH T EREEEE
Part XV of the SFO and which have been recorded in the register kept R EIEEHIEXVEIE 2R3N HLEBEE BB AR

by the Company pursuant to the section 336 of the SFO. BB R IR A o

Number of Percentage of

Name Capacity Shares issued Shares
He, g g1 Rn&E HEZFTRG
Bt

Beneficial owner

110,000,000(L)

38.62%(L)

Superior View Inc. (Note 1)

Superior View Inc. (ff5E1) BHREAA

Beneficial owner 53,598,000(L) 18.82%(L)

EmBEAA

Billion Linkage Limited (Note 2)
Billion Linkage Limited (Ff#5£2)

Lee Wai Fun (Note 3) Interest of spouse 116,930,000(L) 41.06%(L)

=B (MIEE3) BoiBHm
Interest of controlled corporation 53,598,000(L) 18.82%(L)
SEEEER

Notes: PEE -

1. The entire issued share capital of Superior View Inc. is ultimately held by 1. Superior View Inc. 2B ETRAHEACH RIEE

565256 A\ ZFidelitycorp LimitedR#&5FH > ZEE 2%
TABRERBLZHKE

Fidelitycorp Limited as trustee of the C.H. Family Trust, the beneficiaries of which

are the family members of Dr. Ng Chi Ho.
2. The entire issued share capital of Billion Linkage Limited is held by Dr. Ng Chi 2. Billion Linkage Limited2#EB&ETRAHRERE L
BMHREBEG—¥ HRBEIZSRBERM REBR
B R &% ABIllion Linkage LimitedFiiFa 220
Pz

Ho and his spouse in equal shares and, as such, Dr. Ng Chi Ho is deemed to be
interested in all the Shares held by Billion Linkage Limited under the SFO.

3. Madam Lee Wai Fun is deemed to be interested in 116,930,000 Shares held by 3. FESLITHERANEEBEARADESTRERE LT

her spouse, Dr. Ng Chi Ho, a Director of the Company. A 1116,930,0008% B0 FHER o

4. (L) - Long Position 4. L —F=&

Save as disclosed above, as far as is known to the Directors, there M ENIKRBEIIN R _E_MNE=H=+—
is no person, other than the Directors and chief executives of the H'ZEZBIT AHMEBRESRAATTEETEA
Company, who has an interest or short position in the Shares and B %> BEM A LR & Q5 KR 1D K& HE KRS
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to 1> % 5 1E Al 1R 4% 35 25 & H &5 1% 1§'J%XVﬁI3%2
the Company under the provision 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as at 3D IR EBHEAATINBE 2 EZ A KA

31 March 2024.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group's largest customer for the year accounted for
approximately 14.4% of the Group’s total revenue and the five largest
customers accounted for approximately 47.2% of the Group’s total
revenue. In addition, the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 4.35% of the Group’s purchases while the five largest
suppliers of the Group accounted for approximately 15.71% of the
Group's total purchases.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder (which to
the knowledge of the directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in the major suppliers or customers
noted above.

MATERIAL LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 March 2024, the Company was not involved in any material
litigation or arbitration and no material litigation or arbitration were
pending or threatened or made against the Company so far the
Company is aware.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the

“Corporate Governance Report” on pages 34 to 57.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company'’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR B B ED
The financial statements for the year have been audited by AEEZHHERRCHBEIR KEGTHME
PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offered FFr&EiZ > ZZHMABERSE  HEEERK
themselves for re-appointment. WREREERE-

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE RIFE-(tERER (MR - HITRE
(“ESG”) A1)

The Company has a serious commitment to ESG matters. A separate AATDBELRRE - HEEREANBE R
environmental, social and governance report will be published on E-HERELABREFTNEBRZREEFFA
the websites of Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the FRABIRAAB 4L FEHEE M-

Company.

On behalf of the Board RREEE

Suga International Holdings Limited EEEREERBRAE

NG Chi Ho E

Chairman ZE=

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024 EB TEZNEARBZ++EH
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

=
pwc

To the Shareholders of Suga International Holdings Limited
(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Suga International Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which
are set out on pages 85 to 203, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 March 2024;

. the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated cash flow statement for the year then ended;
and

o the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising

material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

B\ AR S

£k Ak 18

RIEEERERRRABRER
(REREZAMELZHERAE])

BER

EAEFANAT
EEEREMERAR U THEEAT) &
HIfEAR U THBIEEE) 5 RN ESS
E203ENREHBRE OF

e RIFMEZA=+—HHNHGFEE

BEx;
s HBEZHLEFENKFAKEE,
s HEZALFEMNRSEEHWRAX,

- BEZOLEENGARMEDE;

° HEZALEFENGAREERER , &

s KEVBRERWE BEERTHHER
ERRHAMMNEERER

BFINER

HPRD ZFEEVBRRERESFEG
MAEEMHN(EEMBREER)DEEMT
SMRMT BEER_ZFE_NFE=ZA=+—
BNGEEMBRARAESEZB I EFENR
GUBERERGEEREME LEEREHS
(REMFG) IRBREZ DHEE -

PricewaterhouseCoopers, 22/F Prince’s Building, Central, Hong Kong
BERAKE GHETERA 0 BT RERFARE Y =

T: +852 2289 8888, F: +852 2810 9888, www.pwchk.com

Bt : +852 2289 8888 » HE : +852 2810 9888 * www.pwchk.com
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our
report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
RIS E S F1E

B\ AR S

mEEst = (8)

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

RAOWESNAEIERBETEH

Impairment of inventories

SRR

Refer to note 15 “Inventories” and note 4 “Critical accounting
estimates and judgements” to the consolidated financial statements

F2RGREMBREMES FE I M4 TEE S 5Hh T KA &

As at 31 March 2024, the Group held net inventories amounting to
HK$273,739,000. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (“NRV") in the consolidated financial statements. The
cost of inventories may not be fully recoverable if they are aged and
damaged, or become obsolete, or if their selling prices are below
cost.

EERR _E_NE=B=-+—HBEFEFFE273,739,0008 T 75\

rEMBwRT %EJB?#EZZKEQTHEE@TEZ?{EE%@JEE HFS
BERE - RR - BRNEBENAE AR EI2BNEEFE ﬁJZ
o

Management determined the lower of cost and NRV of inventories by
considering the ageing profile, status and estimated selling price of
individual inventory items.
EEEEEFENARISREFEZREBER gZEENFEIR
BEREE  RR MGt EE-

Management calculated the NRV at period end based on the
estimated selling price less selling expenses, taking into account
historical experience of selling products of similar nature and
expectation of future sales based on current market condition.
BEENHBIEERELERIRABRRNATEIRFE > B1F
ZREUAHERUMLEERNERURZRA T N RRFEFD
28l

We understood and evaluated management's
key internal controls over purchase and inventory
cycle.

BM T AT R
ENTERNIPEEZE-

BHBEERFEMEBRM

We observed management’s inventory counts
to identify whether there is any damaged or
obsolete inventories.
BEMEREEEHFEETHNRY,  UH T
BESBERMBEREIERTFE.

We tested, on a sample basis, the accuracy of
the ageing profile of individual inventory item
by checking to supporting documents including
the underlying procurement correspondences,
goods receipt notes and inter-warehouse transfer
documents.

ZEREXREXMHN OERENERERRZ
XH BB REERER X RIS
A ERFEIEE Ehe 2 R -

We tested, on a sample basis, the subsequent
usage or sales of selected inventory items,
specified in the usage or sales reports subsequent
to the year end and reviewed management's
assessment on adequacy and the reasonableness
of the provision for impairment of inventories by
comparing against management’s forecasts of
estimated future utilisation.
RMRELRENERIHERS  UEA R
AREEFENFRE2ERAHEB R L
FRREEEHRREABRZBRETL
BB EEENGFEEREREZRENERSE
TS o
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
‘WIS

KEY AUDIT MATTER (CONTINUED)

Key Audit Matter
RS st B IE

PEEst = (B)

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter
RO B N EIEREEtEE

Management reviewed slow moving inventories based on inventory
ageing and made specific provision for long-aged inventories. It also
conducted periodic review on inventory obsolescence, including
performance of periodic inventory counts and review of holding
period for individual inventory items.
EERERFEFHERFHEFE INRMREFGFRISEREE -
EEETENGFEEOBRETERES BEEHETEERR
RERENEFEEENFER-

We focused on this area due to the relative significance of gross
inventory balance as at year end, and the determination of the
provision for impairment of inventories involve significant judgement
and estimate.
EMEAILEREENFRFTER
BB R B R H i e (5t o

RERANER BEEFERE

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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We tested, on a sample basis, the NRV of
selected inventory items by comparing the selling
price subsequent to the year end against the
carrying values of individual inventory item.

BB EEFERE IR F
B ZAEFRENFEREENRFEFRENEE

Based on the work performed, we considered
that the provision for impairment of inventories
as at 31 March 2024 were supportable by
available evidence.

BREBEEHTHIE BMAFBA RIBNF=
B=+—HBHNEERERERISNEEXF-

HE2
BEAREEANHMERER HHER AR
ERNNFERES BEFEERAMBRRR
RAH LB RS o

RAHGEUTRENERE RN REAME
B HATTHZEEMEREREATLAN

EERMYGREMBRENES RANSE
EREAMER  EHERP - EFEHEMER
ELEREGHMBHRRARMESTBREDFR
THRNELIGEERBRERAELUFEFEER
#H 5R R At BY 1B %

i

ERRMEATHIF NREMIAB/EME
EEEEAHBRRIL RMARTERSZFE-
HBELE ZFIRBEEAERS-



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
‘WIS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

82

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant

audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,

and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters

that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards

applied.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
‘WIS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yuen Shin Fong.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 27 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

HEEEARSRE

As at 31 March 2024 R ZZFEZqF=/F=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
et FET FHET
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB MEE 6 210,559 246,464
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 7 80,079 80,544
Investment properties REYE 8 19,462 =
Intangible assets BEEE 9 = =
Goodwill [k 10 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates REE AT 2w 12 = =
Financial assets at fair value through BATEZAEMEZEEA
other comprehensive income ZHMBEE 4 6,651 5,479
Deferred income tax assets FIEFRSME E 20 997 1,313
Non-current prepayments and ERBTENRIBER
other receivables H g sig 16 3,170 23,082
324,867 360,831
Current assets REBEE
Inventories 78 15 273,739 425,530
Trade receivables FEUWE 5 BR =N 6 263,540 256,121
Prepayments, deposits and other BRE-ZREK
receivables Hh g skia 6 54,441 49,908
Financial assets at fair value through BATERZAB®RZ
profit or loss MBEEE 17 52 30
Amounts due from associates FE B & A B FIE 12 585 585
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBEEBEY 18 161,874 138,225
754,231 870,399
Total assets BEEHRE 1,079,098 1,231,230
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 2,225 17,035
Lease liabilities HE&RE 7 3,582 1,335
Deferred income tax liabilities FEIEFRRMEE 20 1,269 294
7,076 18,664
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
HEEEARSR

As at 31 March 2024 R _—ZFE _MFE=F=+—H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Vg3 FHET FAT
Current liabilities RENBE
Trade and other payables FE B 2 IR
HAthF& R I8 21 227,909 252,902
Contract liabilities =R O)=RE 21 8,479 18,727
Income tax payable FES T2 12,251 15,819
Lease liabilities HEaE 7 1,777 492
Bank borrowings RITEE 19 38,570 120,226
288,986 408,166
Total liabilities BERER 296,062 426,830
EQUITY fE=
Equity attributable to owners of TATEE NG
the Company
Share capital [N 22 28,479 28,479
Other reserves HithE B 24 65,500 88,607
Retained earnings RE&BF 24 687,006 685,531
780,985 802,617
Non-controlling interests JEFEEIM 2,051 1,783
Total equity W AR%E 783,036 804,400
Total equity and liabilities o hkaBEzE 1,079,098 1,231,230

The consolidated financial statements on pages 85 to 203 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2024 and were signed

on its behalf.

Dr. Ng Chi Ho
REREL

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction

Director

EBEF

with the accompanying notes.

86 SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

FEEEE203ENGEMBRETEN S ZME NS
AZ+ttREESESEHE THTIIESARE
BE.
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RREEL
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
AR S W R

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #F —EFE_F=H=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—E-@mEF =IE =
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Jiogza F#ET FHET
Revenue & 25 1,400,293 1,443,482
Cost of sales HHE A 26 (1,197,026) (1,240,604)
Gross profit EF 203,267 202,878
Other income Han A 27 6,239 4,824
Other gains — net Hihzm — 358 28 810 56,276
Distribution and selling expenses NIERIHEER 26 (57,599) (62,040)
General and administrative expenses —RETHEEER 26 (106,712) (116,146)
Net impairment losses on financial assets B4 755 & K B 75 £ 1F
and financial guarantees AEREFEE (1,049) (1,501)
Operating profit mEEAN 44,956 84,291
Finance income EEA N 29 2,894 1,586
Finance costs RAE A A 29 (6,384) (6,305)
Finance costs — net MERA—FEE 29 (3,490) (4,719)
Impairment losses on interests RBERB 2 #m 2 BER
in associates b= = (11,883)
Share of profits of associates — net FE{LEE N B R —F 8 - 3,183
- (8,700)
Profit before income tax FRETISRM AR R 41,466 70,872
Income tax expense Frigiif 30 (9,139) (10,797)
Profit for the year FEREF 32,327 60,075
Profit attributable to: wmA B
Owners of the Company KRBEE A 32,059 59,810
Non-controlling interests JEFEFIM S 268 265
32,327 60,075
Earnings per share for profit FRAFEBRARNBEE A
attributable to owners of the e EF SR EF
Company during the year
- Basic (HK cents) — & (B 31 11.26 21.00
— Diluted (HK cents) — 58 (BWL) 31 11.26 21.00
The above consolidated income statement should be read in _E#i4R& Uk 25 R FE EABE T B 55— HHRIEE o

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
SEEREBAR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiFE —F _UF=F=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
k=3 FET FAET
Profit for the year FEREF 32,327 60,075
Other comprehensive loss: HtZ2mEEE :
Iltems that may be reclassified BB EENHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: EamzEHEH
Exchange differences arising on MEBINEBREE Y
translation of foreign operations PE R ZERB (21,990) (21,051)
Release of exchange reserve upon B B8 7 B i 5 M B AR BR 2
deregistration of subsidiaries RS = (12,847)
Item that will not be reclassified BERTEENTHEE
subsequently to profit or loss: Em o HE
Fair value losses on equity BATERAEMEZE
investments at fair value through WAZKREREZ
other comprehensive income NS EY SF = 14 (374) (409)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREMEEEE (22,364) (34,307)
Total comprehensive income for the FRE2EUALELE
year 9,963 25,768
Total comprehensive income EEWALERBR
attributable to:
Owners of the Company RATER A 9,695 25,503
Non-controlling interests JEFEHEIM 268 265
9,963 25,768

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should — _E#li4R& 2 E U A K FE B BEMT T s — G RIEE o
be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
MEEmEEBR

For the year ended 31 March 2024 #F —EFE_IF=H=+—HIFFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

EATHEAER
Non-
Share Other Retained controlling
capital reserves earnings interests Total
s Hitif REARF  FEEHIEEE 185
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FHET FTET FTET FET
Balance as at 1 April 2022 RIFZZFNA—-AZ&H 28,479 122,914 657,048 1,518 809,959
Profit for the year FRER - - 59,810 265 60,075
Exchange differences arising on translation BERNEBEL ZERES
of foreign operations - (21,051) - - (21,051)
Release of exchange reserve upon deregistration of i B/A B s s MEFERIR 2 E R
subsidiaries - (12,847) - - (12,847)
Fair value losses on equity investments at fair value AT EZAEMEERA ZRER
through other comprehensive income BEZAFEERE - (409) = = (409)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 20 (58 /WALE - (34,307) 59,810 265 25,768
Transaction with owners: HBEBAZBNRS .
Dividends paid BRES = = (31,327) - (31,327)
Balance as at 31 March 2023 RZBZ_=H=R=+—HZ&&H 28,479 88,607 685,531 1,783 804,400
Balance as at 1 April 2023 RZEZ=FMNB—Bz&if 28,479 88,607 685,531 1,783 804,400
Profit for the year FRER - - 32,059 268 32,327
Exchange differences arising on translation BhERNEBMEL ERER
of foreign operations - (21,990) - - (21,990)
Fair value losses on equity investments at fair value RATEZAHMZERAZ
through other comprehensive income REREZ AFERBE - (374) - - (374)
Transfer of reserve upon expiry of exercise of options 1715558 I 1 2 HA 5% & 5 (2 s - (743) 743 - -
Total comprehensive (loss)/income 2 (58) /WALE - (23,107) 32,802 268 9,963
Transaction with owners: HEBAZENRS
Dividends paid BARE - - (31,327) - (31,327)
Balance as at 31 March 2024 RIE-ME=A=+—-HZ&H 28,479 65,500 687,006 2,051 783,036

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be 3t 47 & # &5 8 B 3% 8 BARE MY MY sE — (FEI:E o
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT
SeaRERHER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiFE —F _UF=F=+—HIFFE

2024 2023
—E-mE =
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
btaF T#T TR
Cash flows from operating activities REEBZRENE
Cash generated from operations REXBEF RS 35(a) 179,269 107,224
Interest paid [SXNEEIPS) (6,327) (6,305)
Income tax paid, net BFSR JF4E (10,515) (14,484)
Net cash generated from operating activities &2 FEEE IR B E 162,427 86,435
Cash flows from investing activities BREFSHZHRERE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEEY ¥ BWE kR E (7,882) (8,446)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HTEME - -BERREZ
plant and equipment Frig™IA 35(b) 150 -
Proceeds from disposal of HE—BHME Tz R
interest in an associate FR8RIE - 500
Proceeds from disposal of HE—BaErtEI R
interest in a joint venture FR8™IE - 11,772
Increase in an amount due from an associate &g — R B & A B 2 ZRIEIE A - (3,822)
Decrease in an amount due from EW—REaErEZFTERD
a joint venture - 6,000
Dividend received from an associate B—fEEARWERZ KR E = 7,428
Interest received B2 UF B 2,894 1,586
Increase in financial assets at fair value BAFETAHMEERAZ
through other comprehensive income B EILM (1,546) =
Net cash (used in)/generated from SEEE (FTA) /FEXZ
investing activities HEF5 (6,384) 15,018
Cash flows from financing activities MEEESMFRERE
Proceeds from bank borrowings IRITEEMENIE 159,490 241,956
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIRITEE (255,956) (310,695)
Principal elements of lease payments MENMRZAEZH 2 (2,540) (2,109)
Dividends paid BKRE (31,327) (31,327)
Net cash used in financing activities REEESFTAZIRE R4 35(c) (130,333) (102,175)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and HeRBESEBYEM,/
cash equivalents CR2L) 7258 25,710 (722)
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rates 4 [ < 88 &) 52 28 (2,061) (2,710)
Cash and cash equivalents, RERBREZEEY F9)
beginning of the year 138,225 141,657
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year IRERIREEHEY  £48 18 161,874 138,225
The above consolidated cash flow statement should be read in  E#i&z&1 EREEGEM M —HERE -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL INFORMATION

Suga International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (together “the Group”) are principally engaged
in the research and development, manufacturing and sales of
electronic products, pet food and other pet-related products.
As at 31 March 2024, the Group has operations mainly in Hong
Kong, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Vietnam.

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with
limited liability in Bermuda on 28 September 2001. The address
of the Company’s registered office is Clarendon House, 2
Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) since 18 September 2002.

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$"), unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(@) Compliance with HKFRSs and the disclosure
requirements of HKCO
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have
been prepared in accordance with all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance (“HKCQO") Cap. 622.

(b) Historical cost convention
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for financial
assets at fair value through other comprehensive income,
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and
investment properties which are carried at fair value.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 2 REEE (B
(c) New standards and amendments to existing () EERMZIFENRIRE
standards adopted by the Group HRAZETE
The following new standards and amendments to existing TR RIBE 2R 2 BETARTS
standards are mandatory for the first time for the financial AR _FHB—HBEBZHMEK
year beginning 1 April 2023 and have been adopted in FEBRRHFINIT TERGERZ
the preparation of the consolidated financial statements: LREMBRREEERW :
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  Disclosure of Accounting EB G ERE IR TEHER
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies REBMBREE B
B EHEBAE2R
(5T 2)
Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting B G EREST FEHEH
Estimates (5T 4) E &
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Income Tax related to ERGHERE12R KEE—X
Assets and Liabilities arising (5T %) SERE
from a Single Transaction ERBE
B9 4 3L FiT
/R
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — EBGHERE1258 RER WK
Pillar Two Model Rules (BT 4) g%
TR
8
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts EBVHREENE REBREN
175%
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Amendments to HKFRS 17 EBMBREENE SBUHR
175% (BETA) HERE
1788 218
FTA
Amendments to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 EBUMBEREENE BEVYBR
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative 175% (1BET ) HERE
information 1758 K&
BRI
HHERAFE9
AN
FEF —tt
The adoption of these new standards and amendments 2L ER RIRAER ZEE]
to existing standards does not have significant impacts on AEAEFENEFEEMBERRIEE
the Group's consolidated financial statements. AEEo
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
(d) Amendments to existing standards and

interpretation that are not yet effective and
have not been early adopted by the Group

The following amendments to existing standards and
interpretation have been issued but are not effective for
the financial year beginning 1 April 2023 and have not

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

2 RREEM

(d) HMERERBFEHILKRER
R ZRA FAET S K2
i
THRBENZETARBRER
—ECCENA-ARRNYRE
EEMAEHRER BAEELE

been early adopted by the Group:

IREHM

Effective for annual
periods beginning
on or after

RTY B ZE
sz FEHRBER

Amendments to HKAS 1

BEHEGTERIE15E (BT A)
Amendments to HKAS 1
BEHEGTERE15E (BT X)
Amendments to HKFRS 16
BEEUBREENF 1658 (BFTA)
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (Revised)

EBREEST (EES])

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

SR ERFEIFREBYERS
ZRIET7IE (BT A)

Amendments to HKAS 21

SR ERFE215% (BF140)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

SRV BRSENFI0RREBGE
ZERIZE285% (BETA)

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current

BESEARETIERH

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

MR ENIERB AR

Lease Liabilities in a Sale and Leaseback

ERARRZNBEEEE

Presentation of Financial Statements
— Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause

MHBBRRNEI - BERAHESERERER
BRNEHRERN DS

Supplier Finance Arrangements

HERRE 25

Lack of Exchangeability

BR=Z A Rk

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture

REERHBMEANTDNGELECBNEE
HEFEA

1 April 2024

—EmMEmA—H
1 April 2024
—EmMEmA—H
1 April 2024
—EmMEmA—H
1 April 2024

—FEWFEMA—A
1 April 2024
—FEWFEMA—A
1 April 2025
“_FE”_nHFWMWA—AH

To be determined

5 E

a8

The directors of the Group are in the process of assessing
the financial impact of the adoption of the above
amendments to existing standards and interpretation,
and do not expect them to have a significant impact in
the current reporting periods and on foreseeable future
transactions. The directors of the Group will adopt the
amendments to existing standards and interpretation
when they become effective.

FEBRSEFLETERBLAREE
AlgsT xR BZM B E > B
HARERESTEAREBETEHAE
BEMEARAIBRRARIZELEE

FE - AEEEERNRAER
BRI A REBEMFRHRABARER
(EHRVSE T
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3

94

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: foreign exchange risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk. The
Group's overall risk management programme focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's
performance.

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong, the PRC
and Vietnam and its business transactions, assets
and liabilities are principally denominated in HKS$,
United States dollars (“US$”), Renminbi (“RMB"),
and Vietnamese Dong (“VND"). Foreign exchange
risk arises when future commercial transactions or
recognised assets and liabilities are denominated in
a currency that is not an entity’s functional currency.
Management monitors foreign currency exchange
exposure and will take measures to minimise the
currency translation risk. As at 31 March 2024
and 2023, the Group has not used any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign exchange risk.

Management considers the foreign exchange risk
with respect to US$ is not significant as HK$ is
pegged against US$. The Group manages its foreign
exchange risk by closely monitoring the movement
of the foreign currency rates.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(@)

Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, if both HK$ and
US$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
RMB with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax profit for each year would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
group companies, as follows:

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

3 MERRERE @

3.1 MBREER (&)

()

SMEE R BE (48)
=i = S - ———
—A=+—H WETKET
RARBEAEBZES%
MAABHEMARAE & F
EzhREe &N EEmME
g FERBBLUEREER
BN EBE EREEREA
BEAZEREBE WaW
T

2024 2023
—E_OmE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Post-tax profit increase/(decrease) BRI FIE M, CRiL)
— Strengthen 5% —F1E5% 2,348 (6,402)
- Weakened 5% —BE5% (2,348) 6,402

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, if both HK$ and
US$ had strengthened/weakened by 5% against
VND with all other variables held constant, the
post-tax profit for each year would have changed
mainly as a result of foreign exchange losses/gains
on translation of monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies of the relevant
group companies, as follows:

B _NERIE-=

ZA=t+—H ' WEBETKET
RHEEEAHEEZES%
MATBEEMEAEZERE  SF
EzBRREBENASERE
B FERBENERAERR
BNEEEBEERA
BEEAZEREBE WaEW
o

2024 2023
—EImE =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT TFET
Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase BRI IAT) CRisL) 800
— Strengthen 5% —F+1E5% (3,240) (4,828)
— Weakened 5% — B2 {E5% 3,240 4,828
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate

risk

The Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market
interest rates as the Group has no significant
interest-bearing assets except for cash and cash
equivalents, details of which are disclosed in Note

18.

The Group's interest rate risk primarily relates to
its bank borrowings. Bank borrowings obtained
at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow
interest rate risk. The Group currently does not
hedge its interest rate risk. However, management
monitors the related interest rate risk exposure
closely and will consider hedging significant
interest rate risk exposure should the need arise.
The interest rates and terms of repayment of bank

borrowings are disclosed in Note 19.

The Group has no fixed interest rate bank
borrowings. Therefore, it does not have any fair

value interest rate risk.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, if the interest rates
on bank borrowings had been 150 (2023: 150)
basis points higher/lower than the prevailing interest
rate, with all other variables held constant, post-tax
profit for the year would have been approximately
HK$511,000 (2023: HK$1,719,000) lower/higher,
mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense

on floating rate bank borrowings.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk

(a)

Risk management

The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation
to its cash and cash equivalents, amounts
due from associates, trade receivables and
deposits and other receivables (except
for prepayments). The Group’s maximum
exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts
of these financial assets.

The Group's credit risk is concentrated on
a number of major and long-established
customers. Trade receivables from the top
five customers accounted for approximately
55% (2023: 42%) of the Group's total trade
receivables. The Group has policies in place to
ensure that sales are made to customers with
appropriate credit histories and to limit the
amount of credit exposure to any individual
customer.

The Group reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable at each
balance sheet date to ensure that adequate
impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group’s past experience in
collection of trade receivables falls within the
recorded allowances. In order to minimise
credit risk to the Group, the Group has certain
non-recourse factoring arrangements with
banks to cover the credit risk.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

3  FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(a) Risk management (Continued)
The credit risk for cash at banks are limited
because the counterparties are banks with
high credit-ratings assigned by international
credit-rating agencies. Transactions in
relation to equity fund investments are only
carried out with financial institutions of high
reputation. The Group has policies that limit
the amount of credit exposure to any one

financial institution.

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include deposits and other receivables
and amounts due from associates.
Management assesses the credit quality of
the counterparties, taking into account the
historical risk of default and capacity to meet
its contractual cash flow obligations in the

near term.

(b) Impairment of financial assets
The Group has four types of financial assets
that are subject to the expected credit loss

model:
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Trade receivables

Deposits and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Amounts due from associates
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

While cash and cash equivalents are also
subject to the impairment requirements of
HKFRS 9, the identified impairment loss is
insignificant.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether
there has been a significant increase in credit
risk on an ongoing basis throughout each
reporting period. To assess whether there is
a significant increase in credit risk the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available
reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information, including but not limited to the
following indicators.

o internal credit rating;
. external credit rating;
o actual or expected significant adverse

changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant change to the
debtor/borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

J significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the
debtor/borrower, including changes
in the payment status of the debtor/
borrower in the Group and changes
in the operating results of the debtor/
borrower.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

100

(b)
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Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Trade receivables

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified
approach to measuring expected credit losses
which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables, except for those
individually significant trade receivables or
trade receivables at default which are tested
individually.

Measurement of expected credit loss on
individual basis

Trade receivables relating to customers with
known financial difficulties or significant
doubt on collection of receivables are
assessed individually for provision for
impairment allowance. As at 31 March
2024, the loss allowance in respect of
these receivables are HK$4,136,000 (2023:
HK$2,376,000).

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on geographical region and shared credit
risk characteristics. The expected loss rates
are based on probabilities of default and
loss rates from external credit ratings,
industry-specific data or other internal and
external credit data sources. The historical
loss rates are further adjusted to reflect
current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors on the global
economic growth affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

(b)

Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)
Trade receivables (Continued)

Measurement of expected credit loss on
collective basis (Continued)

The following table presents the balances of
gross carrying amount and the respective loss
allowance as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
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MEBEREERE (&)

3.1 MBREER (&)
(iii) 155 /EAE (%)
(b) HMBEEEHRE &

FEWE 5 R (@)

H G5t EFERIIE B8
&
TREIN _ZE WK
TEI=F=RB=4+—
HIEERERSZBEIE
BEERR

2024 2023

—E_OmE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Gross carrying amount IREARE 266,108 259,379
Loss allowance ESEE A (2,568) (3,177)
Lifetime expected credit loss rate ZHiFEEAE B EEX 1.0% 1.2%

Trade receivables are written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovery.
Impairment losses on trade receivables
are presented as net impairment losses on
financial assets within operating profit.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line
item. No trade receivables previously provided
for were written off as at 31 March 2024 and
2023.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iii) Credit risk (Continued)

102

(b)
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Impairment of financial assets
(Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

For other financial assets at amortised cost
including deposits and other receivables and
amounts due from associates, the Group
regularly monitors the financial positions of
these companies/counterparties to assess
their recoverability. As at 31 March 2024,
loss allowances of HK$1,100,000 (2023:
HK$1,250,000) and HK$5,478,000 (2023:
HK$5,478,000) have been provided for an
amount due from an associate and other
receivables, respectively.

These financial assets at amortised cost,
except for amounts due from associates
and other receivables for which impairment
losses have been provided for, are considered
to be of low credit risk primarily because
historically they had no history of default and
the counterparties had strong capacity to
meet their contractual cash flow obligations
in the near term. Management does not
expect any significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition and any losses from
non-performance by these counterparties.
The Group assessed the expected credit losses
for these receivables were insignificant under
12-month expected loss method. Thus, loss
allowances recognised for these balances was
close to zero.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBAKEIRE (@)
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(iv) Liquidity risk

3.1 MBREER (&)
(iv) B E£mEE

Prudent liquidity risk management includes
maintaining sufficient cash balances and the
availability of funding through committed credit
facilities and takes into account all available
information on future business environment in the
countries in which the Group and its customers
and suppliers operate. The Group manages its
liquidity risk by controlling the level of inventories,
closely monitoring the turnover days of receivables,
monitoring its working capital requirements
and keeping credit lines available. Management
monitors rolling forecasts of the Group’s bank
facilities and cash and cash equivalents on the basis
of expected cash flows.
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B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

3

104

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMBEAREIE (@)
(CONTINUED)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 31 M#HEMER (&)
(iv) Liquidity risk(Continued) (iv) TEE £ EE (&)
The table below analyses the Group's financial TRELNAEBZHMBEEE
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based D EREEEE SO
on the remaining period at the balance sheet HEfer TEAFEIBI D~ A R 2
date to the contractual maturity date. The FfER - RNFTIFESEAS
amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual HARIBIRE RS o
undiscounted cash flows.
Between Between
On Less than 1and2 2and5 Over
demand 1 year years years 5 years Total
BREX OLR-F -—-ERE WMERFE BRLE CH
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
FAT FAT FTAT TAT AT FTAT
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-ME=F=+—H
Trade payables BN EZER - 188,729 - - - 188,729
Other payables and ~ EMENTIEREER
accruals - 17,650 - - - 17,650
Bank borrowings RITEE - 38,570 2,225 - - 40,795
Interest payments on  EEF B
borrowings - 2,652 146 - = 2,798
Lease liabilities HEa’E - 1,859 1,767 465 4,780 8,871
- 249,460 4,138 465 4,780 258,843
As at 31 March 2023 R-EB-=F=B=+—H
Trade payables ERNBRERT - 212,422 = = - 212,422
Other payables and ~ EMENTIEREER
accruals - 22,969 - - - 22,969
Bank borrowings RTEE 120,226 = 14,810 2,225 - 137,261
Interest payments on fEEF SR
borrowings - 5,942 724 110 - 6,776
Lease liabilities HEaR - 513 194 271 2,787 3,765
120,226 241,846 15,728 2,606 2,787 383,193
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 WMHRBEIE (&
(CONTINUED)
3.2 Capital risk management

32 BFEKER

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure,
the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce
debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total bank borrowings
divided by total equity as shown in the consolidated
balance sheet.

FEREREAZBHRARELE
EEMFECE KMARRER
O] ¥k & H A 510 & % 2R Al a0 UK
MBREEREE UWHEERR
o

RERHRBEELREHR ~EEH
EREORRETZREEZE
B[OTMRMNAHESE  LURKE
& o

rEEREERRLEXERER-
IEERDRITRERBEREGEEE
BERATEBEDE

2024 2023

—EImE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Total bank borrowings RITEELB%E 40,795 137,261
Total equity M 48 %R 783,036 804,400
Gearing ratio BEBBLX 5.2% 17.1%
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 MBAKEIRE (@)

(CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation 33 AFEME
The table below analyses the Group’s financial assets and TRAXREARZZINERZE
liabilities carried at fair value as at 31 March 2024 and Z=FZB=+—HEAQATFTEAIK
2023 by level of the inputs to valuation techniques used 2 BEERBBRFEATFERM
to measure fair value. Such inputs are categorised into RzHmEREZBABRBRIELZ
three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows: DM ZERABR LA FERERE

BRORUT=ZERER :

. Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for . FAREENEERGET IS
identical assets or liabilities (level 1). ZIRECREAE) (F—4H) °

. Inputs other than quoted prices included within . WEUIZBAEB BIEE—
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, hzmBHE (BDZREER)
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, B (BMEHEE®KREE) AT
derived from prices) (level 2). ZEEHREBR (FIH) o

e Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based o  WIMUFREMIHZEE BIF
on observable market data (that is, unobservable FAIEZBMAE) AREZE
inputs) (level 3). EXaE (E=H -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HERAKEIR (1)
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 2FE&KE (&)
As at 31 March 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HZE-mE=HA=+—H B—R g B=R st

HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$°000
TAET TERT TERT TAERT

Assets BE
Financial assets at fair BAFESAHEMEE
value through other WAZBERE
comprehensive income - - 6,651 6,651
Financial assets at fair value 2 AFESLABRZZ
through profit or loss MBEE 52 - - 52
52 - 6,651 6,703
As at 31 March 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
RWZE_=%=H=+—H E—4 EMHR F=MH #Est
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FAET
Assets BE
Financial assets at fair BAFESEAEMEE
value through other WAZBERE
comprehensive income - - 5,479 5,479
Financial assets at fair value & AF{EZ AR
through profit or loss MBEE 30 - - 30
30 - 5,479 5,509
There are no transfers between levels 1, 2 and 3 during RER>E—ZRh=ZHhzBEILE
the year. 1R e 4 o
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

108

(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments in level 1

The fair values of financial instruments traded in
active markets are based on quoted market prices
at the balance sheet date. A market is regarded
as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry
group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring
market transactions on an arm’s length basis. The
quoted market price used for the listed equity
instruments held by the Group is the current bid
price. These instruments are included in level 1.
Instruments included in level 1 classified as trading
securities comprise primarily equity investments
listed on the National Association of Securities
Dealers Automated Quotations (the “NASDAQ").

(b) Financial instruments in level 2

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market are determined by using
valuation techniques. These valuation techniques
maximise the use of observable market data
where it is available and rely as little as possible
on entity specific estimates. If all significant inputs
required to assess the fair value of an instrument
are observable, the instrument is included in
level 2. The Group does not have level 2 financial
instruments.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3
(CONTINUED)
3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)
(c) Financial instruments in level 3

MEBEREERE (&)

3.3 AFEMEE (@)
(c) F=RZHMIR

If one or more of the significant inputs is not
based on observable market data, the instrument is
included in level 3. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023,
the Group's financial assets measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are level 3
financial assets.

The fair values of the Group’s financial assets at
fair value through other comprehensive income are
determined based on the net asset value of the
funds calculated with reference to the quoted prices
in active markets of the underlying investments of
the funds.

The following table presents the changes in level
3 instruments for the years ended 31 March 2024
and 2023:

H—EXZEFTEHABL
FUBRORTHBHEAE
BEHCRZTEBRE=ZMHR N
TETNEREZ=ZF=
B=4+—H &x&EBERATE
EAREMEEWASGEZH
HNEEBNRE-RYHFEE-

FEBRAFELSAHEME
HERAZMBEEDZ2ZE
TZHEBARENEEN S Z
BESEZETEEFEE
= o

TRELE=ZRIANREHE
TECNEE S =ZF=
B=+—HIEE&%:

Unlisted equity funds

FELHREES
2024 2023
—E”MEF -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Beginning of the year K] 5,479 5,888
Addition NE 1,546 =

Fair value losses recognised in Htt2EmBRARBRZRFE

other comprehensive income 518 (374) (409)
End of the year i 6,651 5,479
EEEREEERAT 2023/24 £ 109
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110

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates.
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below.

(3) Estimated write-downs of inventories to

net realisable value

The Group writes down inventories to net realisable value
based on an assessment of the realisability of inventories.
Write—downs of inventories are recorded where events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the balances may
not be realised. The identification of write-downs requires
the use of judgement and estimates. These estimates
are based on the market condition and the historical
experience of selling prices of similar nature. Where the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
difference will impact the carrying value of inventories
and write—downs of inventories in the period in which
such estimate has been changed.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

()

(d)

Impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets (other
than goodwill)

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable. Impairment loss on such assets is
recognised as the amount by which the carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount in accordance with the
accounting policy stated in Note 41.4. The recoverable
amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use, which are based on the best
information available to reflect the amount obtainable at
each reporting date, from the disposal of the asset in an
arm’s length transaction between knowledgeable, willing
parties, after deducting the costs of disposal. These
require the use of estimates.

Estimated impairment of goodwill

The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered
any impairment, in accordance with the accounting
policy stated in Note 41.4. The recoverable amounts
of cash generating units have been determined based
on value-in-use calculations prepared on the basis of
management’s assumptions and estimates (Note 41.4).
These calculations require the use of estimates.

Impairment of financial assets

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss rates.
The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s historical and existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. Details of the key assumptions
and inputs used are disclosed in Note 3.1.
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L CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

112

(e

(f)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

Income taxes

The Group is subject to various taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course
of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the current income tax and
deferred income tax provisions in the period in which such
determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences are recognised when management considers
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences or tax losses
can be utilised. Estimating the amount of deferred
tax asset arising from tax losses and other temporary
differences requires a process that involves determining
appropriate provisions for income tax expense, forecasting
future year's taxable income and assessing our ability to
utilise tax benefits through future earnings. When the
expectation is different from the original estimate, such
differences will impact the recognition of deferred tax
assets and income tax charges in the period in which such
estimate is changed.

Fair values of financial assets

The fair values of financial assets that are traded in an
active market are determined by the quoted market
prices.

For the fair values of financial assets not traded in
an active market, the Group would use the valuation
techniques with the assistance of independent
professional valuers to estimate the fair values. The
methodologies, models, assumptions and parameters
used in valuing these financial instruments require
judgement by management at each balance sheet date.
For further details refer to Note 3.3.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

L CRITICALACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

(g) Fair values of investment properties
The Group appointed an independent professional valuer
to assess the fair values of the investment properties.
In determining the fair values, the valuer has utilised a
method of valuation which involves certain estimates.
Management has exercised their judgement and are
satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

L  EEREsHESTRAE (&)
(0) BREMEZATE

FEEZRBUEXGEMTG
REMEZATE-REEAFE
By EMRAY RETEHFZMG
BrRZ - BEEBCFHAE LY
HMEDEZRBRENMRRE MR-
HERGRARLGSFEER

ERERERFEREVMEZRERK
REVENREERNBFEZAF
Bz R E—FHB FE2

and fair value gains/losses on investment properties in RIS o

current market conditions. Where the actual result is
different from the original estimate, such difference will
impact the carrying value of the investment properties

the year in which such estimate has been changed. For
further details refer to Note 8.

5 SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 4SEEN

REDHEREAMTIEZEERRAN (T Z
BERBAN) MRHABRSER—R
ZHABS TBEEBERRABERL
ENHENRERKFEERE BEHATE
B/EEBZATES HEFHRER
ERBRAERMER S U RREN

internal reporting of the Group in order to assess performance DEEIR

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating
decision—-maker (“CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
collectively who make strategic decisions and review the

and allocate resources.

FEBEMET2HRDE

There are two reportable segments for the Group:

Electronic products - Develop, manufacture and sale of BT EH — FAE - RERHEES
electronic products (other than pet- FER (EBYWHEREE
related electronic products) T EGBRIN)

Pet-related products — Manufacture and distribution of pet- RYERER — BERDIHEEYE
related products B E m
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114

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The CODM assesses the performance of the operating segments
based on a measure of the results of reportable segments.
Finance income and costs, corporate income and expenses,
fair value gains or losses of financial assets, impairment loss
on interest in an associate, bank borrowings, share of results
of associates and income tax expenses are not included in the
results for each operating segment that are reviewed by the
CODM. Other information provided to the CODM is measured
in a manner consistent with that in the consolidated financial
statements.

Revenue from external customers is shown after elimination of
inter-segment revenue. Sales between segments, which mainly
consist of sale of electronic components and products among
subsidiaries, are carried out at mutually agreed terms. Revenue
from external parties is measured in a manner consistent with
that in the consolidated income statement.

Assets of reportable segments exclude current and deferred
income tax assets, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, interests in and amounts due from associates, and
corporate assets, all of which are managed on a central basis.
Liabilities of reportable segments exclude bank borrowings,
current and deferred income tax liabilities, financial guarantee
contracts and corporate liabilities. These are part of the
reconciliation to total balance sheet assets and liabilities.

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

5

SHEEH (@)
TEEERRARBUERDEFEES
ERFLKEENEZRE -BREBRAKR
RENARRBAKRFAX MBEEZ AT
BERENEE R —HBE AT #mZ
HEBE RTEE BEOEBMERAT X
B UKRFIERAXBAAZTEEE
REANBRZEKLEDEXBE A E
EERRARHZAMENZRGS M
BHRE-—NZHAFE-

SIREBRBENHEDEBRTRE
Fle nHEMZHE (XEZVERBRAAZ
BHEBEFSHRER DREFHEZ
HRET - IBMALTRTmDREKR G
mR—BZAAE

HERDPFEETLRBE—EEEE
ZRBRBELEFSHREE R AFER
AHMEEBAZHMBEE - BATE
TABmzUBEE BLHHBHELAAZ
REREBRREREBRRELRA
BEE-RERIBEREFAEERITE
B -RBKREEFFEREE MHBREFE
WhkrBEBE - REEERBABEREE
BRERBEENGRZHERAD -



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 9HEEHGE
The segment information provided to the CODM for the MEBEE_SE_WNE=ZB=+—HILEE
reportable segments for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as AERSERNTESERARAREZS
follows: FERNT
2024
—EME
Electronic  Pet-related
products products Elimination Total
EY
EFEm HH R E & HiH =5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET THET FHET FHET
Revenue Wi
Revenue from external customers HhIRE B W s 1,160,198 240,095 - 1,400,293
Inter-segment revenue DR W R 166,121 53,905 (220,026) -
1,326,319 294,000 (220,026) 1,400,293
Segment results DEER 48,389 4,921 53,310
A reconciliation of segment results to 3 3B 45 BAE N E A 2
profit for the year is as follows: HERWT ¢
Segment results DEES 53,310
Unallocated expenses - net FOERS— 358 (15,403)
Other income Hanug A 6,239
Other gains - net Hitt sz — 358 810
Operating profit & EF 44,956
Finance income AEUA 2,894
Finance costs B A (6,384)
Profit before income tax FRPTSIR AT 41,466
Income tax expense Frig8MiBE (9,139)
Profit for the year FRiEH 32,327
EERFEEERAT 2023/24 F3& 115
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEN @

The segment information provided to the CODM for the MEBEE_S_WNE=A=+—HILEE
reportable segments for the year ended 31 March 2024 is as AEFDERNFESERRXAREZS
follows: (Continued) HERWNT (&)

Electronic  Pet-related

products products Unallocated Total
M
BEFEM M E R HiH aE

HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
FTET FTET FAET FET

Other segment information HthpEER
Depreciation of property, M -BmERREITE

plant and equipment 33,805 193 1,304 35,302
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 1,718 442 2,320 4,480
Additions to non-current assets REFRBEE RHE

(other than interests in associates, NE)Z R HHEE

financial assets and FIRERIEE EFRIM

deferred tax assets) 7,748 960 5,219 13,927
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 49EEF @)
The segment information provided to the CODM for the MEBEE_SE_—F=-HA=Z+—HILEE
reportable segments for the year ended 31 March 2023 is as AERSERNTESERARAREZS
follows: FERNT
2023
ZTI=HF
Electronic Pet-related
products products Elimination Total
B
ETEM HEED E3E ] =L
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHETT FHET FHT
Revenue Wz
Revenue from external customers ShaRE P U s 1,243,928 199,554 - 1,443,482
Inter-segment revenue g 134,225 68,843 (203,068) -
1,378,153 268,397 (203,068) 1,443,482
Segment results DIEER 39,448 3,692 43,140
A reconciliation of segment results to D BEXEEFREF
profit for the year is as follows: HERWT -
Segment results DEER 43,140
Unallocated expenses — net ROEHZ— 58 (19,949)
Other income HMKRA 4,824
Other gains - net HAihl e — 3 28 56,276
Operating profit K& RF 84,291
Finance income RMEWA 1,586
Finance costs E= 7% (6,305)
Impairment losses on R—FEHERBz #E
interests in associates HERER (11,883)
Share of profits of associates — net ~ [E{LEtEATEF] — 35 3,183
Profit before income tax BRPTG 0 AT ] 70,872
Income tax expense PRI Z (10,797)
Profit for the year FREF] 60,075
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5 SEEN @

The segment information provided to the CODM for the MEBEE_SE_—F=HA=Z+—HILEE
reportable segments for the year ended 31 March 2023 is as AEFDERNFESERRXAREZS
follows: (Continued) HERWNT (&)

Electronic Pet-related

products products  Unallocated Total
B

ETEM TERE® i a5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

THTT THTT THET THET

Other segment information HthpEER
Depreciation of property, plant and ~ ## -BERREITE

equipment 36,641 172 1,437 38,250
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREEEINE 1,731 384 2,322 4,437

Additions to non-current assets (other HREIEFRBE E
than interests in associates, financial ~ (REFE AT 2 B4
assets and deferred tax assets) BB EMEIERIE
BERRIN 19,593 1,262 29 20,884
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2024

and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are

5 SEENGE

R_E_MNE=ZA=+—HBHNOHEEE
ROEERUKREEERERERRLER

as follows: HHEEWT :
2024
ST
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
LY
BFEm HRAES =1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FATT FHATT FHET
Segment assets DEEE 872,090 82,576 954,666
Unallocated: ROEC -
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RZE 22,108
Right-of-use assets FREEE 20,440
Investment property BB 19,462
Deferred income tax assets RIEFTISIRE E 997
Amount due from an associate e U — B B = A Bl Rk IE 585
Income tax recoverable e 1,071
Other investments HtwE 6,703
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 26,900
Other unallocated assets HtkDEEEE 26,166
Total assets per consolidated GEBEEABRMTE
balance sheet ERE 1,079,098
Segment liabilities DEEAE 223,673 12,577 236,250
Unallocated: RABC :
Bank borrowings RITEE 40,795
Deferred income tax liabilities EIEFTIEMAE 1,269
Income tax payable FE1T PSR 12,251
Lease liabilities MHESE 3,269
Other unallocated liabilities HtkDEAE 2,228
Total liabilities per consolidated mEEEaBRINE
balance sheet B4R%E 296,062
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5 SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 5

The segment assets and segment liabilities as at 31 March 2023

ﬁ*ﬁﬁﬂ(n‘ﬁ)
RIZEZ=F=A=+—HHNOEEE
EofaBEUKEEEHERBELR

and the reconciliation to the total assets and total liabilities are

as follows:

RHERMT !

2023
Electronic Pet-related
products products Total
B
BFEmM 18 8 E o =1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAET TFAT
Segment assets DIEEE 1,046,876 90,588 1,137,464
Unallocated: FoEC :
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB RERE 22,510
Right-of-use assets FEREEE 17,931
Deferred income tax assets RILFTISINE E 1,313
Amount due from an associate FEWE & A B FRIE 585
Income tax recoverable B EE T 1,395
Other investments Hmk&E 5,509
Cash and cash equivalents RBEMIBEEEY 3,084
Other unallocated assets HtKkDEEE 41,439
Total assets per consolidated FEBEABRATE
balance sheet ERE 1,231,230
Segment liabilities DEAE 249,032 21,829 270,861
Unallocated: ROEC
Bank borrowings fﬁfﬂﬁﬁ 137,261
Deferred income tax liabilities FIEPTIEIN AR 294
Income tax payable BT RS 15,819
Other unallocated liabilities Htxnic&aE 2,595
Total liabilities per consolidated FEBEEBGBRANE
balance sheet {EAR%A 426,830
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

An analysis of the Group's revenue from external customers by
country of destination for the years ended 31 March 2024 and

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

Q*Eﬁﬂ (H\E)
AEBEE_Z_ONERZZZ=F=
B=+—HIFEEZBENMBEREH 2

2023 is as follows: IRBFEW R DT -

2024 2023
—E- & —=-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
The United States of America (the “USA") ENRERE (M=E)) 617,211 654,433
The PRC* R e * 497,281 411,843
Japan H 111,523 177,171
France VA 51,387 48,817
Australia B 39,463 53,363
Singapore oo 19,730 70
United Kingdom T 19,604 58,349
Germany = 5,883 7,458
Others EHih 38,211 31,978
1,400,293 1,443,482
e The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan e FE BiEEEREE

An analysis of the Group’s non-current assets, excluding
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deferred income tax assets, non-current other
receivables and interests in associates, by geographical locations
is as follows:

FEEZMEE N ZERBEE (T8
BREAFESAEMEEVRAZHMBEER
ENELEFFSME E - JFR B H Mt UK
BURRBE AT 2 #am) MW

2024 2023
<o 111 ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR 5
The PRC* thE* 240,601 244,911
Vietnam R 83,268 86,628
323,869 331,539
& The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan & RE BEEEREE

For the year ended 31 March 2024, external revenue of
approximately HK$380,805,000 (2023: HK$292,942,000)
was generated from two (2023: two) major customers. The
customers accounted for 10% or more (2023: 10%) of the
Group's revenue.

No other customer accounted for more than 10% of the
Group's revenue for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

BHE_Z_WNMERA=-HA=+—HLE
FE > 4hER IR 25 49380,805,0008 5 (Z =
T =4 :292,942,000% 1) REAM L (=
T F MR FERR -2EREG
REBWRZFI0%HMU E(ZTB =4 .
10%) ©

BHE_ZT_HWNER_ZE_=ZF=ZH
—t+—HEFE - BEEMTREAE
EWmEBE10% e
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with
the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance costs
are charged to the consolidated income statement during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate their costs less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 35-48 years (over the land lease
terms)

Leasehold improvements 5-10 years

Plant and machinery 5 years

Furniture and equipment 5 years

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
proceeds with carrying amounts and are recognised within
“other gains — net” in the consolidated income statement.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6 YE - -BERsE (18)
(CONTINUED)
Leasehold Plant and  Furniture and
Buildings  improvement machinery equipment Total
1BF MEMEEE BRERKE  HARRE ait
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2022 KZEZZ£MNB—H
Cost A 225,351 87,425 174,703 63,471 550,950
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ~ EI&H E KA E (30,374) (59,062) (114,574) (49,825) (253,835)
Net book amount REFE 194,977 28,363 60,129 13,646 297,115
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_E-_-E-A=+-HLEFE
Opening net book amount EVREFE 194,977 28,363 60,129 13,646 297,115
Additions "E 50 875 16,060 2,931 19,916
Disposals HE - = (978) (15) (993)
Depreciation e (5,405) (8,335) (18,755) (5,755) (38,250)
Exchange differences ERERS (18,708) (2,858) (8,385) (1,373) (31,324)
Closing net book amount FREETE 170,914 18,045 48,071 9,434 246,464
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=5=ZRA=+—-H
Cost A 212,423 82,068 172,496 62,814 529,801
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  REFTERAE (41,509) (64,023) (124,425) (53,380) (283,337)
Net book amount REEE 170,914 18,045 48,071 9,434 246,464
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE_Z-NE=R=+—HLEE
Opening net book amount FNEERE 170,914 18,045 48,071 9,434 246,464
Additions HE - 298 4,453 3,150 7,901
Disposals HE - = (11) (8) (19)
Depreciation e (5.110) (7,976) (16,957) (5,259) (35,302)
Exchange differences ERER (5,934) (555) (1,646) (350) (8,485)
Closing net book amount FHRIREFE 159,870 9,812 33,910 6,967 210,559
As at 31 March 2024 RZB_ME=A=+—H
Cost BN 205,318 78,977 168,819 62,379 515,493
Accumulated depreciation and impairment  RFREITERAE (45,448) (69,165) (134,909) (55,412) (304,934)
Net book amount REFE 159,870 9,812 33,910 6,967 210,559
Depreciation of HK$16,957,000 (2023: HK$18,755,000) and BHE_Z-MOF=-_A=+—HLFEE>
HK$18,345,000 (2023: HK$19,495,000) has been charged re,16,957,0008 0 (ZE - =
to cost of sales and general and administrative expenses, 18,755,000/ t) & 18,345,000 7t (=
respectively, in the consolidated income statement for the year T~ =4 119,495,000 7T) BRI i
ended 31 March 2024. AH&Z ARANHEMR AR — R RITHREE
B RN
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had no pledge of R_B_NER_B_=F=H=+—
property, plant and equipment. HrAERLBEERYE - BER&HE-
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RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present
value of the fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable (if any).

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the

following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;
and

o any lease payments made at or before the

commencement date less any lease incentives received (if
any).

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of
the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option,
the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s
useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an
expense in profit or loss.

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5
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7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE

EREEEREERE (@)

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(@) Balances recognised in the consolidated

126

() MESEEARRERZE

balance sheet [
2024 2023
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET TABT
Right-of-use assets FREEE
Properties M 3,812 648
Leasehold land HE T 17,221 17,931
Land use rights o (s PR A 59,046 61,965
80,079 80,544
Lease liabilities HEAaR
Current portion mENE o 1,777 492
Non-current portion IERBNIE D 3,582 1,335
5,359 1,827

Right-of-use assets by geographical locations are as

pHEd o EREEENT !

follows:
2024 2023
—EME —_ZEF"=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
The PRC* FRE* 57,845 58,196
Vietnam [&g=3] 22,234 22,348
80,079 80,544

o The PRC, including Hong Kong and Taiwan S FE BiEEEREE

Additions to the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 March 2024 were approximately HK$6,026,000 (2023:
HK$968,000), which mainly represented warehouse of the
Group.

Disposal of the right-of-use assets during the year ended
31 March 2024 was approximately HK$392,000 (2023:
HK$51,000), which represented the early termination of
lease on the properties in the PRC.
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7 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE 7 EREEEREEEE (@)
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (b) RiZEWMERERZERE
income statement
2024 2023
—ET_WmE —T-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FHET
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRHEEEITSE
Properties L ES 2,053 1,995
Leasehold land e 710 710
Land use rights TR 1,717 1,732
4,480 4,437
Interests on lease liabilities HEaBHNE 276 123
Expenses relating to short-term leases BT ERRM M 1,084 1,259
The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended FE_Z-_MHE=F=+—H
31 March 2024 was approximately HK$3,900,000 (2023: FTFE - HENRERTHAEYN
HK$3,491,000). 73,900,000 T (ZE =
3,491,000%87T) °
Depreciation of HK$1,717,000 (2023: HK$1,732,000) and HE_ZHNF="A=+—HIF
HK$2,763,000 (2023: HK$2,705,000) has been charged - 3iTE1,717,0008 T (Z2EZ=
to cost of sales and general and administrative expenses, £ 11,732,000 7t) K2,763,0007%
respectively, in the consolidated income statement for the T_lz (: T " =4£1:2,705,000/8 7t)
year ended 31 March 2024. PDARGEEWARBEER A R—
ﬂy&ﬁﬂl EEERRNMNEG
(c) The Group's leasing activities and how (c) sxEEMNHEEEHREZE
these are accounted for BRI
The Group leases various office premises and warehouses. AEBRHELZERLENERE
Rental contracts are typically made for fixed terms of 1 E-HESHNNEEHRR—RA
to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual E3IF - FHENNEERREE
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and UEH B ZBAENEBGR
conditions. The lease arrangements do not impose any F2 & 4 o $0 & % HE 0 48 Jf A0 1F e 32
covenants. & o
The Group also has leasehold land in Hong Kong and land KEBTREBHEREHE LM 1
lease arrangements with the local government agencies in SR R AT A A BT AL &
the PRC and Vietnam. M EZHE
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn
rentals and/or for capital appreciation. These include properties
held for a currently undetermined use. Investment properties
are measured initially at its cost including all direct costs
attributable to the properties.

After initial recognition, the investment properties are stated
at its fair value based on valuation by an external independent
valuer. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
the investment property are recognised in profit or loss for the
period in which they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the property disposed and is recognised in profit or
loss.

REMFE
REYMEEABRIEAE R HEREE
MEAZLMKR HEF - ZEREY
FOURENMFEARRREZYE -RE
MENT AL (BREMEREPIERR
A 8o

RS HERE REVERBRINEGE
VEEMETZEHEREAFEIK-
REMEZATEEHELEZRENE
BREEHRBZBmAERD-

PEREMEZRGENERDHEMRR
MRFRAMEEYEZREEMEZ
AR WRBEAERD

2024
—ETMEF
HK$'000
FHET

Non-current assets — at fair value ERBEE—RAFE
At beginning of year REH =
Addition hE 15,759
Fair value gain NEER T 3,768
Exchange loss E R 518 (65)
At end of year REH 19,462

(@) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for
investment properties

() MREMERIBED#EREZE
L]

2024
k1 - =
HK$’'000
TET
Fair value gain recognised in other gains — net REMKZANEDR Y AFEW
m— P 3,768
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(@) Amounts recognised in profit or loss for
investment properties (Continued)
The Group’s investment properties as their fair value are
analysed as follows:

(b) In November 2023, the Group received investment
properties of approximately HK$15,759,000 from
Guangdong Fuchuan Investment Co., Ltd (“Guangdong
Fuchuan”) as part of the consideration for disposal
of joint venture in September 2022. The Group has
measured the deferred income tax relating to the
temporary differences of these investment properties
using the tax rates and the tax bases that are consistent
with the expected manner of recovery of these investment
properties (Note 20).

(C) The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at
31 March 2024 were based on valuation carried out by
Vigers Appraisal and Consulting Limited, an independent
qualified professional valuer. The fair value gain is
included in “other gains — net” for the year ended 31
March 2024.

Valuation processes of the Group

The Group’s investment properties were valued at 31 March
2024 by an independent professional qualified valuer who hold
a recognised relevant professional qualification and have recent
experience in the locations and segments of the investment
properties valued.

The Group's finance department reviews the valuations
performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting
purposes. These valuation results are then reported to the
Group’s management for discussions and review in relation to
the valuation processes and the reasonableness of valuation
results.

Valuation techniques

For investment properties of the Group, the valuation was
determined using the direct comparison approach. Sales prices
of comparable properties in close proximity are adjusted for
differences in key attributes such as property size. The most
significant inputs into this valuation approach are price per

square metre.

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

8 ®EBEWMXEGB

(@) MRBEMERIED#EREZE
()
FEBZREMEAFEI MU
T

(b) n-=m—=8+—R2 -a&£@AE
RENELEARAA (BRE)I)
Y ER & B ¥ 2£4915,759,00058 7T 0 1F
ARZE__FNEHERERLE
REN o AEBEFEREZ
EREMEZBFRE AR —RZ
MERMESSEZERENEDN
B EEMAMNELEMER (M
20) °

(c) *&EEREYEN _S_NE=
=t+—HZRAFEREBELEE
1% 55 F (i (B BN B A% T B & ST (BB
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 8 IRE¥MZ (&

Information about fair value measurements FERAEARFATAEZHABET
using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) AFEAZZER B=ZHR)
Range of Relationship of
Fair value Valuation Significant significant inputs significant inputs to
Description HK$'000 technique(s) inputs HK$ fair value
ATE EXBAGEHE BEABAEBAATE
it FHT fd B i BEABAE FET Z %
Investment properties As at 31 March Direct comparison Price per sq.m. 10,159.27 per sq.m The higher the price per
2024: 19,462 approach (probability-weighted sq.m., the higher the
average) fair value and vice versa.
LB RIZZME=F EBERLEEZE FEHARER §FHXK10,159.27 BYHRERAS AT
=+—H:19,462 (BEEMETF19) BEBRE R2ZTFA
INTANGIBLE ASSETS 9 BEEEE
Customer Product  Patents and
relationship development  trademarks Total
A% EmAE EIRER @zt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAT TAT FAT TAT
As at 1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 RZEZZFNB—HEK
ZEZ=F=R=1+-H
Cost A 5,584 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  BE 5 KB E (5,584) (4,986) (600) (11,170)
Net book amount REEE - - - -
As at 31 March 2024 RZE_ME=RA=+—H
Cost B ) 5,584 4,986 600 11,170
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  BRE# 8 KA E (5,584) (4,986) (600) (11,170)
Net book amount REEE - - = =
The Group’s intangible assets were fully amortised or impaired FEENEFEEER ZZ_MNERK
as at 31 March 2024 and 2023. _EC=FZRA=1+—HEBHREHEIR
fEo
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 GOODWILL

Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired
in a business combination is allocated to each of the cash-
generating units (“CGUs"), or groups of CGUs, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill is monitored at the operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or
more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is
compared to the recoverable amount, which is the higher
of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any
impairment is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

10

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

-y
WENBRASEEBERIEEBEN
B-RREBLZEMFEFEED S
BRI BWETD ZER A REZ W RE
HREATEBHAKRBZEHNEES
BEZAVEZEEE

MBENEAMS XBEHMESZH
BNORERBARZ DN G HMENE
ZEBEEEEU(REEELEM) K
REELBEUARN -BOEBEZRE
U EMNENEEREAMAREEEN
ERpEZERABAER -BEDREED
BERETER-

HESFETRAERE EBEFMHH
IR 1B e o BR T BT BE W 3R RL(E B 0 fF
EEREZERS BEREERT KOS
BFLLE AW RBEEAEREERR
FERHEMNEZRBE - EMBERD
FHERD A< BEBRAEERE -

2024 2023
—E_MEF ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Beginning and end of the year MREF RFHL 3,949 3,949

The Group's goodwill is related to the acquisitions of 50%
equity interest of Suga Technology Limited and 15% equity
interest of Suga Technology Hong Kong Limited, both of which
are wholly owned subsidiaries principally engaged in trading of
electronic products.

FEBENHEDEEBEERMARA
B0 R AR REERMTERBRA
As%REAEmER MEHLSEZEN
BRR FENRFEEEFEM
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GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Impairment test for goodwill

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation and are tested annually
for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. The
Group combined the operation of the two entities as one and
therefore, management considered these two entities as one
cash generating unit ("CGU"). The recoverable amounts of
the CGU are determined based on value-in-use calculations.
These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management covering a five-year period
which incorporate the following key assumptions.

10

BE (8)

e 2 iR B A 5t

BmEGREBN EASFETAENS
HEEEHHRABERAER AR
R ER B HETERERRER
Ao AEERMBEBRZEHHRL—
Hit - EBERA/ZEMEBERES —E
REEFBEU(REELEM) - RE
EEBNzA]REERDRERBES
BEEEE AR ENRBEECEER#
ZRELFHBZMBEREFHZRES
MEBRAET HERETIEERR

2024 2023

Average revenue growth rate for F—EFHFNFHWRRIG
the first to fifth year X 10.0% 5.7%
Gross margin ESTES 3.3% 3.3%
Terminal growth rate RIHIE R = 3.0% 3.0%
Discount rate BRIRE 13.0% 13.0%

Management determined budgeted revenue growth rate
based on past performance and their expectations for market
development. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. Cash
flows beyond the period covered in approved budgets are
extrapolated using a growth rate that do not exceed the long-
term average growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU
operates.

Based on the discounted cash flow forecast prepared by
management, the directors are of the view that there is no
impairment of goodwill as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.

The recoverable amounts of the CGU would still exceed the
remaining carrying amounts if the assumptions were changed as
follows:

= lowering revenue growth rate by 50% of the expected
growth rate;

- lowering gross margin by 40 basis point; or

- raising discount rate by 100 basis point.
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11 SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

11

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

March 2024 are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of

Issued share capital/

B 2T

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

ARABDR _E_mME=ZB=+—HZ=E
BB ABEBNOT :

Group equity

Principal activities and

Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
SEMBNIL, BRIt 2 R
By EEERER BETRESBARS FEERMGRIER TEEBRELM
2024 2023
—EME —B-=F
Suga International Limited (i) British Virgin Islands, Ordinary shares US$700 100% 100%  Investment holding
limited liability company
HERYZHE BRAF EBRT00ETT RERR
Suga Electronics (Hong Kong) Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products in
Limited limited liability company Hong Kong
EEERAT B BRAF BER2ET REBEBETER
Suga Electronics Limited (i) Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products in
limited liability company HK$4,000,002 (ii) Hong Kong
EEEFARAE) &8 BRAT 184,000,002 7 (i) REBEEBTER
Precise Computer Tooling Co., Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Investment holding
Limited limited liability company HK$500,000
BIEMEIBEERAS BB BRAT E3®A%500,000% 7T BREER
On Million Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100%  Property holding in Hong Kong
limited liability company
ShaEBRAE BB BRAT EER2ET REBREYE
Suga Technology Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Trading of electronic products in
limited liability company Hong Kong
EERMBRAS BB BRAT EER2ET REBEEETER
Time Lucky Enterprises Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$10 90% 90% Investment holding in Hong
limited liability company Kong
BRCEFRAR BB BRAT EER10ET REBREREER
Suga Global Innovation Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100% Design and trading of electronic

EERKEIFERAT

limited liability company

&8 BRAF

HK$4,000,000
E38A%4,000,000% 7T

EEERKRERBRAT 2023/24 F3]
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 11 [EBAR (48)
Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 AANBIRZEZNE=RB=+—Hz*x
March 2024 are as follows: (Continued) ZBATEBOT : (8
Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of Issued share capital/ Group equity Principal activities and
Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
SEMBRIL, It 2 R
B2y EEERER BITREBARE FEORERAES FTEERREEMY
2024 2023
—EME —“T-=F
Suga Technology Hong Kong Hong Kong, Ordinary shares 100% 100%  Trading of electronic products in
Limited limited liability company HK$100,000 Hong Kong
EERMEEERAT A BRAF £480%100,000E 7T RERBEETER
United Fountain Investment Ltd. Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% Pet food distribution in Hong
limited liability company Kong
ERRERRAH A BRAF EERIAET RERDHENE R
Suga Electronics (Dongguan) The PRC, US$10,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Co. Limited ("SEDG") (i), (xi) limited liability company products in the PRC
EEEF (RR) BRAF (EEE TE FRAR 10,000,000% 7% RABEREEFER
FERFE) (i)~ (xi)
Long Join (Hong Kong) Electronics ~ Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Design and trading of electronic
Co., Limited limited liability company products in Hong Kong
R (B8 BFERRA B BRAT BER2ET REBERFREEBTER
Nodic-Matsumoto Tooling and The PRC, US$6,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding in the PRC
Plastic Injection (Huizhou) limited liability company
Co., Limited (“Nodic" )( v), (xi)
BH-RAREIE (BN BRA FE ERAHF 6,000,000 7% RABEREREER
8 (r <<<7JJ)(|V) (xi)
Suga Technology (Dongguan) The PRC, US$12,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Co., Ltd. ("STDG") (v), (xi) limited liability company products in the PRC
RRRHEARAR (RE B FRAR 12,000,000%7 RAEEEETER
581) (V) (xi)
Suga USA Inc. The USA, Ordinary shares US$10 100% 100%  Investment holding in the USA
limited liability company
ZE BRAT EBRI0ET REEREREER
Happypaw (Shenzhen) Co., Ltd The PRC, HK$1,000,000 100% 100% Trading of pet products in the
("HPSZ") (vi), (xi) limited liability company PRC
RLERENE & (R EIKE’AE HE BRAT 1,000,000 7 RAEEERMER
(TBLE GRIND 1) (vi)~ (x)
134  SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24
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SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31
March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/
establishment and kind of

11

Issued share capital/

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

M-JE/L-\\j (H\E)
ARABR _E_NME=RB=+—HzZ=E
BB ATEBNT | (&)

Group equity

Principal activities and

Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
SEMBNIL, BRIt 2 R
By EEERER BITREBARE FEORERAES FEEBEREEHY
2024 2023
—EME —B-=F
Espetsso Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$1 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
limited liability company Hong Kong
B BRAT EERIET REBDHENER
Chummily International Trading The PRC, RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
(Guangzhou) Co., Ltd ("CTLGZ")  limited liability company the PRC
(vii), (xi)
EMSREREZERAR (BN B FRAR AR 5,000,0007C RABEDHERENER
BFR) (vii)~ (xi)
Happypaws International Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$10 100% 100% Distribution of pet products in
limited liability company Asia
HOEBRBRAR A& BRAF BER10ET REM AR E R
Chongmi Investment & The PRC, RMB20,000,000 90% 90% Consulting services in the PRC
Consultation (Shenzhen) limited liability company
Co., Ltd (The Company’s Chinese
name was formerly known as
R BRI EEABR
’AT) ("CMIC") (viii), (xi)
FIERRREHABRAT HE BRAE AE20,000,0007¢ PR ER B R AR
@EREPNLBRARIEE
RARESAERAF)
(TBRRBE ) (viii) » (xi)
Suga Smart Tech Limited Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$100 51% 51% Design and trading of electronic
limited liability company products in Hong Kong
EENREERRAS B BRAF BBRI100ET REBRAREEBEFER
Suga Japan Co., Ltd Japan, limited liability company ~ Japanese Yen 2,000,000 100% 100% Design and trading of electronic

Suga Japantk &4t

Bx>BRAR

2,000,000

EEERKRERBRAT 2023/24 F3]

products in Japan

REARFAREEEFER
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11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31

136

March 2024 are as follows: (Continued)

Place of incorporation/

MtB AT (&)
ARNBR _E_ME=ZB=+—H2Z=E
EBATEBWNT (&)

establishment and kind of Issued share capital/ Group equity Principal activities and
Name legal entity paid-up capital interest place of operation
SRR BB R
B2y ERERER BETRESHARS FEORERAES FTEERREEMY
2024 2023
—EME —“T-=F
Wepet Technology Ltd Hong Kong, Ordinary shares HK$2 100% 100% Trading of pet products in Hong
limited liability company Kong
ERNEARAT B BRAT BER2ET REBEERMER
Dongguan Suga Idea The PRC, US$1,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Electronics Company Limited limited liability company products in the PRC
("DSIE") (ix), (xi)
FREREFERAR (RRER FE BERAHF 1,000,000% 7T RAEEEETER
EF1)(ix) (x)
Suga International (Vietnam) Vietnam, US$15,000,000 100% 100%  Manufacturing of electronic
Company Limited ("SIVC") (x) limited liability company products in Vietnam
HE BRAR 15,000,000% 7T RUBEEEETER
Notes: izt

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

The shares of Suga International Limited are held directly by the Company.
The shares of the other subsidiaries are held indirectly.

In January 2023, SEL bought back non voting deferred shares from
Essential Mix Enterprises Limited and Broadway Business Limited and
cancelled these buy-back shares on the same day. Thereafter, Dr. Ng Chi
Ho and Mr. Ma Fung On, directors and beneficial shareholders of the
Company did not hold any non-voting deferred shares in Suga Electronics
Limited.

SEDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under the
PRC law.

Nodic is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC in
September 1990.

STDG is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an
approved period of operation of 20 years until April 2027 under the PRC

law.

(i) Suga International Limited Z fZ {53 H AR A B H 1%
FE HMMHBARZRHDAHEABBIER
e

(ii) RZEBE_=F—HB EEEFERAAR
Essential Mix Enterprises Limited&Broadway
Business Limited O] #& 1% RAEEIL A > L7
FIHFHZERERD -HE ARIEER
BaRRREARBIREEZEEURTRE
AIEEEFBERRATB ZEELEREIELERMN

(iy FEEEFREASRBREEZETERILIZZ
SNERE EREZEXRAREE—_Z==F
+ZR1b BAR205 -

(v)  BEOBRR—NANABENBEREMIZEINE
i

(v) R BB REPEEZREREMILZ EINE
X EREZEXAREE T _tFMA
b 23 HA205 -



11 SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 11 B2 F (48)

Notes: (Continued) st o (48)

(vi)  HPSZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an (vi) ALE (RY) BRBEFEEREFEMRLZE
approved period of operation of 30 years until April 2041 under the PRC SNERE EREZEXEHREE _SN—F
law. A Lk > 2 HA30%F -

(vii)  CTLGZ is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an (vii) NERARBEFEEREFREAMRILZEINE
approved period of operation of 30 years until December 2045 under the m% BREZEXEBREE_SNAEF+Z
PRC law. Bk %308

(viii)  CMIC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an (vii)  BERBERBRBEFRBEERETRBERIIZZHNE
approved period of operation of 20 years until December 2033 under the T BREZEERREE _S==6+_
PRC law. Bk %205 -

(ix)  DSIE is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC with an (ix) REEEREFARBIEZEZZEFEMRLIZE
approved period of operation of 20 years until June 2038 under the PRC SNERE EREZEEHRREE_S=\F
law. 7RA L BI04 ©

(%) SIVC is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in Vietnam in April (x) SVCARZE_ZFNATHEMILZINEE
2020. B

(xi)  None of the subsidiaries had any loan capital in issue at any time during ) REEZNE=ZRB=+—HILEEETMAK
the year ended 31 March 2024. B BRENBAREEABERITEEESR.

(xii)  All subsidiaries established in the PRC have financial accounting year end (xiiy RBEEMER FIBERPERIZHBARZ
date on 31 December in accordance with the local statutory requirements, Mgt FEFERERT _B=+—H80 &
which is not coterminous with the Group. The consolidated financial REBZFHEEFR 2NN A EBE SR
statements of the Group being presented were prepared based on the BREDRZENBARBE_S_MFER_
management accounts of these subsidiaries for the twelve months ended E_=F=A=+—RALt+EAZEEER
31 March 2024 and 2023. BB

12 INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND 12 MEEQT 2SR BN E

AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES AEIFRIE

2024 2023
—E-@mE —EB”=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT FATT
Unlisted investments, at cost REMEE  BHAT R - =
Amounts due from associates FEW B & A B FRIE 585 585
EEEREEARAT 2023/24 £ 137
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12

138

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES
(CONTINUED)

The particulars of the Group's principal associates as at 31
March 2024 are as follows:

Country of
incorporation and

Particulars of

12 REHE QR 2 m K RS

YN E TA IE (n\ﬁ)

REBRR _Z-_MFE=B=+—HzZ=E
EMENTIZEBNOT

Name issued/paid-in capital type of legal entity Equity interest held
SEMAEIZERR
Y] B/ BRRGHE YN ¥t BEER
2024 2023
—TmE g
Concept Infinity Limited (“CIL") Ordinary shares Hong Kong, 24.38% 24.38%
HK$8,510,000 (2023: Same) limited liability company
Concept Infinity Limited (T224881 %) E3%028,510,0007 7 &R BRATR
(C2Z=F:HR)
Infinity Network Limited (“INL") Ordinary shares British Virgin Islands, 50% 50%
US$50,000 (2023: Same) limited liability company
Infinity Network Limited (TINL ) ZiER50,000% 7T REREUHEE BRAT
CZZ=F R
Dott Limited ("Dott") (Note (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong, 33.25% 33.25%
HK$8,507,951 (2023: Same) limited liability company
Dott Limited (T DottJ) (#z#() EiEBR8,507,9518 T &8 BRARA
CEZ=% HR)
Mobilogix, Inc. (“Mobilogix”) (Note (ii)) Ordinary shares The USA, 24.37% 24.37%
US$3,813,337 (2023: Same) limited liability company
Mobilogix, Inc. ("Mobilogix 1) (#72(i)) BiER3,813,337% T 2B BRAF

Note (i):

Note (if):

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

£ 4R

(==

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying amount of the interest in
Dott of HK$2,135,000 was fully impaired. The carrying amount of the
Group's interest in Dott is compared to the recoverable amount, which
is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal.
The provision for impairment is concluded from the assessment of the
cash flow forecast of Dott, taking into consideration of its forecasted
performance and development by management.

In April 2022, Mobilogix received a proposal provided by an
independent investor for the acquisition of the entire issued share
capital of Mobilogix (the “Proposed Transaction”). In August 2022,
Mobilogix reached an advanced stage of negotiation and entered
into a conditional sale and purchase agreement to dispose of its
assets together with the working capital to an independent investor.
Completion of the disposal of assets and working capital took place in
December 2022. The aggregate sum of the cash consideration received
by the Group on completion (in the form of dividend distribution) is
approximately US$950,000, which is equivalent to HK$7,427,000.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, Management performed an
impairment assessment for its interest in Mobilogix to assess the
remaining carrying amount of the interest in Mobilogix against its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value
less costs of disposal, and made an impairment of HK$9,748,000 its
interest in Mobilogix. As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the carrying
amount of the interest in Mobilogix was fully impaired.

Vig=10)

B a2 i)

RIB_NFER-E_=F=F=+—§H"
MRDottz #im Z BRMEE2,135,0008 T X
R E - AEE Dot i 2 BRE E S A] ig
ElLZEELLE o Cl&BEAFEREEAR
TERHERAZERSE HERESEE
BHDottzBARREEERZEERERE
RIFHEBMIEL o

MZZZ_4PMA > MobilogixiZE B L%
EERHWEMobilogix2 W EHITRARN
2z (BEX5)  RIBZZFENA #
EHEAB IR > Mobilogixs T EKHGE
BEREU A — 2B ILEELEREEE
AEEE HESEREEESN_-Z
ZZE+Z AR MAEBERR S TEM
(BBREDIEAR) WENERERES
+H#9950,0005% 75> HHE 7,427,000 7T °
BE_Z=F=ZA=+—HLEE BE
B 5 E {5Mobilogix 2 1 & ¥ 17 8 B 51 1
H A Mobilogix &= = & T~ iR T {5 82 & IRk
EETLER (AROEBEAEREBERAT
BREERAREFTNRSE) »WEFER
A MobilogixFf it 4 & 1 H JE {E9,748,0007
TR B NER_E_ZF=H=1+—
H > i¥MobilogixFf {d 1 & 2 B 8 B & HUR
o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES AND
AMOUNTS DUE FROM ASSOCIATES

(CONTINUED)

There are no other significant contingent liabilities and capital
commitment relating to the Group's interests in associates as at

31 March 2024 and 2023.

(@) The directors consider none of the associates were
significant to the Group during the year ended 31 March
2024. Set out below is the Group's share of results of
associates during the years ended 31 March 2024 and

12 FEHHE

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

SAT) 2w R U E
/\_JTMIE (:%E)

=0 Wﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁgﬁ" %%@71&5
HME RS ABBREREKE-

@) E=gtAa RBEE_S_ME=A
“t+—HIEE BERE AT
FEBMMSBER U THIE

ECRTNUFERZE=H=1

2023: =+—BLEFEZAEEBGHEM
BERNBI 2 EE
2024 2023
—EME _EFE=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Profit and total comprehensive FERGHEE@E
income for the year — net g A 4B EE— T % _ 3183
(b) Amounts due from associates (b) FEUREGE ATIFRIE
2024 2023
—EmE —E”=
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fi# T
CIL (Note (1)) 2R8RIE (W) 1,100 1,250
INL (Note (ii)) INL (B 52(ii)) 585 585
1,685 1,835
Less: Loss allowances for CIL (Note (i) B BRI R EBERE
k=20, (1,100) (1,250)
Amounts due from associates, net g —P/NIE/S=pe 585 585
Note (i):  During the year ended 31 March 2024, CIL has repaid HK$150,000 Kfati): BE_S_NE=ZB=+—HLEE £
to the Group. Reversal of impairment loss is disclosed as part of “net HBEIZRERAEEEIE150,00048 7T BE
impairment losses on financial assets and financial guarantee”, with BIEERER M B EEKRTHBRFRRNIE
the remaining balance of HK$1,100,000 still fully impaired as at 31 BIEFHEIN—FORBE RS _WNE=
March 2024. (2023: HK$1,250,000). B=+—H&k%1,100,0008 T EERE
(ZZTZ=% 11,250,000 7T) °
Note (i)):  As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, amount due from INL was non-interest Ktata):. MRIEBE_NER_ZE_=F=HA=+—H"

bearing, unsecured and repayable on demand.

FEUINLRRIE 723 % 8~ IR R RRERE
Bo

EEEREESRAT 2023/24 £k 139
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY

140

13 RENESZMBEERAR

CATEGORY
Financial
assets at
Financial fair value
assets at through
fair value other Financial
through comprehensive assets at
profit or loss income amortised cost Total
BATE
BATE SCAHAM g
RABHEZ 2HEBAZ B A58k
BBEE BHBEE ZHBEE &%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT FAET FET
Assets BE
As at 31 March 2024 RIZEZNE
=A=+—H
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEZAEMEER

other comprehensive income AZHBEE (Wizt14)

(Note 14) - 6,651 - 6,651
Trade receivables FEUE 78RN - - 263,540 263,540
Deposits and other receivables %Ba R EMERRIE - - 36,431 36,431
Financial assets at fair value through  ZATEL AR 237

profit or loss (Note 17) BE Wiz17) 52 - - 52
Amount due from an associate W — el & A B 7B

(Note 12) (Wia12) - - 585 585
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 18) BR&RELEEY

(His£18) - - 161,874 161,874
52 6,651 462,430 469,133
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=%
=A=+—H
Financial assets at fair value through B AFEZAEMZEK

other comprehensive income AZBBEE Wit14)

(Note 14) - 5,479 - 5,479
Trade receivables FEW B 5 8R - - 256,121 256,121
Deposits and other receivables Re REMENIE - = 48,675 48,675
Financial assets at fair value through B AFEZLABR 2

profit or loss (Note 17) BE (f1:17) 30 = = 30
Amount due from an associate EW—BHEARARE

(Note 12) (Hizt12) - - 585 585
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 718) R&RELEEY

(Hrz#18) - - 138,225 138,225
30 5,479 443,606 449,115
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13 FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BY 13 #EHNSDZHMBEERER

CATEGORY (CONTINUED) (#8)
2024 2023
—E_MmE ==
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FETT
Liabilities af&
Other financial liabilities at amortised cost R AT IR E A B 75
=R
Trade and other payables FE B 2 R
H At RIA 206,379 235,391
Bank borrowings (Note 19) IRITREE (Wat19) 40,795 137,261
Lease liabilities (Note 7) HE&E (#s27) 5,359 1,827
252,533 374,479
14 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 14 #BHAFELZAEMZEAKBAZ
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE RHEEE
INCOME
2024 2023
—E_MEF ==
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Unlisted equity funds FErmRAEE 6,651 5,479
Movements of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through FR AERZATEZSAEME2E W
other comprehensive income during the year are as follows: AZHBEEZEBNT :
2024 2023
—E_MmEF ==
HK$°000 HK$’000
FHET FHE7T
Beginning of the year 4] 5,479 5,888
Addition =T 1,546 -
Fair value losses recognised in REMEEB AR Z
other comprehensive income NEEEE (374) (409)
End of the year REHL 6,651 5,479

EEEREESRAT 2023/24 £ 141
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15

142

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income comprised non-voting
and redeemable shares in the unlisted equity funds. These
equity funds are denominated in US$, with fair values being
determined based on the carrying value of the fund calculated
with reference to the quoted market prices of the underlying
investments.

The fair values of such financial assets are within level 3 of the
fair value hierarchy (Note 3.3).

INVENTORIES

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress
comprises raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and
related production overheads (based on normal operating
capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less
applicable variable selling expenses.

1 BAFELKAHMEEWAZ

15

MBEE (B8

RZE_NE=ZB=+—H ' ~EHE
AREEEAEMEZEWACZHBEES
FELTRAEEERARAETBELR
PeoERAESUETHE HAFE
BiREZ2BAEBRENMISRETEN
BEGRmMEMERT-

ZEMBEEZATEBRATERER
PRBE =M (I5E3.3) °

=8
FEERFTEPJERFEPZREEA
AR A AR HASHE - Rl m R &
HmZBTEERMH -ERFETTHi
EEMARAMEEME REEZEE
HEE)  BREEEERE - TJ#RF
ERANEEEZRAEAEERERTTE
BRHEER-

2024 2023

—E_m4aE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$’'000
FAT TFAET
Raw materials [RA7#L 236,985 370,390
Work-in-progress EREIR 22,200 26,371
Finished goods AN T 18,849 33,229
278,034 429,990
Less: Provision for impairment B R E R (4,295) (4,460)
273,739 425,530

The cost of inventories recognised as expense and included
in cost of sales amounted to HK$970,418,000 (2023:
HK$999,073,000).

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT,

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course
of business. If collection of trade receivables is expected in one
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business
if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables and prepayment, deposits and other
receivables are recognised initially at the amount of
consideration that is unconditional unless they contain
significant financing components, when they are recognised
at fair value. The Group holds the trade receivable and
deposits and other receivables with the objective to collect
the contractual cash flows and therefore measures them
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. See Note 3.1(iii)(c) for further information about the
Group's accounting for trade receivables and deposits and
other receivables and a description of the Group's impairment
policies.

The carrying values of the Group’s trade receivables and
deposits and other receivables approximate their fair values.

(@) Trade receivables

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

16 FEWE BIRFRIABKTFEIRIE  #%

& K E fth Uk IE
REESERAEAREEBRTHE
7 B R AR TS 2 W S AR o i 78
SR E B IRR A — E R A (— R
BELHBHN ORE)) W A5
RBEE TR BIEERDEE

BREZEMUKRBAIRE - BERE
thEKRREN S RERGERESEE
BORFETEIEARMES D RIEA
TEERD - FAEEFAERREZRAU
REMARE - REMEBWRENE
NRBRENRERE ALEBRUE
BRRZEZZBHENEAF B - EHEER
BUEBEZRMURBMARE -BRERE
tMEWREZ EtEENE—SER
A2REWE3 I URAREER
B BURBIEREA

FEBZBRBEBEZRRUKRZEREAM
BWREZ REERE QAT ERE-

(@) FEULE 7R

2024 2023

—EME —_E"=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FBIT
Trade receivables FE U & 5 BR =X 270,244 261,674
Less: Loss allowance B ESIE R (6,704) (5,553)
Trade receivables, net fEW & Z 8RN > JHEE 263,540 256,121

EEEREESRAT 2023/24 £k 143
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(@) Trade receivables (Continued) (@) FEWEZIR: (@)

AEFBRBE ST _NEKR T

T=HF=-RB=1+—HLEFEZHH

16 FEUE BARTRIA R FAfTTRIA - 2
&R HthEKRIE ()

The Group recognised loss allowance for financial assets
during the year ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are as

follows: BEERIBZEBEEBHEOT !
2024 2023
—E-mE —Zo=
HKS$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Loss allowance iR
— Trade receivables — B E F R (1,198) (975)

R_E_WE=A=+—H KBk
B RANBEZHAZRE SN

As at 31 March 2024, the ageing analysis of trade
receivables based on invoice date is as follows:

o
2024 2023
—E-@mEF =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
0 to 30 days 0&30H 248,290 231,730
31 to 60 days 31&260H 11,273 7,014
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H 3,628 7,995
91 to 180 days 91£2180H 805 7,335
Over 180 days 180H A £ 6,248 7,600
270,244 261,674
Less: Loss allowance o ESIE R (6,704) (5,553)
Trade receivables, net FEUWE Z RN > ;358 263,540 256,121

144  SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24




NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT, 16 FEUE ZERFRIAKRTATIRIE %

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES &R HtFEUWFRIE (48)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Trade receivables (Continued) (@) FEWE SRR (@)
All trade receivables are either repayable within one year FRBERNEERENR —FRHIZER
or on demand. The Group generally grants credit terms BE-AEEB—HKREDHEERFE T30
of 30 to 60 days to its customers. The Group applies the FOHEER ~SEEERSEY
HKFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit BREENFEIFNBIEHLEFTE
losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance for TEHREEBE ZH AN A R
all trade receivables. Movements of loss allowance for BRI EEEEATERABER
trade receivables are as follows: H-RWNEZRMNBEEGEEESW
B
2024 2023
T WE “EBI=HF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
Beginning of the year REH 5,553 4,574
Increase in loss allowance ESEEHEIE 0 1,198 975
Exchange differences bE 52 = & (47) 4
End of the year RER 6,704 5,553

EERREESRAT 2023/24 £ 145



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT, 16 FEUWE ZERFIAKRFATIRIE %

DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES ERHEMEWRIE (8)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Prepayment, deposits and other (b) FA(IRRIE &R HthFEULER
receivables I8
2024 2023
—EImE —E-=
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Amount due from FEWERE)IIFIE (B52)

Guangdong Fuchuan (Note) 21,062 35,734
Prepayments to vendors BN EFMIE 13,851 14,553
Prepayments for plant and equipment BNEER&ERE 470 489
Other prepayments Hha =g 3,445 4,320
Rental and other deposits HEkHEMZE 1,145 1,550
Value added tax receivables e W g (E 2,343 3,558
Income tax recoverable EIN SRS 1,071 1,395
Other receivables Hh g skia 19,702 16,869
Less: Loss allowance B B EE S (5,478) (5,478)

57,611 72,990
Less: Non-current prepayments and B IERBITAN IE R

other receivables Hih W =IE (3,170) (23,082)

Current portion mENE o 54,441 49,908
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16 TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

16 FEURE 5 ARFR LA B FE {9 7R IE « 2
&R Hth B RIE (48)

(CONTINUED)

(b) Prepayment, deposits and other (b) FA(IRRIE &R HthFEULER
receivables (Continued) 15 (48)
Note: HiaE :

In September 2022, the Group entered into an agreement for the disposal
of its interest in Huizhou Jiayifu to Guangdong Fuchuan Investment Co.,
Ltd (“Guangdong Fuchuan”) at a consideration of RMB45,900,000.
Pursuant to the termination agreement, the Group conditionally agreed
to sell all the equity interests, representing all of its 50% equity interests
in Huizhou lJiayifu, to Guangdong Fuchuan at a consideration of
RMB45,900,000, payable by Guangdong Fuchuan in instalments, and
Guangdong Fuchuan agreed to undertake to procure the release of the
Group from the financial guarantee and share charge granted in favour of
the bank to secure the bank facility granted to Huizhou Jiayifu.

Receipt in advance of RMB10,900,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,772,000) was collected from Guangdong Fuchuan before the
completion date. The disposal of equity interests in Huizhou Jiayifu was
completed in December 2022 and a disposal gain of approximately
HK$38,115,000 (Note 28) was recognised in the consolidated income
statement during the year ended 31 March 2023.

In November 2023, the Group received investment properties of
approximately HK$15,759,000 from Guangdong Fuchuan as part of
the consideration for disposal of joint venture in September 2022. As
at 31 March 2024, taking into account the discounting impact, the
outstanding consideration receivable due from Guangdong Fuchuan
amounted to approximately RMB19,502,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$21,062,000), are expected to be collected by instalments during the
year ending 31 March 2025. Pursuant to the termination agreement, if
Guangdong Fuchuan fail to repay the outstanding balances based on the
mutually agreed schedule, the Group has the right to require Guangdong
Fuchuan to settle the receivables by transferring Guangdong Fuchuan’s
properties at prices equal to 80% of their market value.

RIZZZENB AEBFTUBEURER
EINEREBRAD (BRI HEEREMN
EEEN#EZ KB AR45,900,0007T °
RBZE LR AERERERBEUARE
45,900,000 MR EBRAERE ) LE 2K
B RERENENEEEMNEI50%RE
HERE)IDHMAR; MERSITEEESA
REAEBRFBRIBFEFENEEEENIR
TREURTASEAMBEZHHERER
R

AR BRI EAERE ) IWEERFRIBAR
#10,900,0007C (HHE K #11,772,0007% 7T) ©
HEBMNEEEREZEEENR -2
+ AR TER1§4938,115,000%8 55 (M
H28) 2 HEWHRERBE_S _=F=A8
=+—BIFENGEREREDBAR

R_B_=ZFE+—FB AEEEERE/IK
F#15,759,000 B TR EME  fERR T
ZIENBHESELERBN D N
TTMFE=Z/A=+—H K RMREFZEE

EWBRERE)IZREMRESENA AR
19,502,0007T (HHE 1 #21,062,000587T) > 18
HEREE S AF=A=1+—HIEEN
DA R  RIFL I HERSE)IR
ERBEHEHERBREBRELER A&
EERERERE)IZBREENETE%
ZEESRERE)| Y ELENEIRRIE
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16

148

TRADE RECEIVABLES AND PREPAYMENT,
DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

16 FEUE BARTRIA R FAfTTRIA - 2
&R HthEKRIE ()

3.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, other receivables were
interest-free, unsecured and repayable on demand.
The outstanding balance amounting to approximately
HK$5,478,000 was fully impaired considering the
counterparty’s financial capability and the impairment is
disclosed as part of “net impairment losses on financial
assets” in the consolidated income statement during the
year ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group is not aware
of any other credit risk on deposits, value added tax
receivables, income tax recoverable and other receivables
as their counterparties are either banks, government,
corporation or individual with good credit ratings.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at each reporting
date is the fair value of each class of receivables as
mentioned above. The Group does not hold any collateral
as security.
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(CONTINUED)

(b) Prepayment, deposits and other (b) FA(IRRIE &R HthFEULER
receivables (Continued) 18 (48)
The Group’s credit risk management is disclosed in Note FAEBZEERREEBNGESME

WRME3.1IWE

RIZEZWNFRERZIZEZI=ZF=A
=+—B HtEWREARE
BRI RBREREE - HEZE
“=ZFZB=+—HILEEE - EFRE
ARZHAENTHBEN > REERR
BB8#95,478,000 8 T EBRERE > M
ZABAEAGERERTMBE
EREBEFHEIZ 9T UR

& o

R TE_NER-EZ=Z5Z=A
Zt+—B FxEBEITFAANETHR
T BWIEER T RERERE
REMEBWRBERETAHHEMEER
B RERRXZHAHRHRIT K
FREABRFEENFRZAENE
Ao

RERSABzESEERRS L
MEEAERRRBZAFE -FAEH
TR E AR G R o
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

17 BAFEHKABRmZMBEE

2024 2023

HK$°000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Listed equity instruments rTHEETA 52 30

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s listed equity
instruments represented 9,774 common stocks of Boxlight
Corporation, a company incorporated in the USA, whose shares
are listed on NASDAQ.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the fair value of such listed
equity instrument is determined based on its current bid price.

The fair value is within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy (Note
3.3).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

In the consolidated cash flow statement, cash and cash
equivalents include cash on hand and deposits held at call with
banks which have a maturity of less than three months.

RIEB_WNFER_E_=ZF=B=+—
HoAEEKN Em#mT ESBoxlight
Corporation (—EREBEEME LA
7 HIRMHFNASDAQ L) #99,77488 &

AR o

R_E_EE&_v__E B=+—
R ARG TAZAFENLREH

;ﬁakﬁém°“$ﬁgmﬂﬁﬁé

BPBIE— 4R (H3E3.3) ©

18 HERREZFEM
REEREHRER ReRASEEY
BEFERERBTEHEN BN =
GEEEE

2024 2023

—E-mE —E =&

HK$°000 HK$'000

FET FEBT

Cash at banks and on hand RTEFEAFERS 161,874 138,225
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18

150

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
(CONTINUED)

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following

18 MERFEFEY (&)

REMBEFENRUTEESE

currencies:
2024 2023
—EmE —E-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FHET
HK$ BT 9,872 18,038
Us$ £ 89,999 67,308
RMB (Note (a)) AR (H15#(a) 59,726 51,832
VND (Note (b)) g (atm) 1,091 553
Others Hih 1,186 494
161,874 138,225
Notes Vo=
(a) The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated (a) AEBUAREFEZRTERARERBS

in RMB into foreign currencies and remittance of RMB funds out of the
PRC are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the Mainland Chinese Government.

(b) The conversion of bank balances and cash of the Group denominated in
VND into foreign currencies and remittance of VND funds out of Vietnam
are subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange control
promulgated by the local government in Vietnam.
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19 BANKBORROWINGS

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

19 $RITEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
Non-current JETED
Long-term bank borrowings RHEIRITIEE 17,035 29,705
Less: current portion of long-term B RHRITEE
bank borrowings R ENER (14,810) (12,670)
2,225 17,035
Current RED
Current portion of long-term bank borrowings RERTEENREZ D 14,810 12,670
Short-term bank borrowings SHRSRTTEE 23,760 107,556
38,570 120,226
40,795 137,261
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's bank borrowings N ZEIMERZIEI=F=A=+—
repayable based on the scheduled date are as follows: B A&EEZRBETCEHHETFERZEER
wr
2024 2023
—EWE B =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT TFET
Within one year —&R 38,570 120,226
Between one and two years —EME 2,225 14,810
Between two and four years YAk - 2,225
40,795 137,261
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19

152

BANK BORROWINGS (CONTINUED)

The exposure of the Group's bank borrowings to interest rate
changes as at 31 March 2024 and 2023 is disclosed in Note 3.

The Group has aggregate banking facilities of approximately
HK$792,790,000 (2023: HK$822,650,000) for overdrafts, loans
and trade financing.

Unused facilities at the same date amounted to approximately
HK$735,816,000 (2023: HK$682,294,000), which are secured
by corporate guarantees provided by the Company and certain
of its subsidiaries (2023: Same).

19

152(1»@)
?:E_EE& ET=F=ZA=1+—
B x&ERETEERHZMNXEHE
BRI SE3 IR EE ©

~EEMEST BERARESZRERIRT
E B4 %849792,790,000E T (ZE_=
£ : 822,650,000 7T) ©

REHZREBRMELA735,816,000%8
T (BT =4 682,294,000 7T) >
ARAREETHBRAARMEZ AEHE
REFI|(CE=F R °

In addition to the above, the Group is required to comply with f‘?tﬂt%% AEBBEBFRITHEMZ
certain restrictive financial covenants imposed by the banks. & T RS2k
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet date were as REBEHZBEREFMEWT !
follows:
2024 2023
—EImE —E-=
Bank borrowings RITEE 6.14% 4.33%

As all the bank borrowings were at floating interest rates, the
carrying amounts of the bank borrowings approximate their fair
values and all balances are denominated in HK$.
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax

payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the

applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by

changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to

temporary differences and to unused tax losses

(a)

(b)

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis
of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at
the end of the reporting period in the countries where
the Group generates taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with
respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation
is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is
probable that a taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either
based on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better prediction
of the resolution of the uncertainty

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying
amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also
not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined using tax
rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax
asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

20 EIEFRISH
AHFAEREXRIE RIS A
BRRMA RS DA RBERRERRE
RS IE (TR R E AR KB ARES
AEGEEERESEREM BB
HEBE) o

(a)

(b)

EEBRKRERBRAT 2023/24 F3R

BPEARRIS IR

BNEAFR S MBI ST U A EE B E L SR
MBAFMEBRIRNKRESHARESE
M BEBRMZR EREESTE -
EEENBERRNBE AP EREMR
PR BY 15 7 E HA AT i IR R A AR >
WEBMBHBESEAERIT
BENRMBEE AEERERA
FEM RN TARBESEERNE
B BRERBURNAIES AR BiF R
BIRFEEMERIBRIRTT

IEIEFR1S
BIEFMBRUEBEZEZ REERE
BzMERARPHFRRMERK
HEZBZEREZHEZBEHR R
me i EERBEE RS EIDE
BES TGS FTURR - MIEL
FREMIEMN S EBETRS (F
BAFRIN KA EE S NER
MEBE@mZEENERELE S ATF
EEANBREFRBHR BFAEELES
BHERM RN TR EE &
JEFFSMUBRSAARERAEE L
Bz (ER) BT BzF
MK (KiE2) RER AR IELEFr
SREESRNELEFRSREES
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

154

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise
those temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where
the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and
tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
respectively.
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 20 RIEFRISIR (48)
The analysis of deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities is FIERIBEERELERBEGBES MU T
as follows:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBIT
Deferred income tax assets: RIEFTEMEE ©
— Deferred income tax assets to be recovered —m+ @A &UE =z
after more than 12 months EILFRSMEE (997) (1,313)
Deferred income tax liabilities: RIEFTSIMEE
— Deferred income tax liabilities to be settled -+ __EEBREEZ
after more than 12 months EEFRSRER 1,269 294
Movements of the net deferred income tax liabilities/(assets) BREILFAIEREa’d,/ (BE) FBE2E
account are as follows: B}
2024 2023
—E-@mE ==
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FEBT
At the beginning of the year REA) (1,019) (978)
Charged/(credited) to consolidated R EWmERING S (BT A)
income statement (Note 30) (Ba£30) 1,260 (84)
Exchange differences PE 2 = 2 31 43
At the end of the year R 272 (1,019)
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 20 RIEFRISIR (48)
The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities BILFTSMEEREBBEREAZES K
during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting FRRE—RFE A REIEE 2 &%) W
of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows: T
Deferred income tax assets — RIEFTSMBEE-
Decelerated tax depreciation Tax losses Others Total
HRRERE HEES Hftr it
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

“E_mE -Z--f  ZECME “F--f ZECNE C“Z--FE ZECmME  CE-CE
HKS'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TiEn FiEn Tin FiEn TEn FiEn TiEn

As at 1 Apri REA—H (509) (585) (134) (134) (670) (347) (1313) (1,066)
Chargedi{credited) to ReEakE
consolidated income statement i/ GEA) 82 33 - = 203 (323) 285 (290)
Exchange differences ERER 3 k] - - - - 3 ]
As at 31 March R=B=+-H (396) (509) (134) (134) (467) (670) (997) (1,313)
Deferred income tax liabilities — BEEFTISIE B E-
Temporary
Accelerated differences arising
tax depreciation from properties Total
MEMIANE BMEEEZERER st
2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

TTOmE ZTT-F ZZCME ZTT-F “TNE CT4-F
HKS$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HK$'000 ~ HK$'000  HKS$'000
TET TET TET TET TET TET

As at 1 April PEA—H 294 88 = = 294 88
Charged to consolidated RiRE U E R0

income statement 33 206 942 - 975 206
As at 31 March R=B=+—8 327 294 942 = 1,269 294
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20 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has unrecognised tax losses
of HK$76,015,000 (2023: HK$74,986,000) for Hong Kong
profits tax purposes, which have no expiry, and unrecognised
tax losses of HK$44,283,000 (2023: HK$40,892,000) for the
PRC corporate income tax purposes which will expire during
year 2024 to year 2028 (2023: year 2023 to year 2027). No
deferred tax assets have been recognised for these tax losses
as the directors consider that it is not probable that the related
temporary difference will be reversed in the foreseeable future.

According to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Rule (“EIT”) law,
withholding income tax at a rate of 10% would be imposed on
dividends relating to profits earned from year 2008 onwards
to foreign investors for the companies established in the PRC.
Such dividend tax rate may be further reduced by applicable
tax treaties or arrangement. According to the Arrangement
between the PRC and the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region for the Avoidance of Double Taxation and the
Prevention of Fisca Evasion with Respect to Taxes on Income,
the withholding tax rate on dividends paid by a PRC resident
enterprise to a Hong Kong resident enterprise is further reduced
to 5% if the Hong Kong resident enterprise holds at least 25%
equity interests in the PRC resident enterprise.

As at 31 March 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of
HK$5,585,000 (2023: HK$4,901,000) has not been recognised
for the withholding tax and other taxes that would be payable
on the unremitted earnings of certain subsidiaries as the
Company controls the dividend policies of these subsidiaries
and it is not probable that these subsidiaries would distribute
earnings in the foreseeable future. Unremitted earnings totalled
HK$111,699,000 as at 31 March 2024 (2023: HK$98,021,000).

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

20 LLFE *ﬁ (H‘E)

RN _E_NE=A=+—H Kx&EBAH
RS IER1E76,015,0008 T (Z
T =4 174,986,000 7T) (I EE W
H) Uk AP BB EMERZ KSR
RIBE 18 444,283,000 T (ZEB =
£ 140,892,000 m) (HERKR 2
FEEE_ZN\FEEE(ZEZ=
CE_HFFEEE_S_tEFE) T
) HAREERAHBAYURESBEE IR
FERAURBREL WBERZER
HFRBRRIEIERIBEE -

BREFRPEAESR (TPEPABKRI) A
BEGH BZESENFEPAPEANL L
HMABEBESREINGEEENSHNRE
FEZ10% M EBMEINR - Hz] B &
ARBEATZH AT RARENTE
MRME-REFEAMESBFINITHE
R EmEECESHMNPLLARER
NEH cEREENBEERE XU
BEHEERGEZDV25S%EE  FEHE
EtENEERRCEZNNREEN
MMEE—FBESY%

R _MNE=ZRBR=Z+—H ELEF
B E1E5,585,0008 T (CE_=F:
4,901,000 MAMETHBLARZ
FEHBABIBIREEMRE R
RABERQBZEGZEWB RS 2 KB
KoMzEMBASRAAERTRR
KRB R_E_ME=ZRB=+—
HzREHERMEHE2111,699,000% T
(ZZ =4 98,021,000 7T) °
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21

158

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 21
CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that
have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from
suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are
presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the

effective interest method.

(@) Trade and other payables

P& {5 & 5 Bl ok B EL {th & {1 7R IH
REaHaR

RN ESERAEAREEEBRET R’
REBESRNRE 2 HEE - NA
R—ERURN (N REEELBBHR
MBE)) > R E 2 ERR
REGDEARDEM TR BIEFE
RBEE-

FE 19 B0 53 AR 70 B A 19 AEAD 5 U A
TR 0 B U PR B DR K 9
A o

(@) FEfTE 7R R E (TR
15

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Trade payables FET B 2 R 188,729 212,422

Salaries and staff welfare payable EFHERETEF 21,530 16,490

Accrued expenses FEsTE 5,427 2,988

Others Hth 12,223 21,002
Total trade and other payables P& B 5 BR R ELAth FE 7R

TE4RER 227,909 252,902
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
(@) Trade and other payables (Continued)

(b)

21

FE 1 & 5 AR vk Be HL {th FE (7R IR

RataE (@&

(@) FEfTE SRR E MR

15 (48)
The ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice FEN B ZRMIZEZHR KRR D
date is as follows: wmaF
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHET
0 to 30 days 0&30H 168,966 177,844
31 to 60 days 31&260H 8,622 7,613
61 to 90 days 61Z290H 1,071 1,481
91 to 180 days 91E180H 4,043 1,505
Over 180 days 180H MU £ 6,027 23,979
188,729 212,422

The fair values of the Group’s trade and other payables

approximate their carrying values.

Contract liabilities

The contract liabilities represent the advance payments

received from counterparties for goods that have not yet

been transferred to customers. The Group has recognised

the following liabilities related to contracts with

customers:

AEEBENE SRR EME R

//////

(b) &&&RE

BREEEMHAREETERANE
YB35 H 75 WA TR (I RRIE o A&
EECHEIAUTEZERGNERZ

afRE:

2024 2023

“TWmE T =F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FEBT

Contract liabilities — sales of goods EHBEE-HEESY 8,479 18,727
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21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND 21 FEHE BRI KREHMETFRIA
CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED) REHEE (B)
(b) Contract liabilities (Continued) (b) &#&f&E (@)
The following table shows the amount of revenue TREIBEEZZOFERZZ
recognised in the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 T EHE=ZRA=+—HLEEEMLEE
relating to carried—forward contract liabilities: FHBEMEININEEE !
2024 2023
—T-[EF T =
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue recognised that was included AR ENBEERN
in the contract liabilities balance =Xl
at the beginning of the year 18,727 27,290
The Group expects their performance obligations under AEBREARENRERFENETH
the contracts with customers to be satisfied over a period BAOEBEESENABBIFNHABR
of no more than 1 year. STAY °
22 SHARE CAPITAL 22 Bg7s
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs ZERDEAET BITHRIERE
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are BHEEGZEEREA RIOBREBR
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. I IRABTERIER LD o
Number of Nominal
shares value
k&R m{E
‘000 HK$'000
T i FHET
Authorised — ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each EE-—SREEIETLY
ZEk 2,000,000 200,000
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SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED) 22 g7 (48)
Number of Nominal
shares value
RiH&E HfE
‘000 HK$'000
T FET
Issued and fully paid — ordinary shares of BRETERHE-SREEE
HK$0.1 each T EER
As at 31 March 2023, 1 April 2023 and R_Z=F=F=+—H~
31 March 2024 :2:_EEH H k&
“ETWE=A=+—H 284,790 28,479

SHARE OPTIONS

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “New
Share Option Scheme”) on 10 August 2022. Pursuant to an
ordinary resolution passed on 10 August 2022, the Company’s
share option scheme adopted on 6 August 2012 (the “Old
Share Option Scheme”) was terminated and ceased to have
any further effect except that the Old Share Option Scheme
will remain in force to the extent necessary to give effect to
the exercise of the options granted thereunder prior to the
termination thereof. Pursuant to the New Share Option Scheme,
the Company may grant share options to certain grantees
(including directors and employees) of the Group to subscribe
for shares of the Company. The maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of all outstanding options
granted and yet to be exercised under this Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes adopted by the
Group shall not exceed 30 per cent of the share capital of the
Company in issue from time to time. The subscription price will
be determined by the directors, and will not be less than the
highest of the nominal value of the shares, the closing price of
the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange on the trading day of
granting the options and the average of the closing prices of
the shares quoted on the Stock Exchange for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of granting the options.
No share option was granted under the New Share Option
Scheme and the Old Share Option Scheme during the current
year.
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23

162

SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED) 23

Movements in the number of share options outstanding under
the Old Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

gﬁﬂg*d (n\ﬁ)
FREBRESIETHRTERRE
HEZEZHUWT

2024 2023
—E-mE ZEI=HF
Average Average
exercise price exercise price
in HK$ Number of in HK$ Number of
per share options per share options
skzFH9 gRzFTH
BRiTEE fBREHE BrTEE BREHE
‘000 ‘000
F3 F13
Beginning of the year R 2.035 5,100 2.035 5,100
Exercised B171% Not applicable - Not applicable -
REH A
Expired 225 2.09 (4,100)  Not applicable -
~ER
End of the year R 1,000 5,100

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, all of the outstanding options
were fully vested and exercisable.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, 1,300,000 share options
were exercised resulting in 1,300,000 shares being issued
at a weighted average price of HK$1.441 each. The related
weighted average share price at the time of exercise was
HK$2.03 per share. No share options were exercised during the
year ended 31 March 2024.
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SHARE OPTIONS (CONTINUED)

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the

23 ke ()
RELRTEBREZHBERTEE
mF

following expiry dates and exercise prices:

Number of options Vested percentages

fEREHE BEEOL
Exercise
Expiry date price 2024 2023 2024 2023
)Gl IEE ZEZNE —"T-=-F IZEBE@NE "T-=F
HK$ ‘000 ‘000
B 1 13
Directors BE
29 August 2023 2= N\BZ+NH 2.09 - 800 - 100%
Employees =
29 August 2023 “EI=FNBZ+AH 2.09 - 3,300 - 100%
9 July 2024 “ZTMEEAAR 1.81 1,000 1,000 100% 100%
1,000 5,100

REE_ZE_NEKE_ZE_=Z=H
—t+—HULEEETERHERE-

No share options were granted during the years ended 31
March 2024 and 2023.

RESERVES 24 (#fF
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Share-based Property income
Share Capital  compensation revaluation fair value Exchange Other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve Teserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BATE
BAEM
2ERAZ
BHHR BEE
RIAEE ERfE GG WEEMGEE  ATHERE ER At REEH &3
(Note)
i)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TE® TER TER TER TE® TER TET THR TER
Asat 1 April 2022 RZEZZEMA-H 90,714 10,591 840 6,790 461 17,017 (3,499) 657,048 779,962
Exchange differences arising on BEENERAELZ
translation of foreign operations ERER - - - - - (21,051) - d (21,051)
Release of exchange reserve upon WRADHH MR ERHE
deregistration of subsidiaries - - - - - (12,847) - - (12,847)
Fair value losses on equity investments BRATEZAEMEERA
at fair value through other ZRREREZ AT ERE
comprehensive income - - - - (409) - - - (409)
Profit for the year ERER - - - - - - - 59,810 59,810
Dividends paid EfRE - - - - - - - (31,327) (31,327)
As at 31 March 2023 RIEZ=%£=f=+-H 90,714 10,591 840 6,790 52 (16,881) (3,499) 685,531 774,138
EEEREEARAT 2023/24 £ 163
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24 RESERVES (CONTINUED)

164

24 {#fE (48)

Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Share-based Property income
Share Capital compensation  revaluation fair value Exchange Other Retained
premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
BATE
TARMRE
WAZHE
BRI BEATR
&R Enfifh RiGEE NEEREE 1] ERffE Rt REEH At
(Note)
liF)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tén Tn T#n FEn Thn Tn TR FEn Thn
Asat 1 April 2023 RZBZZ£MA-H 90,714 10,591 840 6,790 52 (16,881) (3,499) 685,531 174,138
Exchange differences arising on BEENERREEL
translation of foreign operations EREE - - - - - (21,990) - - (21,990)
Fair value losses on equity investments BATERARMRERA
at fair value through other REREZATESE
comprehensive income - - - - (374) - - - (374)
Transfer of reserve upon expiry of ERREISNELEE
exercise of options - - (743) - - - - 43 -
Profit for the year ERigkl - - - - - - - 32,059 32,059
Dividends paid BfIRE - - - - - - - (31,327) (31327
s at 31 March 2024 RIBIME=A=+- 90,714 10,591 o 6790 (2)  (887) (3499) 687006 752506
Note: Byt

The capital reserve of the Group includes the difference between the nominal

value of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the aggregate amount of

the share capital and share premium of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange

of shares pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation in September 2002.
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25 REVENUE

Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable for the sales of goods and services in the ordinary
course of the Group's activities. Revenue is shown net of value-
added tax, returns and discounts and after eliminating sales
within the Group.

The Group manufactures and sells a range of electronic
products, pet food and other pet-related products in the
wholesale market. Sales are recognised when control of the
products have transferred, being when the goods are delivered
to the customers, the customers have full discretion over the
goods and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the
customers’ acceptance of the goods. Delivery occurs when the
products have been shipped to the specific location, the risks of
obsolescence and loss have been transferred to customers, and
either customers have accepted the products in accordance with
the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or
the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance
have been satisfied.

Revenue from these sales is recognised based on the price
specified in the contract, net of the estimated volume discounts
(if any). Accumulated experience is used to estimate and
provide for the discounts, using the expected value method,
and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly
probable that a significant reversal will not occur. A refund
liability is recognised for expected volume discounts payable
to customers in relation to sales made until the end of the
reporting period. No element of financing is deemed present
as the sales are made with credit terms that are consistent with
market practice. The Group's obligation to provide a refund for
faulty products under the standard warranty terms is recognised
as a provision.

A receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as
this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional
because only the passage of time is required before the
payment is due.

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

25 U%E

WEAREEBAEXEBPHEGYM AR
HEKRHBUAREBZAFE  Wamzil
PRIBER - BRERITINIIN L EEHEE
EERABERS -

FEENERERETSHERRES
Em BYRBRHEMWEYEFER B
EmBEZEFfREEER (EaRexNTE
P ERHERABHNBEE BMER
TERRPEMWERNARBITERER) 0B
BREE - BEEMBRIEEMAERTR
N ERM EXFRBHEHESHER
Em WEMERECKY REEBER
BEBEERMAEMRELD DT EME
EmREBRKRERZRAREHEF K
o

ZEHENRADERGORENE
o EHRR AT BN (WA) BER &
AR BRBEHERRBESGEEMG
StREMITN BRAEREXRERE G
RAEITEEEREID -EERSTHFR
ERONEREMNEREEENFNE
BRENEBE ARNEEZEFENTS
THEA HEAFERERNR -AEH
RERBASBREEREHEBRNEE
WHESD SR -

EERERFERMN BREMSERMSE
o [EWCGRIE S IS HEED ) RER AL
—EREBRAEMMRBELGIH-

EEEREESRAT 2023/24 F5k 165



NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

25 REVENUE (CONTINUED) 25 Wz (48)
The Group is principally engaged in the research and FEEFENREEFEL - BEYVELE
development, manufacture and sales of electronic products, HihseEMERMEREE WiEH
pet food and other pet-related products. Revenue from sales of HEXER FARRIEYHEBE Z KNS
goods recognised during the year are as follows: (I
2024 2023
—E_OmE ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FET
Sales of goods BY)iHEEE 1,400,293 1,443,482
Sales of goods are recognised at a point in time. EMHEERIEERBMEE
26 EXPENSES BY NATURE 26 HEEHI S ZHAX
Expenses included in cost of sales, distribution and selling STAHENRA - DHREEER UK —
expenses and general and administrative expenses are analysed RITHEEBRER  BHZ2MUWT !
as follows:
2024 2023
—EImE ZEI=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Cost of inventories (Note 15) FEMA (75£15) 970,418 999,073
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 6) Y% -BEKRRERTE
(Hrzte) 35,302 38,250
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 7) EREEENE (IWit7) 4,480 4,437
Operating lease rental for short-term leases (Note 7) DB REHRORE
(Hizt7) 1,084 1,259
Employee benefit expense BTIRMEYL (BEEEH®)
(including directors’ emoluments) (Note 33) (Hfz33) 242,502 245,890
Auditor's remuneration ZEEMEN &
— Audit services —ZER 3,340 3,340
— Non-audit services — L EART 1,182 928
Commission A& 3,728 11,485
Donations B/ 266 350
Legal and professional fee FEREXEER 2,905 4,490
Advertising = 5,217 4,886
Repairs and maintenance B R HiE 4,463 7,285
Transportation RiE 12,497 14,768
Utilities expense INZE3iiR 12,458 11,359
Entertainment i 5,592 3,386
Insurance Rbg 1,332 1,321
Other expenses Hhpasz 54,571 66,283
Total cost of sales, distribution and selling expenses and ~ $H& R4 D R IHE BB LUK —
general and administrative expenses BRITHEEE AR5 1,361,337 1,418,790
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27 OTHER INCOME

27 EHfthigA

2024 2023
—E_mE I
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Government grants B %5 Bh 2,691 2,191
Scrap sales [BE i 5 269 898
Imputed interest income from amount due RERKERE)IRIEZ
from Guangdong Fuchuan HEER B WA 2,715 808
Others HAth 564 927
6,239 4,824
28 OTHER GAINS - NET 28 Hfthlz—F%E
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHATT FHETT
Gain on disposal of interest HER—BeEhE R
in a joint venture (Note 16) z s (Htati6) - 38,115
Release of exchange reserve upon B B8 7~ ] B EE 5 MR P R BR 2
deregistration of subsidiaries (Note) FEREE (W) - 12,847
Gain on disposal of interest in an associate HER—BHE AR 2 8n
Z W - 1,000
Net foreign currency exchange (loss)/gain SMEER (B518) N /$%E (3,138) 5,366
Net fair value gains/(losses) on financial assets BAFERABRZUEE
at fair value through profit or loss EATEWNE (B1B) F
EE 22 61)
Fair value gain on investment properties (Note 8) & &Y 2 AT EWE
(Htz28) 3,768 -
Gain on lease termination HEZL IS 26 2
Gain/(loss) on disposals of property, HEWZE - BERFE 2 WE
plant and equipment (Note 35(b)) / (B548) (B75235(b)) 132 (993)
810 56,276
Note: Hiaz :

BE_T_-_F-A=+—HILEEE ZaKHEME
B DR R IRENEFEOBARER #E Rt
¥R 7312,847,0008 7T > 1A MY B A B) M aH 5% & 54T 2
BEFERTR

The cumulative amounts of exchange reserve of subsidiaries amounting to
HK$12,847,000, previously recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in reserve, was reclassified to the consolidated income statement
upon deregistration of subsidiaries during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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29

30

168

FINANCE COSTS - NET 29 FEERAS—FEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest income from: KETISEZFEWA
— bank deposits —IR1TIERR 1,688 233
— overdue interests received from customers —BE R UEE AT E 596 1,221
— others — = 610 132
Finance income RE WA 2,894 1,586
Interest expense on: RETIEBEZAEMAR :
— bank borrowings —RITEE (6,108) (6,182)
— lease liabilities —HEasE (276) (123)
Finance costs FE= YW (6,384) (6,305)
Finance costs — net MERA— S8 (3,490) (4,719)
INCOME TAX EXPENSE 30 FRfFMEAX
(@) Bermuda and British Virgin Islands income Q) BEREREEBERHEME
tax i

The Company is exempted from taxation in Bermuda until

2035. The Company’s subsidiaries in the British Virgin

Islands are incorporated under the International Business

Acts of the British Virgin Islands and, accordingly, are

exempted from the British Virgin Islands income taxes
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(b)

()

(d)

Hong Kong profits tax

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
is eligible to nominate one Hong Kong incorporated
entity in the Group to be chargeable at the two-tiered
profits tax rates, whereby profits tax will be chargeable
on the first HK$2 million of assessable profits at 8.25%
and assessable profits above this threshold will be subject
to a rate of 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax for other
Hong Kong incorporated entities in the Group has been
provided for at the rate of 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits.

PRC corporate income tax

The Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to
corporate income tax at 25% (2023: 25%) effective
from 1 January 2008. According to a policy promulgated
by the State Tax Bureau of the PRC and effective from
2008 onwards, enterprises engaged in research and
development activities are entitled to claim ranging
from 150% to 175% of the research and development
expenses so incurred in a period as tax deductible
expenses in determining its tax assessable profits for that
period (“Super Deduction”). Certain PRC subsidiaries have
applied such Super Deduction during the year.

Vietnam taxation

The subsidiaries established and operated in Vietnam
were subject to corporate income tax at a rate of 20%
(2023: 20%). The Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in
Vietnam are entitled to tax holiday under which its profits
would be fully exempted from Vietnam enterprise income
tax ("EIT”) for two years starting from its first year of
profitable operations after offsetting prior year tax losses,
followed by 50% reduction in EIT in next four years.

30 FRiF

(b)

(c)

(d)

EEBRKRERBRAT 2023/24 F3R
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30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

170

(e) The amount of income tax charged to the

30 FRISIRAX (@)

(e) BRERSWmRINIRZAAER

consolidated income statement represents: HHAIE -
2024 2023
—EImE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
Current income tax: ERAFREM .
- Hong Kong profits tax —BBHER 2,423 1,873
— Income tax outside Hong Kong —BALUINTIER 1,313 12,289
— Under/(over)—provision in prior years —BEFFERERRS
(EBEafE) 4,143 (3,281)
Deferred income tax charge/(credit) (Note 20) IEIEFREIRES,~ (%)
(#izt20) 1,260 (84)
Total income tax expense FriSiR e sz 48%8 9,139 10,797
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

(e) The amount of income tax charged to the
consolidated income statement represents:
(Continued)

The income tax on the Group’s profit before income tax
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

30 FRISIAX (@)

(e) BRSWmRINIRZAAER
B (8)

FEERFAESRANEN ZSREA
UEBREXABZERETBAMS

the taxation rate in Hong Kong as follows: B 5150
2024 2023
—EImE —T-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT TFET
Profit before income tax FRPTSTRAT R T 41,466 70,872
Calculated at a taxation rate of 16.5% 165% (CE - =4
(2023: 16.5%) 16.5%) MEKH 6,842 11,694
Effect of different income tax rates on BERBINTEFEWAZKAT
income arising outside Hong Kong BIFFEREZ & 322 5,578
Tax losses not recognised KRR IEEE 4,238 4,328
Expenses not deductible for NEJHIF IR 2 B2
income tax purpose 1,716 5,856
Income not subject to income tax BABMPTER Z A (2,341) (5,798)
Tax concession and incentives MIBEE KR (4,838) (6,253)
Under/(over)-in prior years BEFEREBEIES
(EBEaEE#) 4,137 (3,281)
Utilisation of previously unrecognised FRABERERRNIEEE
tax losses (937) (1,327)
Income tax expense T8 9,139 10,797

There is no tax charge relating to components of other

comprehensive income.

BERAXHEAEMEEWATRR

BRi
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31 EARNINGS PER SHARE

172

€)]

(b)
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Basic
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to owners of the Company by the

31 #RER

@) &
SREXBRADRAATRES AR
fEEFIBENUERNEETEERZM

weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue HETHRHE-
during the year.
2024 2023

Profit attributable to owners of the RABHER NG ET

Company (HK$’000) (F# ) 32,059 59,810
Weighted average number of ordinary BEITEBRNETERE

shares in issue ('000) (FR) 284,790 284,790
Basic earnings per share (HK cents) BRERZEBF GB1) 11.26 21.00
Diluted (b) #iE

Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting
the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding assuming conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares. The Company has one category of
dilutive potential ordinary shares which is the share
options granted to directors and employees. For the
share options, a calculation is done to determine the
number of shares that could have been acquired at fair
value (determined as the average market price of the
Company’s shares) based on the monetary value of the
subscription rights attached to outstanding share options.
The number of shares calculated as above is compared
with the number of shares that would have been issued
assuming the exercise of the share options.

ERBERANDDTNRRAEERE
BELTRREBMRNBERTHEE
BTN Z B MAE T IO RBE
HEtB -ARBE-—RETHEE
BRCRMAEEREERHZER
B-mBREMS  AESELE
MERTEBREZDBEZE
BEFH EEBRAFE (BE
BERBRMTFHETE) BAZKR
PBE - ULERFEZABEZRMNHE
EEBRRBREETEMEEHT
BRI BB L& -
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31 EARNINGS PER SHARE (CONTINUED) 31 #iRE# (48)
(b) Diluted (Continued) (b) #38 (&
2024 2023
—E_ME S
Profit attributable to owners of KABHEB ANEE &R
the Company (HK$'000) (F7%7T) 32,059 59,810
Weighted average number of BT EBRNETERE
ordinary shares in issue ('000) (F8) 284,790 284,790
Weighted average number of SR#ERM 2 EERMNE
ordinary shares for diluted earnings ¥R E (TAR)
per share ('000) 284,790 284,790
Diluted earnings per share (HK cents) &REERF] GB) 11.26 21.00
32 DIVIDENDS 33 iR
An interim dividend of HK$11,392,000 (HK4.0 cents per share) BHEZ_Z-="FNAA=+HLBHENF
for the period ended 30 September 2023 was paid during the BARR E 11,392,000 T (& R4.0E 1)
current year. A final dividend of HK$11,392,000 (HK4.0 cents ERAFERE - BE_ST=F=A
per share) and a special dividend of HK$8,542,000 (HK3.0 =+—HILEFEERNRIERKRE1,392,000
cents per share) for the year ended 31 March 2023, totalling B (B8R4 0BMWL) UEREFRRKE
approximately HK$19,934,000, were paid during the current 8,542,000 T (BK&R3.081) (& /\?ﬁ
year. A final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share for the year 19,934,000 70) ERNAFEEIKE o 7
ended 31 March 2024, totalling approximately HK$11,392,000, TEIMENBTEHNREREF KRS
is to be proposed at the annual general meeting on 15 August TEEREREE S NEFE=F=+—
2024. The consolidated financial statements do not reflect such BEFENFBERESRI BN &
dividend to be payable. 911,392,000 T ZEL AWM BRE

I R BREZ AT AR 2 o

2024 2023
—EImE - ——
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TATT
Interim dividend, paid, of HK4.0 cents EIRPHAR B E R @ R4 .01
(2023: HK5.0 cents) per ordinary share (CEBZ=4 505 11,392 14,240
Final dividend, proposed, of HK4.0 cents R HRRG B = BB @ IR 4. 03B
(2023: final dividend of HK4.0 cents and (ZE2E-=% : kB E4.05
special dividend of HK3.0 cents) (L 45 B G 5.3, 035 4LL)
per ordinary share 11,392 19,934
22,784 34,174
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33 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 33 ETRIMAXZ (BREESFME)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS)
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Wages and salaries (Note) TER® (M) 203,990 205,509
Bonus TE4L 15,254 16,335
Staff welfare ETEF 6,794 6,851
(Reversal of provision)/provision for long IR & (&5
service payment Bs[l) B (430) 1,006
Pension costs — defined contribution plans BIKESR A — CEEHEHAETE 16,894 16,189
242,502 245,890
Note: HiaE -
The Group received subsidies of HK$1,467,000 from the HKSAR Government AEBERSAFNTHERMESSE (TESSH B
under COVID-19 related employment support schemes (“ESS”), which was COVID-19/8RE#HE51,467,0008 T  Ht ABE S
credited against wages and salaries expense for the year ended 31 March 2023. _=F=ZA=+—HLFENIEARHZ BHE_Z
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group did not receive such subsidies. “MFE=ZA=+—HLtEFE - AERTEENGREE
Ao
(@) Five highest paid individuals Q) IEERSHMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest RAFEE - AEBALRSFBA
in the Group for the year included two (2023: three) TEEME (CE_=F . =4) &%
directors whose emoluments are reflected in Note 34. The EORECHESER W34 KMo
emoluments payable to the remaining three (2023: two) FRAEMHG =R (ZE_=
individuals during the year are as follows: W) ATZBEmT
2024 2023
—E_ME BT =
HKS$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e R REYEF 7,733 4,816
Retirement benefits scheme contributions  BRR@EF] 5t 2R 101 101
7.834 4,917
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33 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSE 33 SEIREFMAS (BIEESME)
(INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS) (48)
(CONTINUED)
(@) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) Q) EEERSHMAL (&)
The emoluments fell within the following bands: MENFUTEHE :

Number of individuals

A
2024 2023
“E-MEF B F
Emolument bands ) sl
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t %E2,500,0007 7T 1 1
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 75 23,000,000 7T 2 1
3 2
(b) Senior management’s emoluments by band (b) RBEEININSHREIEAS
B <&
The senior management’s emoluments (excluding the five NEUTHENSHEEAS (F
highest paid individuals) fell within the following bands: BiELLEREHMAL 2%
Number of individuals
A
2024 2023
—E-mE o=
Emolument bands =& E
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 75 & 1,500,00078 75 1 1
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7t 22,500,000/ 7T = 1
1 2
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34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR
(@) Directors and chief executive’s emoluments
The emoluments of every director and the chief executive

346 EEN MR
(@) ESRIETBASHE
EEERIBABASZHE R

176

is set out below: W
Employer's
contribution
to retirement
Salariesand  Share-based Discretionary benefit
Fees allowance compensation bonuses scheme Total
RINER
g HEREE  ROGREH MEBEL  HEREHR Mg
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FAT FAT TET FET
For the year ended HEZT-ME
31 March 2024: ZRZt-BLEE:
Executive directors: BES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman) (note 1) RERBL (Z8) (1) 3,185 1,200 - 1,200 439 6,024
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Alfred RREBT THER) (HH2)

(Chief Executive Officer) (note 2) - 2,563 - 1,200 128 3,891

Non-executive directors: FHTES:
Mr. Ma Fung On (note 3) BRRKE (1323) 1,139 - - 300 39 1,478
Mr. Lee Kam Hung TRIERE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Luk Wing Ching BEXELE 200 - - - - 200
Independent non-executive ~ BIIEHRITES:

directors:
Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven RFHRE 270 - - - - 270
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BRARLE 240 - - - - 240
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan (note 4) SR 2B L (1#4) 129 - - - - 129
Dr. Law Sui Chun (note 5) BRERL (W5) 120 - - - - 120
For the year ended BE_Z_Z=F

31 March 2023: ZA=t+-HLEE:
Executive directors: BES:
Dr. Ng Chi Ho (Chairman, RARET FE THEH)

Chief Executive Officer) - 4342 - 2,500 554 7,396
Mr. Ma Fung On ERRRE EZRE)

(Deputy Chairman) - 2,408 - 500 120 3,028
Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Alfred C = - 2,258 - 1,000 113 3371
Non-executive directors: FHTES:

Mr. Lee Kam Hung FRERE 200 - - - - 200
Mr. Luk Wing Ching EXERE 200 = = = = 200
Independent non-executive ~ BIFHRTEER:

directors:

Mr. Leung Yu Ming, Steven REHEE 270 - - - = 270
Mr. Chan Kit Wang BAREE 240 - - - - 240
Dr. Cheung Nim Kwan RmEL 240 - - - - 240
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34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR
(CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)

Directors and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

Note 1:  Relinquish as Chief Executive Officer (“CEO") on 1 July 2023

Note 2:  Appointed as CEO on 1 July 2023.

Note 3. Redesignated from executive director to non-executive director
on 1 July 2023.

Note 4:  Resigned on 15 October 2023.

Note 5: Appointed on 1 October 2023.

Directors’ retirement benefits and
termination benefits

None of the retirement benefits was paid or receivable
by directors during the year (2023: Nil). None of the
termination benefits was paid by or receivable from the
Company, the subsidiary undertaking nor the controlling
shareholders to the directors during the year (2023: Nil).

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Company
does not pay consideration to any third parties for making
available directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans

and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

As at 31 March 2024, there are no loans, quasi-loans
and other dealing arrangements in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and controlled entities
with such directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to the Company’s business to which the Company
was a party and in which a director of the Company had
a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year
(2023: Nil).

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

36 EFRAmRiED (B

(a)

(b)

()

(d)

(e)
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EFRFEITHASME

(&)

W1 KR-S-=EtA—BRETRE
8 (MFEEH))

W2 R-B-=EtA-BEBEAR
TEED

W3 R-B-SEtA-—BHAAES
WEAFNTES

Wizd: R-TB-=E+A+EBRE-

W5 R-B-=E+A-DEEE

EFBRAEFRERER

FRCBEEEENREWEKE
F(ZEZ=F:%) - FR> B\
KATD - WBATIRZERREBE
ERBENHEWARLEER (ZF
—=F )

RE=ZFZTIREESRE
ZHXE

BE_ ST _NE=B=+—HLtHE
E>rAxXAvmERERAE == AZMN
REEBEFERBZ2AREB(CE_=

=)o

BRAUES -BHESEFINZ
ERZABRBREEEERM
EZREERAZHEAZE
PEERREMRZZER
AZEOME=-B=+—H &
UNEBMES HERMEEEFNT
ZEHEFANERKEAEHRNESARE
THABEERASHRAZER E£H
AREMRZZEHEN (T2 2=
F ) o

EENRG RFNGHNZE
AHEm

RERRERERRRY HETE
FARFRITNFARRTEER
EREAEARE (THEERY
) WRAADEBARZBAR
S REREN(CBI=EF 18 o
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

(@) Reconciliation of profit for the year to cash
generated from operations as follows:

35 FAaREFRERMNE

(@) FRHMNALEXBREE
REHRWOT :

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAET
Profit for the year FEREF] 32,327 60,075
Adjustments for: FE
- Income tax expense —FriEHREX 9,139 10,797
— Finance income —RRE WA (2,894) (1,586)
— Finance cost —RE A 6,327 6,305
— Depreciation of property, —E - -BERZEITE
plant and equipment 35,302 38,250
— Depreciation of right-of-use assets —RAEEERTE 4,480 4,437
— (Gain)/loss on disposals of property, —HEVE -BERRKREZ
plant and equipment =) K51E (132) 993
— Fair value gain on investment properties ~—3& &Y% > AT EU G (3,768) =
— Gains on lease termination —HE&IEZWE (26) (2)
— Net fair value (gains)/losses on — B AFEEZRABTRZM
financial assets at fair value BEEATE Wm)
through profit or loss BE1EFEE (22) 61
— Net impairment losses on —UBREBERMBHERZ
financial assets and RIEREEER
financial guarantees 1,049 1,501
— Gain on disposal of interest —HER-—BEaELES
in a joint venture B m 2 W - (38,115)
— Release of exchange reserve upon — MY B8 7~ B 4B o 1R B
deregistration of subsidiaries file bR 2 b O E = (12,847)
- Gain on disposal of interest in an —HER—BHEQTZ
associate ol - (1,000)
— Impairment loss on interests in associates —REE AT 2w
BERE - 11,883
— Share of profits of associates — net — AL B E A B EF]
— 348 - (3,183)
— Imputed interest income from amount —RERKERE]IFIE
due from Guangdong Fuchuan ZEEFBWA (2,715) (808)
79,067 76,761
Changes in working capital: HEETET .
— Inventories —F8 141,998 27,209
— Trade receivables, prepayment, —EWESZEHR FEUR
deposits and other receivables B~ ¥ K HAE U R
15 (10,223) 8,633
— Trade and other payables and — B E SRR EME
contract liabilities IRmIEREHNEE (31,573) (5,379)
Cash generated from operations REHEEEE IS 179,269 107,224
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35 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (CONTINUED)
(b) Proceeds from disposals of property, plant
and equipment comprise:

35 JRAEBRFRERNE (@)

(b) HEVE -BEKRREZHRE
RIEEIE .

2024 2023
—EImE —ET=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Net book value of property, ME -BEMREREEFE
plant and equipment (Note 6) (Htat6) 18 993
Gain/(loss) on disposals of property, HEME - BRERKEZ
plant and equipment Wz, (B518) 132 (993)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEME - BERKREBZ
plant and equipment FRigsIE 150 =
(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation for the (c) HFAREFRERZERE
consolidated cashflow statement (&%) HIR
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the KEHINNEATNFEENFZELD
movements in net debt for each of the years presented. WhkEEHES-
2024 2023
—E_mE T =F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Cash and cash equivalents B RIBEEEEY 161,874 138,225
Bank borrowings IRITEE (40,795) (137,261)
Lease liabilities HEAaE (5,359) (1,827)
Net cash/(debt) FRE (EH) 115,720 (863)
Cash and cash equivalents HEMREEEY 161,874 138,225
Gross debt — variable interest rates MEFE—FEHPE (40,795) (137,261)
Gross debt — fixed interest rates BEK—EEH X (5,359) (1,827)
Net cash/(debt) FRE (BEH) 115,720 (863)
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35

180

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED 35
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (CONTINUED)
(c) Net cash/(debt) reconciliation for
the consolidated cashflow statement
(Continued)
This section sets out an analysis of net debt and the
movements in net debt for each of the years presented.
(Continued)

SeBHERERNE B

() RRERMERERZBRE
(&%) Hik (&)

KEHINEPRRERENFEED
R B EHEE - (B

Other
assets Liabilities from financing activities
HitEE MEEBNaE
Cash
and cash Bank Lease
equivalents  Dividends borrowings liabilities Total
ReRAE
ZEN i35S RITEE HEAR ax
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTAET FTAET FAT AT FAET
Net debt as at 1 April 2023 RIZE-=FNE—HMWEFERE 138,225 - (137,261) (1,827) (863)
Non cash - dividend declared FRE-BERKE - 31,327 - - 31,327
Cash flows RERE 25,710 (31,327) 96,466 2,540 93,389
Acquisition — leases W -BE - - - (6,026) (6,026)
Derecognition — leases RIEER-HE - - - a7 417
Foreign exchange adjustments SNERE (2,061) - - (463) (2,524)
Net cash as at 31 March 2024 RE_ME=ZA=+—AK
FHE 161,874 - (40,795) (5,359) 115,720
Net debt as at 1 April 2022 RIFZZEMB—-ANFESE 141,657 - (206,000) (2,952) (67,295)
Non cash - dividend declared FRE-EERKE - 31,327 - - 31,327
Cash flows RERE (722) (31,327) 68,739 2,109 38,799
Acquisition — leases WE-HE - - - (968) (968)
Derecognition - leases RIFER-HE - - - 53 53
Foreign exchange adjustments SMERE (2,710) - - (69) (2,779)
Net debt as at 31 March 2023 RIZ2Z=F=A=1+—BNZF
B% 138,225 - (137,261) (1,827) (863)
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36 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

37

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had the following
capital commitments:

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

36 BEXfKIE

N _E _NER_E_ZF=B=+—
H>AxEBRR N ERKIE

2024 2023
—EME _E =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT TFET
Contracted but not provided for: EHESIEES L
— Property, plant and equipment —E-HERKE 3,754 702

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has arranged for its Hong Kong employees to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”).
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution scheme managed by
an independent trustee. Under the MPF Scheme, each of the
Group and its employees makes monthly contributions to the
scheme at 5% to 10% of the employees’ earnings as defined
under the Mandatory Provident Fund legislation. The Group has
no further payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid.

As stipulated by rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
contributes to state-sponsored retirement plans for its
employees in the PRC. The Group contributes approximately
7% to 12% of the basic salaries of its employees, and has
no further obligations for the actual payment of pensions or
post-retirement benefits beyond the annual contributions. The
state-sponsored retirement plans are responsible for the entire
pension obligations payable to retired employees.

37 ESEBKEF

AEEEAHEBRERHFSEAHN
AT E (TREEEE) - BB
BIbERAMMETE HBIEEAEE-
REBEBRBRTSHE  AEERHRBREDH
A ARE AP S B &8/ M
FOoZBEREBERAZS%EI0%  —&
IR cEEREE-PIMEE-

AEBBRPBERLEDNZEE 5
HAEREZ EE REKEB)R K8 #
M- EBREREEELATIENTRE
12% R BRFEHRUN WEE R (Y
BARETXBRAREBEN ZHMET -BEXN
BEMERARFBEERNRRKEEINEN
ZEWMWERKE-
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37

38

182

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS
(CONTINUED)

For employees in Vietnam, the Group contributes to state-
sponsored employees’ social insurance scheme at 18% of the
basic salaries of the subsidiary’s employees, subject to a cap.
The state-sponsored social insurance scheme is responsible for
the pension obligations payable to retired employees.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount
of the Group's contributions to the aforementioned pension
schemes were approximately HK$16,894,000 (2023:
HK$16,189,000). No forfeited contributions (by employers on
behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in such contribution) under the MPF scheme is available
to reduce the contribution payable in current year and future
years.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 March 2024, 38.62% (2023: 38.62%) of the total
issued shares of the Company is owned by Superior View Inc., a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands, and 18.82%
(2023: 18.82%) of the total issued shares of the Company is
owned by Billion Linkage Limited, a company incorporated in
the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling parties of the
Group are Dr. Ng Chi Ho, a director of the Company, and Ms.
Lee Wai Fun, wife of Dr. Ng Chi Ho, respectively.

(@) Transactions with an associate

37

38

ESRBAEF (&)

MEENEEMS  AEERHEENE
NEEEEAHFEZ18%RMHBERE D)
WESHLERBRETEI MR EX LR
RE-BREPHNHERRFEEEN
TRHREEZEES-

BHE_Z_NE=-B=+—HILEE>
NEE@E EMBRAE T EEL Z HE4R
R 716,894,000 (ZE =4
16,189,000/ 7T) - HiMABBE LT HIET
BRAWEDN (HEZAZSEERITEHE
BRIREE ZEEEL) ATAERLD A
FERARFEENEMLHER

BREALRS
R_E_WNE=ZRB=+—H > &AQRAE
BITIRN4BEEEZ38.62% (ZE =
38.62%) T HEBERHSEMML
Z/AF|Superior View Inc.EAB > MAR
BIEETRINAEEZ18.82% (ZE =
F11882%) "HEEBERHEH
AL 2z A =Billion Linkage Limited#
B AEEREBERATDINAERAT
EXEREREIRTEF T (REEE
TZEF) o

() BMEQARNZRS

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FATT

Sales of goods to Mobilogix BIMobilogixis & & & - 8,696

Goods are sold at prices mutually agreed by the Group
and its related party in the ordinary course of business.
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38 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(b) Key management compensation
The aggregate remuneration of key personnel
management, including amounts paid to the Company’s
directors and certain of the highest paid employees, as
disclosed in Notes 34 and 35, is as follows:

B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

38 FREALRS (@)

(b) EEEEEHRM
TEEBEABZHFMEHECEE
AR EERETREFHEEZ
R (R 3435 ) » WEIW
15 G

2024 2023
—EmE —ET=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT

Salaries and other short-term e kEMEHESER
employee benefits 19,807 21,414
Post-employment benefits BERRER 766 946
20,573 22,360

(c) Year-end balances with related parties

(c) BBEMEALZFRER

2024 2023
—EmE —E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T
Amounts due from associates FEWE & A B R IE 585 585

The terms of balances with related parties are disclosed in
Note 12.

BB A LSRR FHRM 121K

o

]
=z

M OB
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39 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE 39 ARGz EEABREEEE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY )]
Balance sheet of the Company ERTFIZEEEFGR
31 March 31 March
Note 2024 2023
#iz =ZB=+—H =B=+—H
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current assets EREEE
Interests in subsidiaries RRB AT Z#m 68,166 68,166
Deferred tax assets RILIRIEE = 16 139
68,182 68,305
Current assets RENEE
Other receivables HpgWaIa 452 679
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUS I B A B = IE 145,830 124,051
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEBY 493 292
146,775 125,022
Total assets BEEHEE 214,957 193,327
Current liabilities mENBaE
Trade and other payables FE(T B 5 IR R A FE S =18 1,826 2,095
Total liabilities BE4EEE 1,826 2,095
Equity Rz

Equity attributable to owners TATHEAE AEILERDS
of the Company

Share capital fg A% 28,479 28,479
Other reserves HhEE (a) 155,683 156,426
Retained earnings fREBH (a) 28,969 6,327
Total equity M AEEE 213,131 191,232
Total equity and liabilities ke BiEE 214,957 193,327
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board KABBEEBERER S ZNE A
of Directors on 27 June 2024 and was signed on its behalf. “ttBREEEgE THTIES
VESSE
Dr. Ng Chi Ho Dr. Ng Man Cheuk, Alfred
RExEL EREEL
Director Director
- EE-
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39 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE
MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY
(CONTINUED)

Note (a) reserve movement of the Company

39 FRABRZEERRRKHAE
2 (48)

M 5 () s 2 B) i f 2 Bh

Share-based

40

Share Contributed compensation Retained
premium surplus reserve earnings Total
Rip 3
R B YRR L RERF A%
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THET TET TET TET
As at 1 April 2022 RZEZZEMB—H 90,714 64,872 840 8,956 165,382
Profit for the year FREF - - - 28,698 28,698
Dividends paid ERE - - - (31,327) (31,327)
As at 31 March 2023 RZEZ=Z#=A=+—-H 90,714 64,872 840 6,327 162,753
As at 1 April 2023 RZE2Z=-EWE—H 90,714 64,872 840 6,327 162,753
Profit for the year FEREF - - - 53,226 53,226
Lapsed share option BRY 2 BE - = (743) 743 =
Dividends paid BARE - - - (31.327) (31,327)
As at 31 March 2024 RZEZME=ZR=+—H 90,714 64,872 97 28,969 184,652
Note: Byt

Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal amount of
shares issued and the book value of the underlying net assets of subsidiaries

acquired in return.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda, the contributed surplus is
distributable to shareholders, subject to the condition that the Company cannot
declare or pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus if (i) it
is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as they become due,
or (ii) the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the aggregate of

its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium.

EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE
BALANCE SHEET DATE

There were no material subsequent events from 31 March 2024
up to the date of this report.

40

BABBRISF R IR EITIRMD 2 EE R REN B
NEMEMFEERBEEZEZR

REABRE-NAN—F28% BABRKIDIRTR
R AR TNEAGRR B E B A BB E IR
AREBHFEHDIK M(HERE BRI IEHDIKE
EAEEHIBEE FWEEEZTERAEBKE
BEHEETREARRMBEEZQMN A FASIFH
BEADIKe

BEARAROQBREEZFR

BEZZE_ME=A=+—HREEEAXR
SHEMEERPEEE.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

186

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting

(a) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured
entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group controls an entity when the Group is
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which control is transferred to the Group. They
are deconsolidated from the date that control
ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method
to account for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the
Group. The consideration transferred includes the
fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition
related costs are expensed as incurred. Identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination
are measured initially at their fair values at the
acquisition date.
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B EEGELILE BEMFLE
B ARRe
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L1l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ll HithBEEAZHBHREE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)
411 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

Ll iR REnERR (48)

(a) MIEBZE (&)

The Group recognises any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition
basis. Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the entity's net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured at
either fair value or the present ownership interests’
proportionate share in the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value, unless
another measurement basis is required by HKFRS.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement
are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred
by the Group is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair
value of the contingent consideration that is
deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
("HKFRS 9") in profit or loss. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the
fair value of the identifiable net asset acquired is
recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest recognised
and previously held interest measured is less than
the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary
acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the
difference is recognised directly in the consolidated
income statement.

Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the transferred asset. When
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s
accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in the results and
equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the
consolidated income statement, statement of
comprehensive income, statement of changes in
equity and balance sheet respectively.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

41l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L1 HithBEEARGHBEREHSE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48
(CONTINUED)
411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)
(b) Assaociates (b) BERE

Ll iR REnERR (48)

Associates are all entities over which the Group
has significant influence but not control or joint
control. This is generally the case where the Group
holds between 20% and 50% of the voting rights.
Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting (see (d) below),
after initially being recognised at cost.

(c) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the
investments are initially recognised at cost, and
the carrying amount is increased or decreased to
recognise the investor's share of the profit or loss
of the investee after the date of acquisition. The
Group’s investments in associates include goodwill
identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of
the ownership interests in associates, any difference
between the cost of the associates and the Group’s
share of the net fair value of associates’ identifiable
assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interests in associates are
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

411 Principles of consolidation and equity

accounting (Continued)
(c) Equity method (Continued)

The Group's share of post-acquisition profit or loss
is recognised in the consolidated income statement,
and its share of post-acquisition movements in
other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income with a corresponding
adjustment to the carrying amount of the
investment. When the Group’s share of losses in
associates equal or exceed its interest in associates,
including any other unsecured receivables, the
Group does not recognise further losses, unless it
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or
made payments on behalf of associates.

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investments in associates are impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between
the recoverable amount of associates and its
carrying value and recognises the amount in the
consolidated income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor's interests in associates. Unrealised losses
are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of equity—accounted investees
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

41l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L1 HithBEEARGHBEREHSE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48
(CONTINUED)
411 Principles of consolidation and equity

Ll iR REnERR (48)

accounting (Continued)

(c) Equity method (Continued)
Gains and losses on dilution of equity interests
in associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted
investments is tested for impairment in accordance
with the policy described in Note 41.4.

412 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

413 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group's entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in HK$, which is the Company’s
functional and the Group’s presentation currency.
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L1 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

413 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(b) Transactions and balances

192

(c)

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i) assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at
the date of that balance sheet;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

L1l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L1 HMEBEEEARGTHREBE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48
(CONTINUED)
413 Foreign currency translation (Continued) L1 35MEME (48)
(c) Group companies (Continued) (c) EEETAE (4B)
(i) all resulting currency translation differences (i) FREEEZEKIKEE
are recognised in other comprehensive BRHPREMEE R AR
income. o
Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the WEBIBRELEZEHER
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets RTEERE JIERIERZ
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated BEERAGERIE WEEEH
at the closing rate. Currency translation differences ZERMB-MELNEGEE
arising are recognised in other comprehensive REENREME2E WA RNE
income. Eol
414 Impairment of non-financial assets LILIEM B EENRE
Non-financial assets other than goodwill are tested for fMEE LR a e Z B REEZ
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances FREHHELEL AgHEE
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. MohZ e BB EET R E AR o
An impairment loss is recognised immediately as an HEERTEBHEE TWEEEE
expense for the amount by which the asset's carrying BIBNBSEER B ERIE AR o FT I
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable Cl&EABEAFEABHER AR
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of ZEBEHRHESRBEZRSE &
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing R E BEEZENAT#IRE
impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels MAZRBKEDE (HARLE
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows URHMEEXNEEMAN (R E
which are largely independent of the cash inflows from HEM ZRERE) cHIRAEZ
other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). BEMNIZIERBEEEN SRS
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered HARBR B LIRE 2T -

an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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L1 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

415 Financial assets

194

@

Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

o those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity's business
model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses
will either be recorded in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income. For investment in equity
instruments that is not held for trading, this will
depend on whether the Group has made an
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition
to account for the equity investment at fair value
through other comprehensive income. The Group
reclassifies debt instruments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets
changes.

(b) Recognition and derecognition

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the investments have
expired or have been transferred and the Group
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of
ownership.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L4l HthBEEXSERETE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)

(CONTINUED)

415 Financial assets (Continued) LISHEEE (B
(c) Measurement (c) #HE

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction
costs of financial assets carried at fair value through
profit or loss are expensed in profit or loss.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

° Financial assets at amortised cost

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash
flows represent solely payments of principal
and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective
interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition is recognised directly in
profit or loss and presented in “other gains
- net” together with foreign exchange gains
and losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B %5 ¥R 3R Bfd 5

L1 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
415 Financial assets (Continued)
(c) Measurement (Continued)
Debt instruments (Continued)

196

Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income

Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and
interest, are measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Movements
in the carrying amount are taken through
other comprehensive income, except for the
recognition of impairment gains or losses,
interest income and foreign exchange gains
and losses which are recognised in profit or
loss. When the financial asset is derecognised,
the cumulative gain or loss previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss and
recognised in “other gains — net”. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in “other gains — net”
and impairment expenses are presented as

separate line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or

SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24

loss

Assets that do not meet the criteria for
amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at fair value through profit or loss
is recognised in profit or loss and presented
net within “other gains — net” in the period in
which it arises.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L4l HthBEEXSERETE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)

(CONTINUED)

415 Financial assets (Continued) LISHEEE (B
(c) Measurement (Continued) (c) = (&

Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s
management has elected to present fair value
gains and losses on equity investments in other
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent
transfer of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss following the derecognition of the investment.
Dividends from such investments continue to be
recognised in profit or loss as other income when
the Group’s right to receive payments is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised in “other
gains — net” in the consolidated income statement
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of
impairment losses) on equity investments measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income
are not reported separately from other changes in
fair value.

(d) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis
the expected credit losses associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The
impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in
credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables. See Note
3.1(iii)(c) and Note 16 for further details.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
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MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
415 Financial assets (Continued)

(e) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the consolidated balance
sheet where the Group has a legally enforceable
right to offset the recognised amounts and there
is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The
legally enforceable right must not be contingent
on future events and must be enforceable in the
normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or
the counterparty.

41.6 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
stated at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
value is recognised in the consolidated income statement
over the period of the borrowings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence that
it is probable that some or all of the facility will be drawn
down, the fee is capitalised as a pre-payment for liquidity
services and amortised over the period of the facility to
which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet
date.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B %5 4R 3R Bfd 5

Ll SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY L1 HthBEEAEBHEHRE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (#8)
(CONTINUED)
417 Borrowing costs

L1768

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable
to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended
use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are
incurred.

41.8 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

The Group participates in various defined
contribution pension schemes. A defined
contribution plan is a retirement benefit scheme
under which the Group pays fixed contributions
into a separate entity. The Group has no legal or
constructive obligations to pay further contributions
if the fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all
employees the benefits relating to employee service
in the current and prior periods.

The schemes are generally funded through
payments to state/trustee-administered funds. The
Group pays contributions to publicly or privately
administered funds on a mandatory, contractual
or voluntary basis. The Group has no further
payment obligations once the contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due.
Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to
the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the
future payments is available.
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41 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
41.8 Employee benefits (Continued)

(a) Pension obligations (Continued)

200

There were no forfeited contributions (by employers
on behalf of employees who leave the scheme
prior to vesting fully in such contributions) to
offset existing contributions under the defined
contribution pension schemes.

(b) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based
compensation plan, under which the entity receives
services from employees as consideration for equity
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of
the employee services received in exchange for the
grant of the options is recognised as an expense.
The total amount to be expensed is determined by
reference to the fair value of the options granted:

(i)  including any market performance conditions
(for example, an entity’s share price);

(i) excluding the impact of any service and non-
market performance vesting conditions (for
example, profitability, sales growth targets
and remaining an employee of the entity over
a specified time period); and

(iii) including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (for example, the requirement for
employees to save).
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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L1l SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY Ll HithBEEAZHBHREE
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (48)
(CONTINUED)
41.8 Employee benefits (Continued)
(b) Share-based compensation

L1.8{EEEF (B)
(b) R {I7eiRHM (4&)

(Continued)

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
options that are expected to vest. The total expense
is recognised over the vesting period, which is
the period over which all of the specified vesting
conditions are to be satisfied. In addition, in some
circumstances employees may provide services in
advance of the grant date and therefore the grant
date fair value is estimated for the purposes of
recognising the expense during the period between
service commencement period and grant date.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimates of the number of options that
are expected to vest based on the non-market
performance and service conditions. It recognises
the impact of the revision to original estimates, if
any, in the income statement, with a corresponding
adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company
issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to
share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

The grant by the Company of options over its
equity instruments to the employees of subsidiary
undertakings in the Group is treated as a capital
contribution. The fair value of employee services
received, measured by reference to the grant date
fair value, is recognised over the vesting period
as an increase to investments in subsidiaries
undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.
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L1 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

41.8 Employee benefits (Continued)
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(c) Employee leave entitlements
Employees’ entitlements to annual leave and long
service leave are recognised when they accrue to
employees. A provision is made for the estimated
liability for annual leave and long service leave as a
result of services rendered by employees up to the
balance sheet date.

Employees’ entitlements to sick leave and maternity
leave are not recognised until the time of leave.

(d) Other benefits

Other directors’ and employees’ obligations
are recorded as a liability and charged to the
consolidated income statement when the Group
is contractually obliged or when there is a past
practice that has created a constructive obligation.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required
to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future
operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as a
whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of
an outflow with respect to any one item included in the
same class of obligations is small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision
due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Ll SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY
MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

4110 Interest income

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset except for financial assets that subsequently become
credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial assets
the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset (after deduction of the loss
allowance).

4111 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the period in which the dividends are approved by the
Company's shareholders in case of final dividend and
special dividend, and the Company's directors in case of
interim dividend.

4112 Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received, and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over the
period necessary to match them with the costs that they
are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are deferred and credited to the profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the
related assets.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
hAFEMBHBE

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BiFE —F _UF=F=+—HIFFE

A summary of the consolidated results and of the consolidated assets NEBEBEREMBEEZHFEEEURE
and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out AZERBEHEHIINT :
below:
For the year ended 31 March
BE=-A=1+—-HLEE
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—ERCEf R RIZHF ZERI-f ZEBEINF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET TAR TAET TET THERT
Consolidated results RE¥E
Revenue &y 1,615,183 2,101,573 1,855,875 1,443,482 1,400,293
Operating profit G 34,534 102,083 75,933 84,291 44,956
Profit before income tax BT SR EER 29,124 92,004 63,231 70,872 41,466
Income tax expense PSS (1,586) (12,388) (6,442) (10,797) (9,139)
Profit attributable to the owners of ANEHEE NEGER
the Company 27,705 79,274 56,465 59,810 32,059
As at 31 March
K=ZA=+—H
2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
“E-%F -4 “B-"&# —T--F ZEBE_NE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TET TER TET AT
Consolidated assets and liabilities SABERER
Land use rights TR - - - - -
Property, plant and equipment L EN B 225,266 300,910 297,115 246,464 210,559
Right-of-use assets FREEE 76,458 95,941 87,393 80,544 80,079
Intangible assets B EE - - - - -
Goodwill kS 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949 3,949
Interests in associates N A=YNCIPd: 5 25,311 26,338 16,128 = -
Interest in a joint venture R—EeEtEsER 6,919 7,862 7,547 = =
Deferred income tax assets REFEREE 1,314 1,950 1,066 1,313 997
Financial assets at fair value through ~ BAFEEZAEMEZE
other comprehensive income BAZHHEE 5,266 6,004 5,888 5,479 6,651
Financial assets at fair value through AT EZABRZ 2%
profit or loss - long term BE-RH S S = = =
Loans receivable ERERZIE 266 = = = =
Amount due from an associate — W —E#EARPIE - RE
long term 8,500 - - - -
Non-current prepayments, deposit and  FERBBLTIE K&K
other receivables HnfEw s 13,897 8,505 14,959 23,082 3,170
Current assets RHEE 630,816 875,157 899,211 870,399 754,231
Current liabilities nead 287,583) (519,735) (500,798) (408,166)  (288,986)
Net current assets MEEEZE 343,233 355,422 398,413 462,233 465,245
Total assets less current liabilities BELEARDER 710,379 806,881 832,458 823,064 790,112
Long term borrowings REEE - - (21,250) (17,035) (2,225)
Lease liabilities - long term HEEE- RH (5,112) (4,430) (1,161) (1,335) (3,582)
Deferred income tax liabilities BILFEIREaE (426) (283) (88) (294) (1,269)
Total equity ERAE 704,841 802,168 809,959 804,400 783,036

204  SUGA INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2023/24



SUGA|

)
MIX
Paper from responsible sources

FSC REARENAKRANER &y, This Annual Report is printed on environmentally friendly paper.
wume:  FSC™C004888 & rEERBRRED -




	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	財務摘要
	生產廠房
	主席報告
	行政總裁致辭
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理人員履歷
	企業管治報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合資產負債表
	綜合收益表
	綜合全面收入表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	財務報表附註
	五年財務概要
	封底

